
Northern Inyo Hospital

May 20 2020 Regular Meeting
May 20 2020 Regular Meeting - May 20 2020 Regular Meeting

Agenda, May 20 2020 Regular Meeting

Draft Agenda, May 20 2020 Regular Meeting

City of Bishop Proclamation, Healthcare District Month

City of Bishop Proclamation, Healthcare District Month

District Board Resolution 20-04, Line of Credit Authorization

District Board Resolution 20-04

Deposit of CD Monies into Laif Account

Deposit of CD Monies into LAIF

Funding of NIHD 401(a) pension plan

Funding of 401 (a) pension plan

EHR Implementation Project Manager

EHR Implementation Project Manager Designation

NIHD Password Policy

NIHD Password Policy

NIHD Cyber Security Policy

NIHD Cyber Security Policy

CEO Executive Search Firm Proposals

Gallagher CEO Search Proposal
Witt Keiffer CEO Search Proposal
McCall & Lee CEO Search Proposal
Merraine Search Information (1 of 5)
Merraine Search Submission (2 of 5)
Merraine Search Submission (3 of 5)
Merraine Search Submission (4 of 5)
Merraine Group Proposal - 4 of 4
Rokos Executive Search
Rudish Search Proposal

District Board Resolution 20-03, Consolodation of Election

District Board Resolution 20--3, Consolodation of Election

Bi-Annual Review of NIHD Conflict of Interest Code

............................................................3

.........................................7

.................................................................................9

...............................................................................10

...............................................................................11

...............................................12

..............................................................................................27

......................................................................................29

..............................................................................40
...........................................................................65

........................................................................86
.......................................................................89
.......................................................................91
.......................................................................92
.......................................................................93

.............................................................................94
.........................................................................................108
.........................................................................................126

...............................143

Page 1 of 348

1



Bi-Annual Review of Conflict of Interest Code

Board Agenda Item Review and Approval Process

Board Agenda Review Process Form
Board Agenda Item Form Instructions
Chiefs input on Board Agenda Form

PMA and NIHD Maintenance Agreement

PMA and NIHD Maintenance Agreement

RHC Annual Report

RHC Annual Report, Fiscal Year 2018
RHC Annual Report, 2019

Building Separation Construction Project Update

Building Separation Project Update

Chief of Staff Report

Medical Executive Committee Report
Medical Staff Policy and Procedure Approvals

Consent Agenda

Financial and Statistical Reports as of March 31, 2020
Chief Nursing Officer Report
Chief Medical Officer Report
Interim Chief Medical Officer Report
Consent Agenda Policy and Procedure Annual Approvals
Medical Staff Services Pillars of Excellence Report
District Board Minutes, April 2 2020 Special Meeting
District Board Minutes, April 6 2020 Special Meeting
District Board Minutes, April 15 2020 Regular Meeting
District Board Minutes, April 28 2020 Special Meeting
Wipfli Required Communications Letter FYE 6-30-19 Audit

.....................................................144

....................................................................150
..................................................................154

.....................................................................157

...............................................................159

...................................................................162
.......................................................................................176

......................................................................194

....................................................................196
....................................................197

.......................................221
..................................................................................225
..................................................................................230

.....................................................................272
.................................314

............................................316
..........................................318
..........................................321

.......................................322
........................................329

................................331

Powered by TCPDF (www.tcpdf.org)

Page 2 of 348

2

http://www.tcpdf.org


                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                    

DRAFT AGENDA 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS REGULAR MEETING 

May 20, 2020 at 5:30 p.m. 

2957 Birch Street, Bishop, CA  
 

 

              Northern Inyo Healthcare District invites you to attend this Zoom meeting: 

  

TO CONNECT VIA ZOOM:  (A link is also available on the NIHD Website) 

https://zoom.us/j/213497015?pwd=TDlIWXRuWjE4T1Y2YVFWbnF2aGk5UT09 

Meeting ID: 213 497 015 

Password: 608092 

 

PHONE CONNECTION: 

888 475 4499 US Toll-free 

877 853 5257 US Toll-free 

Meeting ID: 213 497 015 
 

______________________________________________________________________________________ 
    

1. Call to Order (at 5:30 pm).    

2. Public Comment:  At this time, persons in the audience may speak on any items not on the agenda 

on any matter within the jurisdiction of the District Board. Members of the audience will have an 

opportunity to address the Board on every item on the agenda, and speakers are limited to a 

maximum of three minutes each. The Board is prohibited from generally discussing or taking 

action on items not included on the agenda.  

3.  New Business: 

            A.  Introduction of NIHD Human Resources Director Richard Ulibarri (information item).  

            B.  City of Bishop Proclamation, Healthcare District Month (information item).            

C.  Introduction of Financial Consultant Vinay Behl (information item). 

D.  Financial update, Vinay Behl (information item). 

E.  District Board Resolution 20-04, Authorization of Line of Credit with Eastern Sierra  

      Community Bank / Oak Valley Community Bank (action item). 

F.  Deposit of CD monies into LAIF account (information item). 

G.  Schedule for funding of NIHD 401(a) pension plan (information item). 

H.  Budget update for fiscal year 2020/2021 (information item). 

 I.  Electronic Health Record Selection Process Overview (information item). 

Page 3 of 348

3

https://zoom.us/j/213497015?pwd=TDlIWXRuWjE4T1Y2YVFWbnF2aGk5UT09


Page, 2, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 20, 2020 

 

 

5/13/2020, 2:16 PM 

J.  Cerner introductory presentation as new Electronic Health Record (information item). 

K.  Designation of Electronic Health Record Implementation Project Manager (action item). 

L.  Approval of NIHD Password Policy (action item). 

M. Approval of NIHD Cyber Security Policy (action item). 

N.  Selection of NIHD Executive Search Firm (action item). 

O. Appointment of Director Veenker to work with District Leadership to develop Executive  

     Search Committee (action item). 

P.  District Board Resolution 20-03, Consolidation of Election (action item). 

Q. Bi-Annual review and approval of NIHD Conflict of Interest Code (action item). 

R.  Board Agenda Item Review and Approval Process (action item). 

S. Approval of NIHD Foundation Board member Cheryl Underhill (action item). 

T. Pioneer Medical Associates and NIHD Maintenance Agreement (action item). 

      4.   Old Business: 

            A.  RHC Annual report (information item). 

      5.  Reports (information items): 

            A.  Building separation construction project update  

            B.  Governance Consultant update 

      6.   Chief of Staff report, Stacey Brown MD  

A. Medical Staff and Advanced Practice Provider Appointments (action items) 

1. Jennifer Figueroa, PA-C (women’s health clinic) – Advanced Practice Provider staff 

2. Benjamin Ebner, MD (adult cardiology - Renown) – telemedicine staff 

3. Shabnamzehra Bhojani, MD (adult and pediatric psychiatry – Regroup) – telemedicine 

staff 

4. Shilpi Garg, MD (pediatric cardiology – Children’s Heart Center Northern Nevada) – 

telemedicine staff 

B. Telemedicine Staff Appointments – credentialing by proxy (action item)  

As per the approved Telemedicine Physician Credentialing and Privileging Agreement, and as 

outlined by 42CFR 482.22, the Medical Staff has chosen to recommend the following 

practitioners for Telemedicine privileges relying upon Adventist Health’s credentialing and 

privileging decisions. 

1. Sheila Cai, MD (pediatric psychiatry) – telemedicine staff 

C. Medical Staff Advancements (action items) 

Page 4 of 348

4



Page, 3, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 20, 2020 

 

 

5/13/2020, 2:16 PM 

1. James Fair, MD (emergency medicine) – advancement to Active Staff 

2. Anna Rudolphi, MD (emergency medicine) – advancement to Active Staff 

3. Bo Nasmyth Loy, MD (orthopedic surgery) – advancement to Active Staff 

D. Medical Staff Resignations (action items) 

1. Tanya Scurry, MD (peds psychiatry) – telemedicine staff, Adventist Health – effective 

3/26/20 

2. Arin Aboulian, MD (pulmonology) – telemedicine staff, Adventist Health – effective 

4/10/20 

3. Kelly Tatum Brace, DPM (podiatry) – provisional active staff – effective 4/28/20 

E. Policy and Procedure approvls (action items) 

1. Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

2. Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage 

3. Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

F. Annual Approvals (action items) 

1. Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

2. Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Physician Assistant 

G. Family Medicine Core Privilege Form update (action item) 

H. Physician recruitment update (information item) 

           ---------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------- 

                                                     Consent Agenda (action items) 

7. Approval of minutes of the April 2 2020 special meeting 

8. Approval of minutes of the April 6 2020 special meeting 

9. Approval of minutes of the April 15 2020 regular meeting 

10. Approval of minutes of the April 28 2020 special meeting 

11. Financial and statistical reports as of March 31, 2020 

     12. Chief Nursing Officer report  

     13. Chief Medical Officer report  

     14.  Policy and Procedure annual approvals 

     15. Medical Staff Pillars of Excellence Quarterly Report 

     16. Wipfli required communications letters for Fiscal Year Ending 6/30/19 audit 

_______________________________________________________________________________ 

17. Reports from Board members (information items). 

Page 5 of 348

5



Page, 4, Agenda, NIHD Board of Directors Regular Meeting, May 20, 2020 

 

 

5/13/2020, 2:16 PM 

18. Adjournment to Closed Session to/for: 

A. Conference with Legal Counsel, existing litigation (pursuant to Paragraph (1) of subdivision  

     (d) of Government Code Section 54956.9), Workers’ Compensation claim of Kate Miller. 

B. Conference with Legal Counsel, anticipated litigation, significant exposure to litigation  

     (pursuant to Government code Section 54956.9(d)(2)) 2 cases.  

C. Public Employee Performance Evaluation (Government Code Section 54957(b)) title: Interim  

Chief Executive Officer. 

D. Discussion of a possible real estate transaction (pursuant to Government Code Section  

54956.8). 

     19.  Return to Open Session and report of any action taken (information item). 

     20.  Adjournment. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, if you require special accommodations to 

participate in a District Board meeting, please contact administration at (760) 873-2838 at least 48 hours 

prior to the meeting. 

Page 6 of 348

6



Page 7 of 348

7



Page 8 of 348

8



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 
                         DISTRICT BOARD RESOLUTION 20-04 
 

WHEREAS, As a result of COVID-19, hospitals have canceled or postponed elective procedures 

to preserve capacity for Covid-19 patients. While necessary, this move has created financial 

challenges for Northern Inyo Healthcare District (“NIHD”). It is imperative that NIHD initiate 

additional liquidity facilitation to continue to provide for working capital. NIHD’s cash flow has 

further been exacerbated by adoption of the Athena system for EHR due to increase in average 

collection period.  

 

WHEREAS, NIHD is negotiating with Eastern Sierra Bank with respect to a facility line of 

credit, the proceeds of which would be used for general hospital working capital purposes and 

the principal amount range of which are as follows (the "Eastern Sierra Line of Credit 

Transaction"): 

 

LOAN AMOUNT:   $3,500,000-5,000,000 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED that the Interim CEO and Controller are hereby 

authorized and empowered to complete the Eastern Sierra Line of Credit Transaction. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED that the Interim CEO and the Controller (the "Authorized 

Officers") acting individually or together are hereby authorized and empowered to negotiate 

interest rate, period of payment, line of credit fees and other reporting covenants. 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that Authorized Officers acting individually or together are 

hereby authorized and empowered to negotiate, enter into, accept, execute and deliver any and 

all agreements, documents and instruments necessary to complete the Eastern Sierra Bank Line 

of Credit Transaction, including, but not limited to a Loan Agreement, one or more Promissory 

Notes, a Deed of Trust, UCC-1 Financing Statement and related collateral/security documents; 

and 

 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED, that NIHD, acting by and through its Authorized Officers, are 

hereby authorized and empowered, on behalf and in the name of NIHD to take such other actions 

and execute such other documents as may be reasonably necessary and in the best interests of 

NIHD, to complete the foregoing resolutions; all upon such terms as NIHD shall deem proper 

and in the best interests of NIHD, such execution and/or acceptance to be conclusive evidence of 

such approval. 

 

Adopted, signed and approved this 20th day of May, 2020. 

       ____________________________________ 
       District Board Chair 
 
       ____________________________________ 
       District Board Secretary 

Page 9 of 348

9



Page 10 of 348

10



Page 11 of 348

11



1 | P a g e  

 

 

Proposal for 
 

EHR Implementation Services. 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Northern Inyo Hospital 

Page 12 of 348

12



10000 Innovation Drive 414 431 9300 
Suite 250 wipfli.com 
Milwaukee, WI 53226 

May 8, 2020 

Kelli Davis, CEO 
Northern Inyo Hospital 
150 Pioneer Lane 
Bishop, CA 93514 

Dear Kelli, 

From your mission comes your strength and your vision for how to bring positive change to the 
world. It’s how you make a difference. Anyone you form a relationship with — from members to 
community leaders — needs to align with your mission, and that includes the firm you choose to 
meet your consulting or technology needs. 

You want this firm to be an extension of your team, one you can turn to with questions and for 
best practices, and not someone who will just do the work and get back to you when it’s 
convenient for them. Communication, responsiveness and a willingness to share — that’s what’s 
important in any relationship.  Work with people who are just as passionate about your mission 
as you are. With Wipfli, your success is our success.  Like other consulting firms, we examine 
processes and may uncover weaknesses. But more importantly, we help you fix what we find — 
strengthening your internal controls, improving your operating efficiency and putting in place 
the opportunities we find to help you grow. 

In this proposal, you’ll learn about our long history of working with healthcare providers, the 
skills and experience we bring to the table and why we’re best suited to meet your organization’s 
needs. Wipfli currently has over 2,600 healthcare providers, where we provide a vast array of 
services including audit, tax, accounting, technology, strategy, talent, and reimbursement 
consulting. 

As you make your final decision, we’d like to keep the lines of communication open. We welcome 
feedback from you on this proposal and ask that you call us at 414-259-6788 to discuss any 
concerns, observations or questions with us before making your final decision. 

We welcome the opportunity not only to meet your needs, but also to help you further your 
mission. 

Sincerely, 

Wipfli LLP 
Daryl Duenkel, Director 

Page 13 of 348

13



 

1 | P a g e  

 

Introduction 

Northern Inyo Hospital (the “Hospital”) is a 25-bed critical access hospital located in Bishop, 
California.  Northern Inyo Hospital offers acute care, inpatient ancillary, hospital outpatient, swing 
bed, and clinic services. 
 
Northern Inyo Hospital has selected Cerner electronic health record (EHR) system for use in its 
hospital facilities.  The new EHR will replace the existing AthenaHealth system.  Additionally, the 
hospital will implement a new financial suite from Cerner’s partner Multiview.  Cerner and 
Multiview are cloud-based offerings from their respective vendors. 
 
System Implementation Planning 

The system implementation planning phase is critical to the success of the implementation.  
During this phase, Wipfli will guide the hospital through the creation of the structure for the 
project.  Our methodical and logical approach based on industry best practices has proven to be 
one of the key project success factors.  The duration of the planning phase ranges from 
approximately four to six weeks depending on your staff availability. 
 
Wipfli’s responsibilities during the System Implementation Planning phase include leading the 
hospital with completing the project foundational steps. 
 
 Develop a Project Charter 
 Develop a Communication Plan 
 Develop a Risk Mitigation Plan 
 Perform a Change Readiness Assessment 

 
System Implementation 

The implementation phase is the longest and most complex phase in which the hospital’s staff will 
have the greatest involvement.  Each department impacted by the implementation will have 
representatives that will be assigned project tasks including data gathering, workbook updates, 
system testing, user acceptance testing, integration testing, training, go-live support, and general 
subject matter expertise responsibilities. 
 
During this phase, Wipfli will provide executive oversight expertise and project management 
support.  Wipfli is responsible for ensuring that all linked projects (e.g., EHR, PACs, Reference Lab 
interfaces, and financial system) are all progressing according to the planned timeline.  The 
duration of the implementation phase ranges from approximately nine to twelve months and will 
be coordinated with the schedule outlined by Cerner.” 
 
  

Page 14 of 348

14



 

2 | P a g e  

 

Wipfli’s responsibilities during the System Implementation phase, including managing the project 
are: 
 
Project Management Support 
 

 Provide overall project management for the EHR implementation and ancillary system 
implementations and/or upgrades (e.g., EHR, PACs, Reference Lab interfaces, and financial 
system and HR/Payroll integration). 

 Lead the development of the Project Charter, Risk Mitigation Plan, and Communication 
Plan. 

 Manage the vendor relationship. 
 Provide overall program and project management for the EHR implementation and 

ancillary systems. 
 Provide executive guidance and best practice advice for clinical and operational 

configuration decisions. 
 Assist with software vendor communications (e.g., Cerner and MultiView) concerning the 

overall project. 
 Monitor, escalate, and facilitate resolution of identified software, process, or resource 

issues. 
 Lead project steering committee meetings. 
 Participate in the weekly Cerner project status meetings. 
 Lead the internal project status meetings. 
 Coordinate and participate in Cerner onsite events. 
 Lead the Communication Team responsible for executing the Communication Plan. 
 Participate in the weekly Cerner solution architect meetings as needed. 
 

Change Management Support 
 
 Lead the organization in preparing for change, managing change, and reinforcing change 
 Conduct Stakeholder Prioritization 

 Stakeholder Map 
 Change Story 

 Perform a Change Readiness Assessment 
 Provide Sponsor Coaching & Resistance Management Training 
 Deliver Change Management and Resistance Management Education for the Department 

Managers 
 

 

 

  

Page 15 of 348

15



 

3 | P a g e  

 

Firm Profile 

Wipfli is a regional firm with national reach currently ranked among the top 20 largest public 
accounting firms in the United States, with a history dating back to 1930.  

 

Wipfli is a multidiscipline professional services firm structured around the following industries:   

 Healthcare 
 Nonprofit and 

Government 
 Manufacturing 

and Distribution 

 Financial 
Institutions 

 Construction and 
Real Estate 

 Dealerships 
 

 Agriculture 
 Life Sciences 
 Insurance 
 Tribal 

Organizations

Wipfli’s areas of expertise include the following services and many more: 

 Audit and accounting 
 Consulting services 
 Tax services 
 Employee benefits  
 Technology services 
 Individual services 
 Public company (SEC) services 
 Risk advisory and forensic services 

 Sustainability services 
 Mergers and acquisitions 
 Outsourcing solutions 
 Retirement plan solutions 
 Valuation, litigation, and 

transaction services 
 Custom software development

Page 16 of 348

16



 

4 | P a g e  

 

Healthcare Practice 

 
Community and rural hospitals and clinics have been at the core of Wipfli’s healthcare practice.  
Wipfli’s healthcare practice associates are based out of our offices in California, Illinois, 
Minnesota, Washington, and Wisconsin.  You will have access to the expertise of all these 
associates. 

 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 17 of 348

17



 

5 | P a g e  

 

 
Wipfli – Cerner Shared Client Base 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 

 

 

                             140+ WIPFLI CLIENTS HAVE CERNER’S EHR 

Page 18 of 348

18



 

6 | P a g e  

 

 
Solving the challenges your organization faces means getting access to a skilled team — trusted 
advocates who listen to your concerns and provide the support, advice and strategies you need to 
succeed. Meet your engagement team leaders: 
 

Daryl Duenkel 
Director 

Daryl Duenkel provides a variety of management consulting services to 
healthcare clients.  As a seasoned healthcare information technology (IT) 
professional, he provides expert advice and industry best practices advisory 
services.  Daryl assists clients with meeting their business and technology 
objectives through effective leadership, communication, and presentation 
skills.  He helps organizations identify and manage initiatives to increase 
patient safety, improve quality of care, reduce business risk, and add value 
through more efficient work processes and controls. 

Deron Kling 
Senior Manager 

Deron Kling is an experienced consultant, trainer, and leader focused on 
helping Wipfli’s clients plan for the future and reach their objectives.  His 
background includes over 20 years.  Deron excels at guiding organizations 
through a landscape disrupted by changing tools, resources, compliance 
requirements, and competition.  

 

Biographies of the engagement team leaders are included at the end of this proposal. 
 

Page 19 of 348

19



 

7 | P a g e  

 

 

Staff Retention 

Although only the core team is identified in this proposal, it is our goal to maintain staff 
consistency whenever possible, since we realize this is key to our clients’ satisfaction.  Wipfli 
utilizes a firm-wide scheduling tool so that associates with the best skill set to meet your needs 
can be brought to the team and scheduled to repeat on engagements so that you do not have to 
“retain” the consulting team year after year.  
 
Our goal is to build a long-term mutually beneficial relationship with Northern Inyo Hospital, and 
we realize that cannot happen when there is constant turnover on client engagements.  Wipfli 
enjoys a very high level of employee retention with average employee retention in the healthcare 
practice exceeding 97% in each of the past 4 years. 
 

 

 
 
Wipfli and its industry niches also have a presence on social media sites such as Twitter, LinkedIn and 
Facebook and use these resources, as well as webinar and emailed newsletters, to transmit 
information on industry, accounting, tax, information technology, and a wide variety of other topics to 
our clients and inform them of upcoming live and webinar training opportunities. 

Page 20 of 348

20



 

8 | P a g e  

 

 
Client Satisfaction 
 
We solicit feedback from our clients through an annual formal client satisfaction survey.  We ask 
clients to provide feedback, both positive and negative, which allows us to learn and tailor future 
services.  Our service philosophy is focused on learning and growth.  We view the evaluation 
process as a very important cornerstone of this service philosophy.  Should any issues arise during 
that process, a focused effort will be made by our firm to address and promptly resolve those 
issues. 

While a client may have engagements that are led and delivered by several different associates, all 
Wipfli clients are assigned a client relationship executive whose responsibility is to ensure clients 
receive great service.   The client is free to contact their relationship executive regarding any and 
all ongoing engagements.  At the conclusion of significant engagements, a survey related to that 
engagement may be sent or the relationship executive may simply request a client’s feedback 
regarding the performance of the engagement and the engagement team. 

For engagements, our teams may schedule periodic check-in calls leading up to and after 
fieldwork to ensure client staff are accountable to the engagement team for meeting information 
request deadlines and the engagement team is accountable to meeting reporting deadlines 
established by the client. 
 
Client References 
 
For your convenience, we offer the following as references:  
  

Midwest Medical Center 
Galena, IL 
Tracy Bauer, CEO 
tbauer@midwestmedicalcenter.org  
 
Humboldt General Hospital 
Winnemucca, NV 
Karen Cole, Interim CEO  
colek@hghospital.org  
 
Hawaii Health System – Kauai Region 
Waimea, HI 
Christine Asato, CFO 
casato@hhsc.org  

Mammoth Hospital 
Mammoth Lakes, CA 
Mark Lind, CIO 
mark.lind@mammothhospital.com  
 
Black River Memorial Hospital 
Black River Falls, WI 
Gina LaFaunge, HIM Director 
lafaunge@brmh.net    

Page 21 of 348

21



 

9 | P a g e  

 

 
Fixed Fees 

Wipfli’s fixed fees are based on our understanding of your project, our previous experience with 
similar projects, and our knowledge of Cerner’s implementation methodology and timeline.  The 
fixed fee for your project is $325,000. 
 
Travel time and expenses, taxes, and other out-of-pocket expenses are not included in the fixed 
fee.  Travel and expense Fees are billed as incurred.  The estimated travel and expense fees for 
your project is $50,000. 
 
Wipfli LLP will invoice 10% upon execution of an agreement and nine equal monthly payments. 
 

Changes to the Scope 

Things happen. We’ve all been there. But adjusting to change in the best way requires 
transparency and communication. If there are changes after the engagement begins, such as a 
significant acquisition, merger, or capital project. we will discuss revisions to the scope with you 
and obtain your approval before moving forward.  
 
Engagement Timeline/Approach 

Wipfli’s System Implementation and planning as defined on page 1 will begin approximately one-
month before Cerner begins their portion of the project.  Wipfli’s project and change management 
services conclude three weeks after the day that Cerner system goes live.  Any schedule changes 
made by either the hospital or Cerner will be considered a change in scope and subject to Wipfli 
changes to the scope process.  

 
 
 

Page 22 of 348

22



 

10 | P a g e  

 

 

Positioned to better serve you 
 
You’re looking for the ideal firm — one that 
provides the close, personal touch and 
communication of a regional firm along 
with the extensive resources and 
specialized knowledge of a large, national firm.  
 
At Wipfli, we pride ourselves on delivering that 
close level of attention and responsiveness, 
alongside a wide breadth of capabilities. 
Whether it’s navigating new regulations or 
implementing technology that can make a true 
difference to your organization — this means 
we can grow with you. 

Commitment to the community 

Like you, we’re passionate about making a 
difference. On our annual Community Day, we 
close every office across the U.S. so that 
hundreds of our associates and partners can 
volunteer in their communities. Our annual 
impact is over 5,000 hours of service to more 
than 80 organizations. 

 
We hope this proposal has answered any questions you 
may have regarding Wipfli and look forward to being 
a valued business partner of your hospital!

Page 23 of 348

23



 

11 | P a g e  

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Profiles 

Page 24 of 348

24



  
 

 

 
Daryl Duenkel provides a variety of management consulting services to 
healthcare clients.  He provides expert advice and industry best practices 
advisory services.  Daryl assists clients with meeting their business and 
technology objectives through effective leadership, communication, and 
presentation skills.  He helps organizations identify and manage initiatives 
to increase patient safety, improve quality of care, reduce business risk, 
and add value through more efficient work processes and controls. 
 
Specializations 

 IT governance strategy and application, departmental management advisory, 
IT leadership coaching, IT staffing and system adoption assessments 

 Enterprise system requirement definition, selection, contract analysis and 
recommendations, and implementation 

 Change management strategy and application 
 Portfolio program and project management 
 Business process workflow analysis and application of Lean and Six Sigma 

principles 
 Business intelligence strategy and application 

 
Past experience 

 Senior IT advisory services including: 
 IT governance strategy and application for multiple hospital organizations 
 IT assessments including IT staffing and system adoption 

recommendations for clients throughout the continuum of care, from 
provider practices through managed care 

 Program manager for multiple hospital and clinic organizations with 
responsibility for the implementation of electronic health records, payroll, 
time and attendance, financial suite, and materials management systems 

 Project manager for multiple Epic Ambulatory implementations of EpicCare®, 
Prelude, Cadence, and Resolute modules for large health care delivery 
systems utilizing Epic’s Community Connect methodology 

 Vendor contract and service-level agreement review and analysis 
 

Professional memberships and activities 

 Health Information Management Systems Society (HIMSS) - Fellow 
 HIMSS, Dairyland Chapter - Board of directors’ past president 
 Project Management Institute (PMI) – Member 

 
Education 

Cardinal Stritch College 
 Bachelor of science degree in business administration   

 
 
s 
 
Daryl  
Duenkel  

Director, PMP, 
Prosci ADKAR, CPHIMS, 
Six Sigma,  
EpicCare® Ambulatory  
 
 
Milwaukee office 
414 259 6788 
dduenkel@wipfli.com 
 
wipfli.com 

Page 25 of 348

25



  
 

 

 
Deron Kling is an experienced consultant, trainer, and leader focused on 
helping Wipfli’s clients plan for the future and reach their objectives.  His 
background includes over 20 years as an organizational leader and 
management consultant.  With strong experience in managing change and 
strategic goals, Deron excels at guiding organizations through a landscape 
disrupted by changing tools, resources, compliance requirements, and 
competition.  Driven by a passion for helping organizations meet 
measurable objectives, he excels at training, mentoring, process redesign, 
project planning, strategic thinking, and team engagement. 
 
Specializations 

 Leading strategic planning and goal setting for organizations 
 Assisting clients in change leadership and management around 

organizational transformation  
 Consulting with organizations in: 

 Strategic planning - Board-level, organizational, and 
departmental 

 Change management 
 Organizational improvement 
 Process improvement, alignment, and redesign 
 Large and small group facilitation 
 Technology introduction, integration, and adoption 

 
Past experience 

 Operations and technology leader in international manufacturing 
corporations 

 Technology department leader and strategic planner in colleges and 
universities, managing complex organizational goals, including 
implementing strategy and technology 

 Senior manager and management consultant in a top 20 consulting 
firm 

 
Professional memberships and activities 

 Guest Lecturer - Cardinal Stritch University 
 International Association of Facilitators (IAF) - Member 
 Association for Strategic Planning (ASP) - Member 

 

Education 

Marquette University 
 Bachelor of arts degree in professional communication   

 
 
s 
 
Deron  
Kling  

Senior Manager 
 
Milwaukee office 
414 431 9350 
dkling@wipfli.com 
 
wipfli.com 

Page 26 of 348

26



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Password Policy 

Scope: District Wide Department: District Information Security 

Source: Director of Information 

Technology Services  

Effective Date:  

 

 1 

PURPOSE:  
 

Passwords are an important aspect of computer security. They are the front line of protection for user accounts. A 
poorly chosen password may result in the compromise of NIHD’s entire network. As such, all NIHD workforce 
members including but not limited to- employees, members of the Board of Directors, contractors and vendors with 
access to NIHD systems are responsible for taking the appropriate steps, as outlined below, to select and secure their 
passwords.  
 

The purpose of this policy is as follows: 
1.  To establish a standard for creation of strong passwords 
2. To establish a standard for the protection of those passwords 
3. To establish a standard for the frequency of change of those passwords. 

 

SCOPE: 

The scope of this policy includes all NIHD workforce members (as described above) who have or are responsible for 
an account (or any form of access that supports or requires a password) on any system that resides at any NIHD 
facility, has access to the NIHD network, or stores any non-public NIHD information. 
 

POLICY: 
 

1. All passwords must be changed every 60 days. 
2. Password history will remember the last 3 passwords that cannot be reused. 
3. Accounts will be locked out after 8 failed attempts to prevent password spraying attempts. 
4. Passwords must not be inserted into email messages or other forms of electronic communication. 
5. All user-level and system-level passwords must conform to the guidelines described below. 

a. Password must contain a minimum of 8 characters and maximum of 15 characters 
b. Passwords must contain a combination of capital and lowercase letters ,numbers and symbols 
c. Passwords should not contain easily recognizable words (i.e. Bishop, Inyo, NIH) 
d. Password exception for DMS– Passwords can only contain capital or lowercase and not  

in combination.  Example – “TgAgm487&” the password would have to be “tgagm4878&” or ”TGAGM4878&” 
6. Passwords are not to be shared with anyone, including administrative assistants. 
7. If a password is suspected to have been compromised, report the incident immediately to the Information 

Technology Services Department or the District Information Security Officer. 
8. NIHD workforce members cannot use the same password for NIHD accounts as they use for other non-NIHD 

access (e.g., personal ISP account, shopping sites, benefits, etc.).  

a.) If an employees NIHD account(s) is compromised the ITS department will then investigate the public 
password breaches to verify that an employee’s password(s) are not in the public domain. 

b.) During an investigation of a security breach an employee may be asked - do you use the same password 
for any other accounts whether private or public?  

 
9. NIHD workforce members cannot use the "Remember Password" feature of applications (e.g., Internet, 

Outlook OWA, etc.). 
 

REFERENCES: 
HIPAA Security  - Security Awareness and Training Standard 164.308(a)(5)(ii)(D)  

NIST SP: 800-118, 800-12, 800-82 Rev 2, 800-53 Rev 4, 800-63-2, 800-66 4.5.3 

 

Committee Approval Date 

Executive Team  

Board of Directors  

  

Developed:  1/1/2004 

Page 27 of 348

27



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Password Policy 

Scope: District Wide Department: District Information Security 

Source: Director of Information 

Technology Services  

Effective Date:  

 

 2 

Reviewed: 
Revised: 9/3/2019 
Supersedes: Password Policy 
Responsibility for review and maintenance:  District Information Security Officer 
Index Listings: 
NIST Guidelines- https://pages.nist.gov/800-63-3/sp800-63b.html 

Page 28 of 348

28



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 1 of 11 

 

PURPOSE:  

The protection of confidential and protected health information (PHI) is of highest importance. 

The establishment, monitoring, and improvement of Information Technology (IT) controls shall 

assure compliance with relevant regulations and safeguard the confidentiality, integrity, and 

availability of IT resources and the security of all data available on Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District- owned network assets. 

To define standards of network operation and management in order to provide a secure and 

sustainable environment while also defending against outside threats and the risk of security 

breach. As the network systems used by Northern Inyo Healthcare District to connect computing 

assets are critical to the district’s business and ability to care for patients, this policy will specify 

best practices for maintenance, audit, and vulnerability management of all Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District information systems. In addition, all systems that transmit PHI will be 

encrypted according to the standards set forth in this document. 

Wherever network, system, application, or facility capabilities or processes require deviation 

from this or related information security policies, the reason for exception shall be thoroughly 

documented and the documentation maintained by the Information Owner. 

DEFINITIONS: 

 

Information Owner: The person responsible for data integrity and granting access to 

information 

Accidental Disclosure: Healthcare personnel unintentionally disclose PHI (e.g., email sent to 

incorrect address or inadvertent online posting of sensitive health information) 

Unauthorized Intrusion of Network Asset: Malicious access not authorized by Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District Information Owners, including by former employees or patients, to enterprise 

network assets to gain access to PHI or render assets inoperable 

Perimeter Layer: Gateway to network; firewall, gateway antivirus, Virtual Private Network 

(VPN), and Intrusion Detection/Prevention shall be in place at this critical access point 

Network Layer: Infrastructure (switches, hubs, routers, and wires) that create the connection 

from one Northern Inyo Healthcare District computer asset or device to another; at this layer, 

traffic can be monitored and inspected to ensure no Malicious data is in network 

Page 29 of 348

29



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 2 of 11 

Host Layer: Computer assets on the network; identifying and eliminating security gaps in each 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District- owned computer asset is imperative, with mission-critical 

devices being monitored for potential intrusion 

Application Layer: Custom and packaged software run by personnel in the normal course of 

business; protection shall be accomplished with vulnerability scans, patches, and application 

shields 

Data Layer: Information stored on Northern Inyo Healthcare District- owned network assets; 

security policies at this layer shall employ rigorous access control and encryption 

SCOPE: 

This policy applies to all workforce members: Northern Inyo Healthcare District employees, 

physicians, independent practitioners, contractors, consultants, temporary workforce members, 

and other authorized workers at Northern Inyo Healthcare District, including those workforce 

members affiliated with third parties who access Northern Inyo Healthcare District networks. 

This policy also applies to all organizational information assets and information asset 

administrators. Networks, systems, and devices connected to Northern Inyo Healthcare District- 

owned networking assets shall be administered, configured, protected, and monitored in 

accordance with this policy and related procedures.  

 

NETWORK SECURITY POLICY: 

I. Operation and Maintenance of Controls  

A. Information Security is integrated into the IT Change Control Management 

process to address any impact that a change may have on the Information Security 

controls 

B. Controls shall be audited on an annual basis and changes to existing controls or 

new controls shall be reviewed, approved, and communicated accordingly 

II. IT Security Controls  

A. Procedures shall exist to restrict access to Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

information resources to those with authorized workforce privileges (refer to 

Minimum Necessary Access Policy) 

B. Information Technology ‘security zones’ shall be established to address the 

differing requirements of workspaces  

1. A security zone is defined by the physical and functional security of a 

given workspace, and Northern Inyo Healthcare District shall have three 

named zones: 

Page 30 of 348

30



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 3 of 11 

a. Secure: IT workstations and resources in physically protected 

areas accessible only to authorized workforce members, such as 

Lab, parts of ED, Surgery, and PACU 

b. Semi-secure: IT workstations and resources in areas where 

physical space is demarked for authorized workforce members 

who maintain a constant presence, such as ED Triage 

c. Non-secure: IT workstations and resources in publicly accessible 

areas, such as public hallways and volunteer desks 

C. Third-party access restrictions shall be implemented and administered to ensure 

only authorized access is granted to limited information resources 

D. Sensitive system documentation (confidential and restricted information) shall be 

physically protected from unauthorized access or damage 

E. Loading unauthorized software on IT assets (workstations, laptops, etc.) is not 

permitted on any device connecting to NIHD networks 

F. System infrastructure, including firewalls, routers, switches, network operating 

systems, servers, and other related devices shall be properly configured to prevent 

unauthorized access using industry security configuration standards 

G. Procedures exist and shall be followed to ensure that all users are authenticated to 

the network to support the validity of transactions 

H. Password and authentication procedures exist and shall be followed to maintain 

the effectiveness of authentication systems and workforce access (refer to IT 

Passwords policy) 

I. Operational procedures exist and shall be followed for maintaining user account 

terminations/transfers  

J. Monitoring services shall be employed to protect Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District infrastructure layer from attempted internal or external attacks against or 

abuses of IT network resources  

III. Information Security Controls Improvement  

A. Measurement, monitoring, and reporting 

1. The measurements used for security controls include:  

a. The controls are in place, effective as defined by procedures, and 

reviewed on an annual basis or as needed 

b. When a change or improvement for a control is required, the IT 

Security Team shall provide input to the Change Control 

Management process, the Office of the CEO, the IT site executive, 

and to related IT distribution list recipients 

B. IT security controls shall be subject to regular audits internally and externally by 

IT or third party providers to ensure they are performing according to 

management intent and IT Security and regulatory compliance standards 

IV. Compliance & Exceptions  

A. Under rare circumstances, business needs may require that Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District or IT deviate from this policy 

Page 31 of 348

31



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 4 of 11 

B. Security Policies shall ultimately provide the techniques and methodology to 

protect Northern Inyo Healthcare District information and physical assets 

C. While polices are intended to be technology independent, they may be impacted 

by changing technology, regulations, vendor capabilities, and business 

requirements. 

D. Information assets may not be able to implement or support Information Security 

policies and procedures as written; Network Administrators shall configure 

information assets to support policies to maximum extent possible 

E. Compensating controls shall be implemented and documentation shall be 

maintained for assets that cannot support Information Security policies 

V. Standards of Common Carriers  

A. Networking services at Northern Inyo Healthcare District shall be provided on a 

contractual carrier basis, not those of a common carrier 

B. Northern Inyo Healthcare District shall operate a private network, and has the 

right to make policies that regulate the use of network assets without being held to 

the standards of common carriers 

VI. Service Provider of Public Network Assets  

A. Network assets shall not be used to provide services to non-Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District entities outside of established contractual obligations; this 

includes operating as a public network or as a provider of services relied on by 

others, such as: 

1. Message forwarding nodes on the Internet 

2. Encryption key notarization center or distribution point 

3. Provider of information services 

VII. Violations  

A. Violation of this policy may result in immediate disciplinary action up to and 

including termination, contract termination, or other actions 

(Numbering is for reference only and is not an indication of sequence or priority.) 

 

PROCEDURE: 

Security Audit Procedure 

I. Request for Audit of Workforce Usage  

A. An Intranet IT Service Request form shall be used to request an audit for worker 

usage (Internet, e-mail, appropriate use) 

1. The IT Service Request form shall include the following:  

a. Name and position title (role) of the requester 

b. Name of the User to be audited 

Page 32 of 348

32



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 5 of 11 

c. Name of the system or function to be audited 

d. Time period of audit 

e. The business case justification for granting the audit 

f. Manager and Director's expressed approval of the audit 

2. Approval Tree 

a. Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO expressed approval of the 

audit 

b. HR approval of audit 

B. Audit procedures  

1. IT Director shall assign the audit to an IT Tech Services member 

2. IT Tech Services shall complete the audit and notify all interested parties 

3. The findings and any report shall be provided to the Manager/Director, 

Human Resources or designated and authorized third person 

4. Should the Manager/Director desire to take action upon the findings of an 

audit, they shall do so in concert with HR  

KEYPOINT: Managers must get Director-level approval. Audits must be 

for specific workstations or Users, covering specific periods of time--a 

week to a month, though they can be renewed or expanded. Audits can be 

very expansive, containing large quantities of data. Clear definition of 

audit scope can narrow the research and improve the quality of the 

findings. 

II. Request for Access to Worker Information Resources  

A. A Service Desk Request form shall be used to request access to a workers’ 

information resources (e- mail account, secured folders, hard disks) 

1. The IT Service Request form shall include the following:  

a. Name and position title (role) of the requester 

b. Name of the User whose information is to be accessed 

c. Objective or information scope 

d. Time period of scope, if applicable 

e. The business case justification for granting access 

f. Manager and Director's expressed approval of the access 

B. Approval Tree 

1. Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO expressed approval of the audit 

2. HR approval of audit 

C. Access granting procedures  

1. IT Director shall assign the task to an IT Tech Services member 

2. IT security technician shall complete the access change request and notify 

all interested parties 

3. Access control shall be provided to the Manager/Director or designated 

and authorized third person  

KEYPOINT: Managers must get Director-level approval. Not all 

information is stored online. Additional time and resources may be 

Page 33 of 348

33



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 6 of 11 

required to retrieve archived information. Most information at Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District is retained for limited periods of time. Refer to 

the Document Retention policy for a table of document retention 

classifications. 

III. Computer and Network Systems Auditing  

A. To maintain IT systems and network security, availability and information 

integrity, Northern Inyo Healthcare District has delegated to IT the functions of 

Information Technology 

B. To secure Northern Inyo Healthcare District network resources and information, 

IT shall maintain an active IT security function, to include: 

1. Regular monitoring of IT networks, systems, and appropriate use 

2. Regular auditing and reporting of IT security findings, both scheduled and 

ad hoc 

3. Targeted IT security investigations, both requested and incident-based 

4. IT best practices, policies, procedures and standards 

5. Access Controls to authenticate workforce members 

6. IT security and awareness training for the workforce 

C. Policies and Procedures shall be established to enforce the protection of Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District information and IT resources 

D. Regular internal audits: 

1. Firewall (traffic patterns, utilization, VPNs) 

2. Intrusion Detection Systems (LAN traffic patterns, alerts) 

3. Network Management Systems (routers, switches) 

4. Local Area Network workstations and networked devices 

E. Annual External Audits  

1. Analysis 

2. Progressive Threat Model 

3. Response (resources, systems, processes) 

4. Assessment (review, prioritize resources, plan) 

IV. Scope of Audit Authority  

A. The role of IT Security, both the Officer and IT Security Team, shall be granted 

by role and responsibility from the Northern Inyo Healthcare District CEO or 

Director of IT Services 

B. When requested and for the purpose of performing a security audit, any access 

needed shall be provided to the IT team and /or internal auditor  

1. This access may include:  

a. User level and/or system level access to any computer or 

communications device 

b. Access to information (electronic, hardcopy, etc.) that may be 

produced, transmitted, or stored on Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District or IT equipment or premises 

c. Access to work areas (labs, offices, cubicles, storage areas,etc.) 

Page 34 of 348

34



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 7 of 11 

d. Access to interactively monitor and log traffic on Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District or IT networks Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District or IT equipment or premises 

V. Audit Methodology  

A. Security audits shall be performed on IT information systems, computers, and 

communications devices on a yearly basis or as needed. 

1. All security audits shall follow IT-approved audit methodology which 

includes, but is not limited to:  

a. Purpose and objectives of the audit 

b. Scope of the audit 

c. Systems/device owners 

d. Sources of information obtained 

e. Methodology and sampling criteria used 

f. Assessment of compliance with IT Security policies and 

procedures 

g. Findings and recommendations 

VI. Audit Findings, Recommendations and Responsibilities  

A. All security audit reports shall be conducted by and/or at the direction of the 

District Information Security Officer responsible for district security and be 

delivered to the CEO. 

B. In the event of a breach of IT security policies, state or federal regulations, within 

a reasonable interval from receipt of the audit report, the responsible Director 

shall submit a written response to the CEO or Director of IT Services on the 

issues raised and recommendations made in the audit report 

1. The written response shall include a detailed plan to rectify non-

compliance with Northern Inyo Healthcare District or IT security policies 

and any applicable laws or regulations 

C. The District Information Security Officer with responsibility for district cyber 

security shall be responsible to retain copies of all security audit reports and to 

ensure that follow-up reviews are conducted to assess actions taken on the 

recommendations made in the audit reports 

D. The responsible District Information Security Officer shall be responsible to 

ensure compliance with all security policies and that recommended corrective 

actions are effected within a reasonable interval 

VII. Exceptions  

A. Under rare circumstances, business needs may require that IT deviate from this 

policy  

1. Security Policies provide the techniques and methodology to protect IT 

and client information and physical assets 

2. While polices are intended to be technology independent, they may be 

impacted by changing technology, legislation, and business requirements 

Page 35 of 348

35



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 8 of 11 

Vulnerability Management Assessment  

I. System Assessment  

A. Proactive security scanning allows for a meaningful assessment of system security 

against known risks, provides a roadmap of effective countermeasures for 

improving security, and also provides a simple quantification of assets 

B. Enterprise class vulnerability assessment tools and applications shall be utilized to 

provide optimal scanning capabilities 

C. Data retrieved from system assessment shall be treated as internal-confidential 

D. No devices, systems, and/or applications connected to the network shall be 

configured to block vulnerability assessments or scans from authorized scanning 

tools 

E. No new information systems shall be considered or implemented until assessment 

is completed and vulnerabilities addressed 

F. At the completion of each assessment a mitigation plan must be developed, 

submitted to and approved by the Compliance Office and the District Information 

Security Officer with responsibility for district cyber security.   

II. Penetration Testing  

A. All penetration testing of Northern Inyo Healthcare District’s systems must be 

arranged and coordinated by the Information Technology Services Department 

B. Penetration testing is typically conducted over a period of several weeks, with 

regular feedback to the CEO, District Information Security Officer. 

C. All devices attached to Northern Inyo Healthcare District’s network are subject to 

security vulnerability scanning and/or penetration testing 

D. To better manage risks associated with such tests, signed nondisclosure and 

confidentiality agreements are required prior to commencement of the penetration 

test 

E. Penetration testing shall measure specific risks and attack types 

F. Penetration testing will consist of a series of scans targeting specific threats  

1. Focused Scans: Low-level scans for basic service-tracking purposes shall 

be conducted on all networks within the organization 

2. Recurring Group Scans: Groups of systems identified as critical to the 

organization, or that subject the organization to heightened risk shall be 

subject to frequent, in-depth security scans 

3. Ad Hoc Scans: Before a new system is put into service, it is recommended 

that a network security scan be conducted for the purposes of identifying 

potential vulnerabilities  

a. Scans may be requested by system administrators at any time, as 

frequently as necessary to maintain confidence in the security 

protections being employed 

Page 36 of 348

36



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 9 of 11 

b. Any system identified in conjunction with a security incident, as 

well as any system undergoing an audit may be subject to a 

network security scan 

G. No tests shall be conducted on a public network unless requested by the CEO, 

Director of IT Services with responsibility for district cyber security. 

H. No scans shall be conducted on systems that are not under the direct authority of 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

III. Documenting Findings  

A. All discovered vulnerabilities will be summarized and documented at the 

conclusion of each evaluation 

B. Each vulnerability related to a security hole will be listed and have detailed 

information on how the vulnerability will be remedied or eliminated 

C. Each vulnerability will include a timeline for a completion of remediation steps 

1. Each vulnerability should be designated with a remediation priority level 

(e.g., “High,” “Medium,” or “Low”)  

a. High risk issues must be remediated in a timely manner, or units 

can work with the Information Security Officer toward 

implementing compensating controls to reduce risks highlighted in 

the report(s) 

D. For all periodic assessments and tests a report will be created and submitted to the 

CEO, District Information Security Officer with responsibility for district cyber 

security. 

E. Northern Inyo Healthcare District shall conduct an annual report of all 

outstanding vulnerabilities and should be evaluated by the CEO, District 

Information Security Officer with responsibility for district cyber security for 

review 

F. Vulnerability reports shall be evaluated regularly 

 

 

 

Encryption Procedure 

I. Data Encryption  

A. The encryption method chosen by the organization will comply with federal 

information processing standards 

II. Data Transmission  

Page 37 of 348

37



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 10 of 11 

A. All organizational systems and clinical networks that transmit ePHI will be 

encrypted according to information security standards 

B. All electronic devices that transmit ePHI will be safeguarded and encrypted 

C. All mobile devices that connect to the organization’s clinical information systems 

and access, store, or transmit ePHI will be safeguarded through encryption to 

protect the information 

D. The Compliance Officer with input for Security Officer will determine sensitive 

information systems that require encryption. 

E. The Security Officer shall assign workforce members decryption authorization. 

 

III. Data Access  

A. All computer workstations containing ePHI will be safeguarded through 

encryption standards to protect the information from unauthorized access 

B. External storage media containing ePHI will need to have information encrypted 

C. The Security Officer shall grant exceptions to existing systems and applications 

that may have technology limitations that limit encryption capability  

1. Exceptions will be reviewed periodically and removed when a suitable 

solution is available 

D. The Security Officer will protect “data at rest” such as that defined in the Access 

Control standard of the HIPAA Security Rule against the increase in security 

technology complexity and administrative overhead including performance 

considerations and usability 

E. Only authorized workforce members will have access to encrypted ePHI 

F. Only authorized workforce members will be granted decryption privileges for 

ePHI 

This policy is supplemented by other Northern Inyo Healthcare District policies and procedures. 

 

 

All IT Security policies and procedures shall adhere to standards established by international 

conventions, Federal, State, and local laws and regulations. 

 

1. NIST SP 800-53 Rev 4 

2. NIST SP 800-53 Rev 4 

3. NIST SP 800-184 

Page 38 of 348

38



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Cyber Security Policy 

Scope: Districtwide 

 

 

Department: District Information Security 

Source: Information Technology 

Department 

Effective Date: 

 

Page 11 of 11 

4. NIST SP: 800-12 

5. NIST SP 800-82 Rev 2 

6. 21 Steps to Improve Cyber Security of SCADA Networks," Office of Energy Assurance, 

Office of Independent Oversight And Performance Assurance, U.S. Department of 

Energy 

7. PCI DSS 3.1 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Committee Approval Date 

Executive Team  

Board of Directors  

  

Developed: Bryan Harper  

Reviewed: 4/27/2020 

Revised:  

Supercedes: 

 

Responsibility for review and maintenance: District Information Security Officer 
 

Index Listings: https://www.nist.gov/cyberframework/framework 

 

Page 39 of 348

39

http://energy.gov/oe/downloads/21-steps-improve-cyber-security-scada-networks
https://www.nist.gov/cyberframework/framework


 

2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Northern Inyo Healthcare 
District 
 

Chief Executive Officer 
Search 
 

April 27, 2020 

Kathy Hall 

Managing Director & Senior Advisor | Gallagher MSA Search 

 

801 West 47th Street, Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO  64112 

888.513.0158 

 

Kathy_Hall@ajg.com 

GallagherHRCC.com 

Page 40 of 348

40



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

April 27, 2020 

 

PERSONAL & CONFIDENTIAL 

 

Ms. Jean Turner 

Chair 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

150 Pioneer Lane 

Bishop, CA 93514 

 

Dear Jean: 

 

I am pleased to present this proposal for Gallagher MSA Search to assist Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District in the upcoming search for your next Chief Executive Officer.  Our proposal 

will describe how we might work together on this search.   

 

As I know you are aware, the selection of your next Chief Executive Officer is an extremely 

important decision for the organization.  For this reason, partnership with a firm, and, more 

importantly, an executive search professional whom you trust to represent your interests with 

the highest ethics and understanding of your needs, is imperative.   

 

Gallagher MSA Search has the proven resources and processes to provide Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District the advantages of a large firm with an active network of healthcare 

executives nationwide that we maintain in our database.  As a boutique practice, you will work 

directly with our most senior consultants with very high levels of responsiveness and personal 

attention to meet your unique needs with a national reach in the identification of executives for 

your particular needs.   

 

 

 

Page 41 of 348

41



 

2 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Following is a short summary of our experience and proven best practices we use to ensure a 

successful outcome for every client, every search, every time. 

 

Thank you for considering Gallagher MSA Search. We look forward to continuing our 

conversation.   

 

Sincerely, 

 

 
Kathy Hall 

Managing Director & Senior Advisor 

 

 

 
  

Page 42 of 348

42



 

3 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

OVERVIEW OF GALLAGHER MSA SEARCH 
 

Gallagher MSA Search served exclusively healthcare organizations from 1984 to 2015.  When 

MSA Search was purchased by AJG in 2015, general industry search consultants were merged 

into the practice. 

 

Gallagher MSA Search possesses a knowledge and understanding of healthcare delivery 

across all fifty states.  Gallagher MSA Search has been recognized as a Top Healthcare 

Executive Search Firm by Modern Healthcare.  

 

We believe strongly in providing an exceptional experience for all of our clients and candidates, 

so we carefully review every opportunity and only accept those projects where we believe we 

will be able to build a true partnership.  Therefore, our team of executive search consultants 

handles fewer searches per person than our competitors and as such, are able to provide more 

personal and expedited service to our client partners.  In addition, we have an outstanding team 

of dedicated research and support staff who are all employees of Gallagher MSA Search. 

 

100% of Gallagher MSA Search’s business is related to leadership searches.  We also provide 

CEO Transition Planning, Leadership Continuity/Succession Planning and leadership 

assessment services to our clients.   

 

Our success rate with executive selection is a distinguishing characteristic for Gallagher MSA 

Search.  Our number one goal in any search is to ensure that the executive who joins our client 

organization is an ideal fit.  A metric we value and monitor closely is the tenure of the executive 

placed and how often our clients have exercised the guarantee provision of our Engagement 

Agreement.  We pride ourselves in the fact that our CEO guarantee has not been 

exercised –not even once-- in the last 19 years. 
 

Additionally, for every CEO search since 2000, an MSA Client has selected their CEO 

from the first slate of candidates presented.  This is unheard of in many industries and 

signifies the focus we place on getting to know the organization, its strategy, its culture, its 

people and exactly what the board expects of their next CEO. 

 

We joined Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. (AJG) in May 2015, becoming part of a company 

named a World's Most Ethical Company® by the Ethisphere Institute in 2019 for the eighth 

consecutive year.  The Ethisphere Institute is considered the global leader in defining and 

advancing the standards of ethical business practices.  This aspect of AJG, as well as 

others, has proven a great fit with the values of our company since its inception in 1974. 

  

Page 43 of 348

43



 

4 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

QUALITY METRICS 

 

AVERAGE TIME TO CLOSE 

120 -- 150 days 

CEO PLACEMENT RATE 

100% 

CEO PLACEMENT RATE FROM FIRST PANEL  
OF CANDIDATES PRESENTED TO CLIENT 

100% 

AVERAGE GALLAGHER MSA SEARCH-PLACED CEO TENURE 

6.8 years 

 

At Gallagher MSA Search, we view our work during each search as if we are an extension of 

your organization, our client.  Therefore, our actions are a reflection of you, our client, and we 

take this very seriously.  After completing each search, we survey the final candidates as well as 

the client and strive to make improvements as we move forward.  Additionally, client satisfaction 

is one of the four elements utilized in our company wide incentive plan. 

 

Integrity 

 

When Gallagher MSA Search and Integrated Healthcare Strategies joined Arthur J. Gallagher & 

Co. in 2015, we became part of a company named a World's Most Ethical Company® by the 

Ethisphere Institute in 2020 for the ninth consecutive year.  The Ethisphere Institute is 

considered the global leader in defining and advancing the standards of ethical business 

practices. You can expect Gallagher MSA Search to exhibit the following: 

 

Integrity 

Professionalism 

Competence 

Objectivity 

Equal Opportunity 

Accuracy 

Confidentiality 

Loyalty 

Respect for Public Interest 

  

Page 44 of 348

44



 

5 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

APPROACH/SCOPE OF SERVICES 

 

The objective of this search engagement will be to identify, attract, and evaluate exceptional 

candidates from whom you can select one Chief Executive Officer who best meets the current 

and future needs of Northern Inyo Healthcare District.  The following chronological steps 

outline our executive search methodology:  

 

1. Considerations for the Search Process  

 

Communication 

 

We commit to regular communication with you during every stage of the search process.  

We will communicate the status of the search, concerns that may arise, candidate 

questions, anticipated time frames, etc.  We will meet with the Search Committee in person 

as many times as necessary.   

 

Additionally, we will provide communications, press releases, sample interviewing agendas, 

sample interview questions, guidelines for hosting and interviewing candidates, and 

candidate evaluation tools. 

 

2. Information Gathering and On-Site 

 

You will receive an information request specific to the position including organizational 

charts, position description, strategic goals, budgets, and most recent audited financials, 

publically available quality data and other key documents which will help us understand the 

organization, your culture, and the CEO role.  

 

We will begin our work with you by conducting a two-day onsite fact find with the search 

committee and key stakeholders you identify to discuss and agree on the search process 

and timeline. Additionally, we will:  

 

 Conduct interviews with key Northern Inyo Healthcare District stakeholders to enhance 

our insight into the type of candidate that will best fit your values, leadership team, 

strategic initiatives, and operating objectives.  The purpose of these interviews is to 

further understand the scope of services offered by Northern Inyo Healthcare District, its 

strategic vision for the future, and the desired leadership culture the Board will be 

looking to the CEO to effect. 

 

Page 45 of 348

45



 

6 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

 Gather specific information concerning the position, such as key accountabilities and 

responsibilities, immediate and long-range objectives, selection criteria, etc. 

 

 Tour the Bishop area with a realtor or community representative you designate, and 

compile community information such as housing, schools, recreational, and cultural 

aspects.   
 

3. Profile Development 

 

After review and analysis of all materials, documents, and interviews obtained prior to and 

during the onsite visit, we will develop a comprehensive profile of Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District and the Chief Executive Officer role.  Included in this profile will be an Ideal 

Candidate Profile and a summary of First-Year Areas of Emphasis. You will be asked to 

approve the profile prior to our sharing the document with any candidates.  

 

4. Sourcing and Networking 

 

Having established criteria for candidate selection, we will begin our comprehensive 

networking and candidate identification.  Members of our recruiting team work with our 

consultants in developing recruiting and sourcing action plans, producing targeted 

announcements for mailing and e-mailing, and screening candidates from our proprietary 

and other databases, accessing thousands of healthcare executives.  We place hundreds of 

personal calls as well, reaching out to our established and trusted contacts in healthcare.   

 

As mentioned in our conversation, we create a unique sourcing plan for each search we 

conduct based on the specific skills, abilities, knowledge, and experiences identified in the 

profile to assist us in the identification of leaders who most closely meet the organization’s 

needs.   

 

Gallagher MSA Search is committed to a focused effort toward diversity objectives, which 

includes an annual program within our firm to discuss and foster diversity initiatives 

regarding female and minority candidates, and participation in the Institute for Diversity, the 

National Association of Health Services Executives (NAHSE), and the Association of 

Hispanic Health Executives.  

 

We adhere to strict Equal Employment Opportunity guidelines and policies in our own firm, 

and respect the needs our clients have in the area of EEO reporting. 
  

Page 46 of 348

46



 

7 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

5. Meticulous Evaluation  

 

Following a thorough telephone screening interview, top candidates will then be assessed 

by Gallagher MSA Search consultants through a half day, in-person interview. Our time with 

candidates will also include a thorough presentation and discussion of Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District, The Board’s expectations, first-year goals, and other critical issues.  

 

Our extensive research, experience, and application of management assessment tools and 

contemporary interviewing techniques enable us to accurately and objectively assess the 

strengths and weaknesses of each candidate.  We work with Management Psychology 

Group and they provide the instruments and written narrative interpretations for the 

Leadership Assessment completed on every candidate presented to the Search Committee.  

Our structured assessment considers vital data such as healthcare operational knowledge 

and experience, strategic orientation, work values, political sensitivity, leadership 

characteristics, management style, interpersonal relationship skills, self-motivation, 

personality traits, professional development, education, compensation history, career growth 

potential and aspirations. 
 

Gallagher MSA Search clients tell us that we set the standard in the healthcare executive 

search industry for comprehensive due diligence, and background checking.  In addition, all 

final candidates' professional and educational credentials are verified, along with checks for 

driving and criminal record, military discharge, financial and bankruptcy reporting, credit 

checks, OIG, and a search of social media sites.  

 

6. Professional References 

 

Professional references are completed by the lead consultants, written transcripts of which 

are provided to you as part of the Candidate Presentation materials we provide to you. 

 

7. Candidate Presentation 

 

Our Candidate Presentation is schedules in advance.  We prepare written summaries of 

work history, accomplishments, education, personal and professional interests, relocation 

considerations, compensation history and expectations, executive assessment results, and 

references. 

 

  

Page 47 of 348

47



 

8 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

8. Travel and Interviews 

 

Gallagher MSA Search will work directly with you to develop interviewing agendas, and to 

coordinate all travel schedules for candidates.  During this critical interviewing stage of the 

search process, we will provide timely feedback to you and the candidates, and facilitate 

clarification of any questions or concerns.   

 

9. Salary and Benefit Analysis 

 

We will work closely with the board’s executive compensation consultant as they design a 

salary and benefit package. We certainly can offer a second opinion if desired, through our 

numerous executive compensation colleagues within the Gallagher Human Resources & 

Compensation Consulting practice. 

 

10. Search Committee Interview Preparation 

 

The selection of additional executives to your team is a critical decision and is not typically 

a process that boards conduct with any regularity.  With that in mind, we work closely with 

your board and search committee to prepare them for the interview process with a format, 

sample questions and a candidate evaluation tool(s) as requested. 

 

We will be onsite to facilitate the First Round of search committee interviews as well as all 

committee/board deliberations as you make your decisions.  We have the resources, 

specialized knowledge, and experience to handle complex assignments in a highly 

personalized and timely fashion.  

 

11. Final Offer and Negotiation 

 

Once the final decision has been made by the Board/Search Committee, we will represent 

your offer to the candidate with appropriate negotiations, should you desire.  This will lay the 

ground work for the offer letter and employment agreement.  

 
  

Page 48 of 348

48



 

9 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Sample Search Timeline 

 

Good planning is critical to the successful outcome of any search engagement, and this area is a 

differentiator for Gallagher MSA Search.  Included in this proposal is a sample search time line 

customized for this search.  In our initial meeting with you, we will present this timeline, thoroughly 

explain every process step, and seek endorsement for a search plan moving forward.   

We will facilitate deliberations as you review candidates and make decisions.  We have the 

resources, specialized knowledge, and experience to handle complex assignments in a highly 

personalized and timely fashion.  An example of this is the fact that we will personally come on-

site to meet with you as many times as is required.  We believe this is unequalled in our industry, 

yet essential to the level of partnering required for a critical executive search. 

 

Based upon a process that we have fine-tuned through our extensive experience working to 

place hospital executives, and the due diligence required to better ensure a successful 

outcome, we anticipate the search taking approximately five to six months from the time the 

search begins until the successful candidate is onsite in Bishop.  Should this time frame not be 

agreeable with you for any reason, we will work with you to craft a process that is more 

amenable. 
  

Page 49 of 348

49



 

10 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

  

DATE 

SAMPLE TIMELINE 

Chief Executive Officer Search 

ACTIONS 

ANTICIPATED SEARCH 
COMMITTEE TIME 

COMMITMENT 

2020 Gallagher MSA Search retained  

Pre-Search Materials request sent to Search Committee Chair  

Distribution of search announcement letter and pre-search questionnaire to 
key stakeholders to gain more insight into the role and expectations. 
(Optional) 

 

Week 1 Materials received by Gallagher MSA Search.   

Kickoff meeting with Search Committee; Consultants on-site for two days to 
complete onsite/information gathering meetings.   

90 minutes 

Week 3-4 Draft Position and Ideal Candidate profile submitted by Gallagher MSA 
Search; Meeting with Search Committee to review and approve profile 

90 minutes 

Weekly Updates from Gallagher MSA Search to Search Committee Chair or other 
communication as desired  

 

90 Days from 

Week 1 

Candidate Presentation to Search Committee by Consultants. 

Selection of candidates for first round interviews 

2 to 4 hours 

TBD 
(approx. one week 
post presentation) 

First-Round Candidate interviews with Search Committee 

Deliberation immediately following last interview 

2 hours per candidate; 1-2 
hour meeting for 
deliberation/decision 

TBD Second-Round Candidate interviews.  Search Committee member interview 
with each finalist candidate, as well as meetings with other key stakeholders, 
social event, community tour, etc.  Spousal Agenda with house hunting, 
school tour, etc. 

1 hour per candidate plus 
evening social event 

Immediately 
following second 
round interviews 

Search Committee deliberation and Final Candidate selection. Meeting to reach consensus 
on candidate of choice 

Following 
Decision 

Offer and Negotiation; Candidate Acceptance; Public announcement  Board Chair/Gallagher MSA 
Search 

Start Date 
(approx. 30-90 days 
post acceptance)  

CEO candidate of choice begins   

Page 50 of 348

50



 

11 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Internal Candidates 

 

Gallagher MSA Search excels in the critical, and often sensitive, area of handling internal 

candidates because we understand the impact and importance of their treatment.  We feel that 

it is important that each situation be handled individually, reflective of the wishes of our client 

and guided by our objective consult.  We consider this a sensitive area and always advise our 

clients to give it close attention. 

 

We will conduct a full interview and assessment of each internal candidate, and provide 

constructive feedback and developmental suggestions, as appropriate, and requested by our 

client.  In our experience, this approach serves to enhance the satisfaction of internal 

candidates and reflects process integrity and objectivity.  

 

Post-Hire Support 

 

After your new Chief Executive Officer is on board we will regularly follow up with you and the 

executive to determine levels of satisfaction, and to assist in any way we can to ensure a 

successful transition and assimilation into the organization. 

 

You can be assured that we begin qualifying candidate and family needs to make a professional 

and personal move early in the search process.  We will be discussing any potential issues 

early with you also, so that when you are getting to the point of making your selection, we are 

well ahead of the curve in working with you to construct an offer that the candidate will accept.  

 

Our number-one goal in any search is to ensure that the executive who ultimately joins our 

client organization is an exceptional fit.  Recognizing that the first few months on the job are 

critical, and have a significant bearing on ultimate success or failure, we work closely with your 

new leader.  We stay in regular contact with the placed candidate and his/her family as they 

work through relocation issues.  We will contact you and the selected candidate immediately 

after hire and periodically throughout the Guarantee time frame. 
  

Page 51 of 348

51



 

12 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Off-Limits List 

 

The “Off Limits” policy and practice of Gallagher MSA Search is such that we will not actively 

pursue or recruit any employee of our clients’ for a period of two years following the 

completion of a search.  
 

 

GUARANTEE 

 

In the unlikely event the candidate placed as a result of this engagement leaves voluntarily, or is 

terminated by the Client, within 36 months of the date of employment, the Firm will conduct 

another search for the position for no additional professional fee, charging only administrative 

and other expenses.  This guarantee does not apply if the departure or termination is in 

connection with a reorganization, acquisition, merger, change in role, resource allocations, 

reporting relationship, illness or death. 

 

 

INVESTMENT 

 

Our standard investment fee for each executive search is one third of the placed candidate’s 

first-year cash compensation. Payment for the Executive search, based upon the estimated 

retainer, is made in four monthly installments, with 40 percent of the retainer due when the 

Engagement Letter is executed, and 20 percent due each of the next three consecutive months.  

Upon completion of the search, the difference between the actual retainer, based upon the hired 

candidate’s compensation package and retainers paid to date, is due and payable.  Our 

professional fees are by the project. 

 

Client agrees to pay an administrative fee of 5% to cover project administration and expenses 

incurred by the Firm in the completion of this search.  We pay very careful attention to, and 

management of, the cost effectiveness of every search engagement. Additional out-of-pocket 

expenses would include travel expenses for candidates and search consultants.   

 

We understand the necessity of monitoring the variable expenses associated with conducting 

an executive search of this magnitude, and we pay very careful attention to, and closely 

manage the costs associated with every step of the search process.  We select the most time-

efficient and cost-effective location for candidate interviews, and will seek to find a central 

setting based upon candidates’ locations and availability.  We employ an on-site travel 

manager, who assists in identifying economical travel and lodging options, and works closely 

Page 52 of 348

52



 

13 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

with our consultants and candidates to confirm travel as far in advance as possible to take 

advantage of travel discounts and premiums. 

 

 

REFERENCES 

 

We have provided the following references for engagements that encompass executive search 

services similar to those requested by Northern Inyo Healthcare District.  We are happy to 

provide more references upon request. 

 

Organization Search Client Contact(s) 

Dosher Memorial Hospital 
Southport, NC 28461 

Search: CEO 

Placed Candidate: Mr. Tom Siemers 
started in 2012 

Sherri Marshall 
Chairman of the Board 
P: 910-279-1933 

sherrimarshall2016@gmail.com 

Beatrice Hospital and Health Center 
Beatrice, NE 

Search: CEO 

Placed Candidate: Rich Haraldson 
started in January 2018 

Mitch Deines 
Chairman of the Board 
P: 402-239-2446 

Mitch@deinespharmacy.com 

Memorial Hospital of Converse 
County 
Douglas, WY 82633 

Search: CEO 

Candidate: Ryan Smith started in 
December 2011 

Bob Kayser 
Board Chair 
wyokayser@yahoo.com 

Olathe Health System, Inc. 
Olathe, KS 

Search: CEO 

Candidate started November 1, 
2018 

Jim Hubbard 
Chairman of the Board 
P:913-544-3430 

jimhubbardlaw@gmail.com 

CONFIDENTIAL 

 

 

Page 53 of 348

53

mailto:sherrimarshall2016@gmail.com
mailto:Mitch@deinespharmacy.com
mailto:wyokayser@yahoo.com
mailto:jimhubbardlaw@gmail.com


 

A-1 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Attachment: SAMPLE Engagement Letter 

 

 

 

 
  

Page 54 of 348

54



 

A-2 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

SAMPLE  
EXECUTIVE SEARCH ENGAGEMENT AGREEMENT 

 
You have requested that Gallagher MSA Search provide executive search consultation 
services.  This Agreement confirms the standard terms upon which these services are provided, 
and the following details become part of the Agreement.  
 
1. Retention of Firm.  Northern Inyo Healthcare District (“Client”) has retained Gallagher 

MSA Search (“Firm”) to recruit on an exclusive basis for the position of the Chief 
Executive Officer (the “Position”).  The services that Client can expect from Firm for the 
right to an exclusive search and the payment of fees as outlined below include the 
sourcing, screening, referencing, and submission of acceptable candidates.  Also included 
is Firm’s work to successfully complete the search with the placement of an acceptable 
candidate for the position with Client. 

 
2. Exclusive Assignment.  Client agrees to appoint the Firm as the exclusive recruiter for 

the position, and agrees to submit available information on all candidates to be considered 
for the Position to the Firm for screening and evaluation in accordance with the exclusive 
nature of this agreement.  

 
3. Professional Fee.  Client agrees to pay Firm the fee of one third of the first-year 

anticipated total cash compensation (base salary plus estimated short and long-term 
incentive bonuses, sign-on bonuses, and retention bonuses), with a minimum fee of 
$60,000.  Firm and client will jointly set a realistic first year’s estimated total cash 
compensation.   

 
4. Fee Payment.  Client agrees to pay Firm the estimated retainer in four installments, with 

40% due the month the Executive Search Engagement Agreement is executed, and 20% 
due each of the next three consecutive months.  At the conclusion of the search, the fee is 
reconciled to reflect the actual compensation arrangements of the successful candidate.  
Payment is expected within thirty-one days of receipt of invoices.   

 
5. Additional Placements.  In the event that Client hires any candidate presented by Firm for 

another position within the organization within twelve months of the completion of the 
search, Client agrees to pay a fee of 25% based upon salary and estimated bonus for each 
employee hired.  

 
6. Expenses.  In addition to the fees outlined above, there is a service fee of 5% of direct 

consulting charges to cover project administration and expenses. This fee will be invoiced 
at the same time as Professional Fee invoicing, described above.  Client agrees to 
reimburse the Firm for out-of-pocket expenses, including consultant and candidate travel, 
background checks, executive assessment instruments and reports, mailing and 
advertising agreed upon with Client.  Payment is expected within thirty-one days of receipt 
of invoices.  

  

Page 55 of 348

55



 

A-3 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

7. Term of Agreement.  This Agreement remains in effect for a period of twelve (12) months 
from the date it is executed.  While Firm cannot guarantee that the assignment will be 
completed within the projected time frame, the Firm will guarantee that for up to one year 
from the date the Agreement is executed, its resources and efforts will be dedicated to 
completing the assignment.  This guarantee may be negated if the Client fails to schedule 
timely interviews with candidates presented by the Firm or if there is a substantial change in 
the Position requirements or specifications. 

 
8. Material Changes to Position.  If, during the course of the search, the Client makes such 

changes in the requirements of the Position to negate significant portions of the research 
and other, already completed work, the fee will be renegotiated based on the magnitude of 
the Client’s change in specifications.  

 
9. On Hold.  If the Client places the search on hold for any reason, these agreement terms will 

be honored by the Firm for a period of thirty days.  After thirty days, additional fees will be 
incurred by the Client due to the fact that some or all of the research may be negated, and 
the Firm typically must adapt or develop a new candidate slate.  

 
10. Cancellation.  If at any time during the search period, no placement has been made; either 

party may cancel the search for just cause.  Due upon cancellation will be any unpaid 
expenses, plus the monthly billing amount of the professional and administrative fees for the 
month the search is cancelled if a balance is outstanding.  

 
11. Guarantee.  In the unlikely event the candidate placed as a result of this engagement 

leaves voluntarily, or is terminated by the Client, within 36 months of the date of 
employment, the Firm will conduct another search for the position for no additional 
professional fee, charging only administrative and other expenses, as detailed above.  This 
guarantee does not apply if the departure or termination is in connection with a 
reorganization, acquisition, merger, change in role, resource allocations, reporting 
relationship, illness or death. 

 
12. Independent Contractor Relationship. Firm’s relationship with Client will be that of an 

independent contractor and nothing in this Agreement should be construed to create a 
partnership, joint venture, agent-principal or employer-employee relationship.   

 
13. No Legal Advice Intended. Firm’s services do not constitute legal services.  Our 

consultants are not licensed attorneys; therefore, we do not provide legal advice.  Firm 
recommends that you have your own independent legal counsel review all documentation 
provided by Firm. 

 
  

Page 56 of 348

56



 

A-4 | Northern Inyo Healthcare District | April 22, 2020 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

14. Limitation of Liability.  Firm's liability to the Client and any other party for any losses, injury 
or damages to persons or properties or work performed arising out of in connection with this 
Agreement and for any other claim, whether the claim arises in contract, tort, statute or 
otherwise, shall be limited to the amount of the total fees due to Firm from Client for the 
particular project assignment giving rise to the claim. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this agreement, firm shall not be liable for any 
special, indirect, consequential, lost profits or punitive damages sustained or incurred in 
connection with this agreement, and whether or not such damages are foreseeable. 
 
Client's exclusive remedy for any claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement will be for 
Firm, at its sole option and upon receipt of written notice, either (i) to use commercially 
reasonable efforts to cure , at its expense, the matter that gave rise to the claim for which 
Firm is at fault, or (ii) return to the Client the fees paid by the Client to Firm for the particular 
service provided that gives rise to the claim, subject to the limitation contained in this 
section.  Client agrees that it will not allege that this remedy fails its essential purpose. 

 
15. Indemnification. Client shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless Firm, its parents, 

subsidiaries and affiliates, and its and  their respective directors, officers, members, 
shareholders, partners, employees, agents, successors and assigns (Indemnified Parties) 
from any claims, demands, lawsuits, damages, liabilities, costs and expenses (including 
reasonable fees and disbursements of counsel) and judgments and settlements of every 
kind (Claims) resulting in whole or in part from the acts or omissions of Client. Upon 
receiving written notice from Firm, Client will then defend Firm against such claim and Firm 
at its option shall have the right to select counsel and control the defense and all related 
settlement negotiations, and then Client shall indemnify Firm from and against any damages 
finally awarded or agreed to be paid for such claim. 

 
 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT  GALLAGHER MSA SEARCH 
 
 
 
By:   By:  
Authorized Signee  Kathy Hall 

 Managing Director & Senior Advisor 
 
Date:   Date: April 27, 2020  
 
 
 
 

Page 57 of 348

57



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Kathy Hall is a Managing Director & Senior Advisor with 
Gallagher MSA Search, a part of the Gallagher Human 
Resources & Compensation Consulting practice. Ms. Hall offers 
her clients over 25 years of healthcare executive search and 
consulting experience. 

As a managing director, Ms. Hall leads multiple client 
engagements, designing customized plans that address the 
unique needs of each client and the circumstances of each 
assignment, resulting in a leadership solution that is responsive, 
professional and personal. Her clients have included large 
integrated systems; medical group practices; for-profit and not-
for-profit organizations; faith-based health systems and 
hospitals, academic medical centers, mHealth, and venture 
backed healthcare startups. 

Ms. Hall spent 20 years working with Integrated Healthcare 
Strategies/MSA Executive Search specializing in executive 
search, succession planning, and CEO leadership transition 
planning as a Senior Vice President. Prior to rejoining Gallagher 
MSA Search, she served as a Managing Partner with Quick 
Leonard Kieffer. She has also held several nursing leadership 
roles for integrated delivery systems in the Midwest. She holds a 
MBA and a BSN from the University of Missouri. 

PROFESSIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 Developed national consultative practices in executive 
search, talent assessment, competency development, 
succession planning and CEO leadership transition planning 

 Strong track record of assisting many healthcare boards and 
search committees as they replace a long term CEO, 
leading them through a process of integrity and consistency  

 Specializes in C-Suite (CEO, COO, CFO, CMO, CIO, 
CHRO) engagements, including physician executives  

 Collaborated with several large regional delivery systems to 
design and implement a succession planning process, 
including leadership competency development, identification 
of high performers, individual leadership development 
planning, and the annual review process 

 

 

 

Kathy Hall 

Managing Director & Senior 

Advisor 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

888-513-0158 

Kathy_Hall@ajg.com 

ajg.com | GallagherHRCC.com 

Page 58 of 348

58



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Susan O’Hare is the National Managing Director for Gallagher 
MSA Search, a part of the Gallagher Human Resources & 
Compensation Consulting practice. Susan brings more than 30 
years of leadership experience in the healthcare industry. Her 
robust insights and knowledge of the inner workings of 
healthcare organizations has made her a recognized expert in 
the industry. For 11 years, Susan has focused on national 
networking and building trusted client relationships through 
service delivery and insightful consulting.  

Susan focuses her search and leadership consulting at the 
board and executive level on matters related to leadership 
search and providing strategic direction on issues relating to 
organizational structure at the executive level. Susan is known 
as a trusted advisor with a vested interest in cultivating 
relationships through her accessibility, timeliness, and client-
centric approach. 

Prior to joining the consulting profession, Susan held healthcare 
executive leadership positions for more than a decade, including 
the role of Senior Vice President of Specialty Hospitals at 
Erlanger Health System, where she held responsibility for 
strategic direction, program development, and operations for 
revenues of more than $350 million and 1,200 FTEs. For 8 
years during that time, she served as CEO of Erlanger 
Children’s Hospital.  

Before joining the team at Erlanger Health System, Susan had a 
progressive nursing leadership career in several hospitals and 
physician offices with clinical expertise in pediatric 
hematology/oncology.  

Ms. O’Hare holds a BS in Secondary Education/Mathematics 
from Tennessee Technological University and a MSN in Nursing 
in Child Health from the University of Texas at Arlington. She is 
a Registered Nurse in Tennessee and a Certified Pediatric 
Nurse Practitioner. She is a member of the Chattanooga 
Downtown Rotary Club, AONE, The American College of 
Healthcare Executives, Women Business Leaders of the US 
Healthcare Industry Foundation, and Sigma Theta Tau. 

 

 

Susan O’Hare, RN, 
MSN, CPNP 

Managing Director & Practice 

Leader 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

888-513-0158 

Susan_OHare@ajg.com 

ajg.com 

Page 59 of 348

59



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Brad Veal is a Senior Consultant with Gallagher MSA Search, a part of 
the Gallagher Human Resources & Compensation Consulting practice.   

Brad’s role at Gallagher MSA Search includes working with clients to 
execute the full scope of the search firm’s recruitment cycle, where he 
serves either as the lead consultant on the engagement or part of a 
collaborative team providing consultative support and solutions.  Brad 
plays an important role in MSA’s SearchDIRECT service, a streamlined 
search process for critical Director-level positions within healthcare 
organizations.     

Brad holds a wealth of industry-specific experience brought from nearly 
15 years in the healthcare executive search industry.  He was 
instrumental in the development and rapid expansion of a top-five 
healthcare leadership solutions firm.  With his prior organization, Brad 
served as Executive Vice President of Executive Search, and was a 
member of the company’s executive leadership team in which he was 
actively involved in operational assessments, growth initiatives, market 
analysis, and strategic planning efforts. 

Brad has an excellent understanding of both client and candidate needs 
and motivations, gained through his diversified executive search 
engagement portfolio.  He has worked on hundreds of healthcare 
searches from directors and vice-presidents, through the executive 
suite.  He has partnered with clients across the full spectrum of 
healthcare organizations from critical-access to tertiary care 
environments. 

Brad holds a Masters in Business Administration from MidAmerica 
Nazarene University and a Bachelor of Science degree from the 
University of Nebraska-Lincoln in Business Administration. 

PROFESSIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 Adept at creating comprehensive, creative, and successful 
candidate sourcing and networking strategies for traditionally 
challenging search projects 

 Able to interface and build strong relationships with the full 
spectrum of hospital leadership from the C-suite through front-line 
employees 

 Extensive history of cultivating a candidate network combined with 
effective client-facing consulting skills 

 Committed to promoting timely and successful search outcomes 
supported by high levels of client and candidate satisfaction 

 

 

 

Brad Veal 

Senior Consultant 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

888-513-0158 

Brad_Veal@ajg.com 

ajg.com | GallagherHRCC.com 

Page 60 of 348

60



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Carolyn Galvin is a Managing Director of Gallagher MSA 
Search, part of the Gallagher Human Resources & 
Compensation Consulting practice. Carolyn has nearly two 
decades of leading retained executive searches for healthcare 
and public, not for profit organizations nationwide. 

In addition to executive search experience that includes the 
entire C-suite, vice president and director-level positions, 
Carolyn has led boards in strategic planning, merger 
discussions, joint venture negotiations, patient/physician 
satisfaction improvement and service line strategy development. 

Carolyn offers a unique ability to understand market and cultural 
dynamics and align them with the precise needs of clients to 
secure the ideal leadership fit. Clients value her partnership 
approach, broad healthcare expertise and commitment to an 
exceptional level of customer service. 

Carolyn holds a master of business administration degree from 
the University of Missouri-Kansas City and a Bachelor of 
Science degree in journalism from the University of Kansas in 
Lawrence, Kansas. 

PROFESSIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 Most recently, Carolyn has led a variety of leadership 
searches including CEO, CMO, CHRO, VP, Strategy, 
Business Development, Marketing, Physician practice 
management, and clinical leadership positions.  

 Based in Kansas City, Carolyn has served organizations in 
a wide geography and across different healthcare segments 
as well as public, not for profit organizations.  

 History of partnering with community boards and CEOs in 
not for profit settings to select new leaders. 

 Achieved success in developing and implementing 
contemporary, technology driven recruiting strategies to 
identify and attract top tier talent. 

 Early career experience provides a strong background in 
local, regional and national healthcare strategy and 
business planning from tenure as a senior consultant with 
KPMG, Saint Luke’s Health System and the Cystic Fibrosis 
Foundation. 

 

 

Carolyn Galvin 

Managing Director 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

816-795-1947 

Carolyn_Galvin@ajg.com 

ajg.com | GallagherHRCC.com 

 

Page 61 of 348

61



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Rachel Bender Meyer is a Director for Gallagher MSA Search, a 
part of Gallagher’s Human Resources & Compensation 
Consulting practice. She brings a wide breadth of search 
experience working on executive and mid-level roles for a 
variety of industries to include healthcare, retail, human 
resources, public sector, non-profit, associations, finance, 
banking, pharmaceutical, advertising, marketing and interactive.   

Prior to joining Gallagher MSA Search, Rachel was the Regional 
Director of Philanthropy for a nonprofit organization and held 
several leadership roles within the executive search industry. 

Working with Boards and Search Committees, Rachel consults 
in the areas of talent acquisition and strategic recruitment. She 
integrates accountability into a search process while providing 
clarity and vision to the candidates and role. She supplements 
all strengths with a firm commitment to communication and 
customer satisfaction. 

Rachel received her Bachelor of Science from Virginia 
Commonwealth University and serves on the Board and as the 
Chair of the Human Resources Committee for Better Housing 
Coalition and is on the Board of Mary Munford Elementary PTA. 
She is a mother of two children, ages 26 and 6, and is an avid 
gardener. 

 

 

Rachel Meyer 

Director 

Executive Search 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

804-249-6032 

Rachel_Meyer@ajg.com 

ajg.com | GallagherHRCC.com 

 

Page 62 of 348

62



 

©2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved. 

Patricia Neds, CIR is a Senior Recruiter with Gallagher MSA 

Search, a part of the Gallagher Human Resources & 

Compensation Consulting practice. Patricia’s focus with 

Gallagher MSA Search is coordinating research activities and 

partnering with senior consulting staff at Gallagher Human 

Resources & Compensation Consulting practice, a division of 

Gallagher Benefit Services, Inc., in designing and executing 

targeted searches for leadership positions in healthcare client 

organizations nationwide.  

Patricia supports the executive search process through the 

identification, development, and maintenance of a current 

network of healthcare executives and organizations.  

Patricia joined Gallagher in 1986 and became a part of the 

Gallagher MSA Search firm in 1995. 

Patricia attended Rockhurst College in Kansas City and 

received a Bachelor of Science in Human Resources 

Management from Friends University, Kansas City Campus. 

She holds a Professional Recruiter Certificate, and is also 

credentialed as a Certified Diversity Recruiter. In addition, 

Patricia is a Certified Internet Recruiter (CIR) through AIRS, an 

industry leader in recruitment training. 

PROFESSIONAL HIGHLIGHTS 
 Serves as Senior Recruiter on searches for a wide range of 

healthcare organizations across the nation, including large 
integrated systems, community hospitals, medical group 
practices, faith based health systems, and academic 
medical centers 

 Supports the executive search process through the 
identification, development and maintenance of a current 
network of healthcare executives and organizations 

 Maintains a strong network of key professionals in 
healthcare systems, hospitals, medical groups and 
professional associations 

 

 

Patricia Neds, CIR 

Senior Recruiter 

 

801 West 47th Street 

Suite 300 

Kansas City, MO 64112 

888-513-0158 

Pat_Neds@ajg.com 

ajg.com | GallagherHRCC.com 

 

Page 63 of 348

63



 

2020 Arthur J. Gallagher & Co. All rights reserved 

 

 

 

Page 64 of 348

64



 
 

 

 

 

 
 

 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

 Chief Executive Officer 
 Proposal 
 

Steven Yamada, Chris Neumann, Mark Andrew 

 May 2020 

Page 65 of 348

65



 

 

Via Email: Jean.Turner@nih.org 

 

May 4, 2020 

 

Jean Turner 

Chair 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

150 Pioneer Ln. 

Bishop, CA 93514 

 

Dear Jean: 

 

Thank you for giving WittKieffer the opportunity to submit a proposal to assist Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District on your potential recruitment for a Chief Executive Officer.  

 

WittKieffer is the nation’s preeminent executive search firm that dedicates its practice to 

identifying leadership talent in healthcare and other organizations that are committed to 

improving the quality of life. Our clients include community hospitals, integrated delivery 

systems, academic medical centers, physician groups, continuum of care facilities, health 

plans, life sciences organizations, colleges/universities and related associations, community-

based organizations, and foundations. 

 

Based on our recent conversation and a review of your needs, we have assembled a team of 

our most aligned experts to partner with you and the Board of Directors throughout the 

engagement to bring the search to a successful and timely conclusion. I believe we are well 

positioned to assist the Board of Directors in this search. Team members have completed 

Chief Executive Officer and other C-Suite searches for a wide range of not-for-profit 

healthcare organizations, many whose missions are similar to and align with the Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District. We have worked with boards of directors and decision makers on 

executive searches for rural critical access hospitals, hospital/healthcare districts, and 

integrated public health systems. 

 

In addition to myself, the team includes Mark Andrew and Chris Neumann, both located in 

the firm's Irvine office. Mark Andrew is a Senior Partner with over 20 years of executive 

search experience serving organizations spanning the complete continuum of care such as 

hospitals, healthcare systems, academic medical centers, medical groups, and managed 

care companies. He understands the nuances of working with California hospital/healthcare 

districts having completed CEO searches for Mammoth Hospital in 2018 and previously 

Pioneers Memorial Hospital in Brawley. Chris Neumann is a Senior Associate in the Irvine 

office who has ten years of executive search experience with a wide range of healthcare 

clients. Recently, he led the CEO searches for Kingman Regional Medical Center in rural 

Arizona as well as Barton Memorial Hospital in South Lake Tahoe. Currently, Chris and Mark, 

are teaming on the Lead Executive search for Cottage Health's Santa Ynez Valley Cottage 

Hospital, a 11-bed critical access hospital. As we discussed, I am based in WittKieffer's Bay 

Area office. Several of my clients are community and mission-based and many focus on 

safety net services for the underserved and under resourced. In the past couple of years, I  

 

Page 66 of 348

66

mailto:Jean.Turner@nih.org


 

ii 

led CEO searches for Los Angeles County+USC Medical Center; Share Our Selves, an 

Orange County-based federally qualified health center (FQHC) in collaboration with Mark 

Andrew; and Columbia Basin Health Association, a rural FQHC in a small agricultural 

community in Eastern Washington.  

 

We understand the issues that our clients face and work collaboratively with boards of 

directors, search committees and management teams to meet the needs of every 

organization we partner with. We regularly work with boards and search committees in 

assessing where the client organization is presently, its future direction and who will be the 

best leader to achieve their vision. Our ultimate goal is to ensure that we recruit a CEO with 

the skills, knowledge, experience, and competencies for the role, but also to make sure the 

individual is an excellent fit with the culture of the organization and the community it 

serves.  

 

Following is a detailed proposal, which outlines our organizational attributes, capabilities, 

experience, terms and conditions, and other relevant information. Please feel welcome to 

contact me directly for further discussion or if you require additional materials.  

 

Jean, if it is decided that a search is needed, the WittKieffer team is very interested in 

working with and supporting the Board of Directors on this critical engagement. Again, 

thank you for considering WittKieffer. It would be an honor to serve Northern Inyo 

Healthcare District. 

 

Sincerely,  

 

Steven Yamada 

Consultant 

WittKieffer 

Work: (510) 420-1370 

Mobile: (415) 518-0222 

syamada@wittkieffer.com 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 67 of 348

67



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

Contents 
 

 

01 WittKieffer Profile 

02 Experience 

05 Search Team 

08 Process and Deliverables 

12 Advancing Leadership Diversity 

13 Pricing and Terms 

16 The WittKieffer Difference 

17 Contact Information 

 

Page 68 of 348

68



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

1 

WittKieffer Profile  
 

Throughout our 50-year history, WittKieffer has cultivated a proven and meaningful approach to 

executive search, specifically designed for mission-driven organizations and predominantly in 

support of healthcare organizations in pursuit of senior leadership. As experts in strategic 

leadership, WittKieffer performs over 500 searches per year in support of organizations representing 

the complete continuum of care as well as related associations and professional/medical societies.  

 

Our success at this level gives us insights into the rapidly changing healthcare landscape and how 

executive leadership can alter the trajectory of the entire organization. Our footprint across the 

nation has yielded pertinent knowledge of marketplace dynamics and common trends and 

challenges that similar systems and hospitals encounter. We are sensitive to the range of objectives 

and strategic priorities that board members and senior leaders put forth as mechanisms to navigate 

their organizations through this new era of healthcare.  

 

Resources, Assets, and Intellectual Capital 
 

WittKieffer has carefully assembled a team of strategic experts across multiple healthcare specialty 

practices, enabling a dynamic approach to staffing each search engagement according to client-

specific needs. With locations in major metropolitan areas across the United States, our team of 

more than 90 consultants and 20 research experts provides deep insights into regional, national, 

and global markets. Our best-in-class database includes more than one million executives and 

emerging leaders, and its intuitive framework enables our team to pinpoint leaders based on specific 

criteria set forth by client constituents, adding unparalleled efficiency to every search.  

 

Performance 
 

Client Satisfaction: On a scale of 1 to 10 (disagree completely to agree completely) clients scoring 

our work gave us a 9.4 satisfaction rating over the last three years. 

Candidate Satisfaction: As trusted client ambassadors, WittKieffer has achieved a 9.7 satisfaction 

rating among our placements and a 9.4 satisfaction rating among all candidates involved. 

Reliability: On average, clients gave WittKieffer a 9.5 rating on whether or not they would use the 

firm again – which correlates to our high percentage of repeat business. 

Quality: Our placements have a nine-year average tenure – a testament to our comprehensive and 

calculated approach. 

Diversity: In total, 47 percent of our placements are minority leaders and/or women and 95 

percent of our candidate slates include minorities/women. 

Accolades: WittKieffer is a recipient of the Vizient Overall Membership Satisfaction Award and the 

Premier, Inc. Legacy Supplier Award. 

Page 69 of 348

69



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

2 

 

Experience  
 

WittKieffer has conducted approximately 200 CEO searches for hospitals and health systems over 

the past six years, a time period that represents unprecedented transformation among health 

providers and the American healthcare landscape as a whole. 

 

We have served the complete spectrum of healthcare organizations, from the largest integrated 

delivery systems to rural critical access hospitals. As demonstrated in the following list, we maintain 

a strong commitment to serving community hospitals across the country. We have conducted over 

50 searches for CEOs at hospitals with 100 beds or less in the past five years. 

 
Executive Search Assignments for Hospitals Under 100 Beds 

 

(Bolded organizations represent Critical Access Hospitals) 

 

Organization  Location Position Title 

Alice Hyde Medical Center Malone, NY Chief Executive Officer 

Asante Ashland Community Hospital Ashland, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Asante Rogue Regional Medical Center Medford, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Aspen Valley Hospital Aspen, CO Chief Executive Officer 

Aspirus Riverview Hospital & Clinics Wisconsin Rapids, WI Chief Executive Officer 

Baptist Easley Hospital Easley, SC Chief Executive Officer 

Barton Memorial Hospital South Lake Tahoe, CA Chief Executive Officer 

Bay Area Hospital Coos Bay, OR President/Chief Executive Officer 

Bozeman Health Bozeman, MT President/Chief Executive Officer 

Cambridge Medical Center Cambridge, MN President 

Catalina Island Medical Center Avalon, CA Chief Executive Officer 

Central Vermont Medical Center Barre, VT President 

CHI St. Luke's Health–Patients Medical 

Center 

Pasadena, TX President 

Cooley Dickinson Health Care Northampton, MA President 

Copper Queen Community Hospital Bisbee, AZ Chief Executive Officer 

Cuyuna Regional Medical Center Crosby, MN Chief Executive Officer 

Decatur County Memorial Hospital Greensburg, IN Chief Executive Officer 

Granite Falls Municipal Hospital Granite Falls, MN Chief Executive Officer 

Page 70 of 348

70



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

3 

Organization  Location Position Title 

Great Plains Regional Medical Center Elk City, OK Chief Executive Officer 

Gundersen Moundview Hospital and 

Clinics 

Friendship, WI Chief Executive Officer 

Hancock Regional Hospital Greenfield, IN President/Chief Executive Officer 

Holy Rosary Healthcare Miles City, MT Chief Executive Officer 

HSHS Holy Family Hospital Greenville, IL President/Chief Executive Officer 

HSHS St. Francis Hospital Litchfield, IL President/Chief Executive Officer 

HSHS St. Joseph’s Hospital Highland, IL President/Chief Executive Officer 

HSHS St. Joseph’s Hospital Breese Breese, IL President/Chief Executive Officer  

HSHS St. Nicholas Hospital Sheboygan, WI President/Chief Executive Officer 

Huron Medical Center Bad Axe, MI President/Chief Executive Officer 

Jackson County Memorial Hospital Altus, OK President/Chief Executive Officer 

Legacy Health Portland, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Lewis County General Hospital Lowville, NY Chief Executive Officer 

Mammoth Hospital Mammoth, CA Chief Executive Officer 

Mary Bridge Children's Hospital Tacoma, WA President 

Memorial Hospital and Manor Bainbridge, GA Chief Executive Officer 

Munson Healthcare Manistee 

Hospital 

Manistee, MI President 

North Country Healthcare Littleton, NH Chief Executive Officer 

North Country Hospital Newport, VT Chief Executive Officer 

North Valley Hospital Whitefish, MT Chief Executive Officer 

PeaceHealth Ketchikan Medical 

Center 

Ketchikan, AK Chief Administrative Officer 

Pen Bay Healthcare Rockport, ME Chief Executive Officer 

Penn Highlands Elk St Mary’s, PA President 

Porter Medical Center Middlebury, VT President/Chief Executive Officer 

Randall Children's Hospital Portland, OR Chief Administrative Officer 

Redwood Area Hospital Redwood Falls, MN Chief Executive Officer 

Saint Alphonsus Medical Center – 

Baker City 

Baker City, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Page 71 of 348

71



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

4 

Organization  Location Position Title 

Saint Alphonsus Medical Center – Ontario Ontario, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Santa Ynez Valley Cottage Hospital Solvang, CA Lead Executive (current search) 

Sarah Bush Lincoln Health System Mattoon, IL Chief Executive Officer 

St Joseph’s Hospital West Bend, WI President 

St. Charles – Madras Madras, OR Chief Executive Officer 

St. Charles Health System Bend, OR Chief Executive Officer 

St. John’s Medical Center Jackson, WY Chief Executive Officer 

St. Mary’s Hospital Streator, IL Chief Executive Officer 

St. Mary’s Hospital Cottonwood, ID President, Essentia Health St. 

Mary’s Hospital & Clinics 

Syringa Hospital & Clinics Grangeville, ID Chief Executive Officer 

UMass Memorial Marlborough Hospital Marlborough, MA President/Chief Executive Officer 

UPMC Pinnacle Hanover Hanover, PA Chief Executive Officer 

Vail Health Vail, CO President/Chief Executive Officer 

Waverly Health Center Waverly, IA Chief Executive Officer 

Wellspan Gettysburg Hospital Gettysburg, PA President  

WellStar Paulding Hospital Hiram, GA President  

Willamette Valley Medical Center McMinnville, OR Chief Executive Officer 

Wise Health System Decatur, TX Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 72 of 348

72



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

5 

 

Search Team 
 

WittKieffer’s reputation for excellence is built on teamwork. Each search assignment poses a distinct 

set of needs best served by tapping the collective expertise of more than 90 healthcare search 

consultants and research staff across the country. We have selected a team of experts with 

specialized knowledge to collaborate with Northern Inyo Healthcare District on this search.  

 

Well-respected for his consultative approach to and long legacy in healthcare 

executive recruitment, Steve Yamada is known for helping clients meet their 

leadership goals by cultivating innovative and diverse candidate pools that 

prioritize organizational and cultural fit. Clients who seek an objective 

evaluation of executive talent and high-quality service value the depth of 

Steve’s search experience and consulting skills. He routinely serves and has a 

keen grasp of all players constituting the healthcare ecosystem, including but 

not limited to, hospitals and health systems, health plans, medical 

groups/medical foundations, academia and various not-for-profits and 

community-based organizations. 

 

From the board room to the C-suite and beyond, Steve’s placements tout 

organizational and community impact during their long tenures of servant 

leadership. 

 

Prior to joining WittKieffer, Steve founded his own executive search firm, Yamada & Associates, 

where he assisted healthcare and not-for-profit clients in recruiting senior management. Previously, 

he was with a large international firm for 14 years in their San Francisco office. As a principal, Steve 

performed senior-level searches in all functional disciplines in the professional services, utility, high 

technology, industrial, as well as healthcare, education, trade association and government sectors. 

Steve also served as a member of the Technology Officers (CIO/CTO) Center of Expertise. 

 

Preceding his career in executive recruiting, Steve was a healthcare management consultant at 

Coopers & Lybrand in Los Angeles. He started his career in the Mental Health Administration of the 

Alameda County Health Care Services Agency.  

 

Education 

M.B.A., University of California, Los Angeles, CA 

Masters in City and Regional Planning, University of California, Berkeley, CA 

B.A., Sociology, cum laude, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH 

 

Page 73 of 348

73



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

6 

Christopher Neumann benefits from more than a decade’s worth of experience 

in executive recruiting, client service and sales to aid in the identification of 

leaders for hospitals, health systems, academic medical centers and managed 

care organizations nationwide. He is especially skilled at translating client 

needs, strategies and objectives to the field of desirable candidates and 

advising clients on hiring needs and market intelligence. 

 

Prior to joining WittKieffer, Chris supported business development and client 

management efforts as a Solution Specialist for InterKnowlogy in Carlsbad, 

California. There he worked with clients in the healthcare, retail, hospitality, 

financial services and professional services industries to develop high end 

software solutions. Chris began his executive search career as a Research 

Associate with Slayton Search Partners, after which he was a Senior 

Consultant with Hebard Search Partners, both of which are based in Chicago. 

 

 

Education 

M.B.A., University of San Diego 

B.A., Southern Methodist University, Dallas, TX 

 

 

Serving organizations spanning the complete continuum of care, Mark Andrew 

has influenced the leadership dynamic in healthcare organizations across the 

western United States. His understanding of the interconnectivity between 

providers, payers, government and public health in each service area enables 

strong and trusting partnerships with his clients as they pursue transformative 

leaders. Trustees and senior executives throughout the region value his 

industry knowledge, personable style and candid, thoughtful counsel 

throughout the search process. 

 

As a senior partner, Mark has a wealth of experience recruiting senior leaders 

for hospitals, healthcare systems, academic medical centers, physician 

practices and managed care companies. Since joining the firm in 1998, he has 

helped clients attract top talent for key positions including CEOs, COOs, CFOs, 

CMOs, CNOs, Chief Strategy Officers, human resources leadership and 

fundraising professionals. Mark draws from his extensive experience to assist clients with executive 

compensation, organization structure, succession planning, recruitment and retention. 

 

Previously, Mark was founding partner and chief executive officer of a medical search firm in 

California, where he recruited physicians and executives in several medical disciplines. Mark is an 

active member of the American College of Healthcare Executives. 

 

Education 

B.S., United States Military Academy, West Point, NY 

Research and Administrative Support 
 

WittKieffer has one of the largest research staffs in the executive search industry and, arguably, the 

largest devoted solely to gathering intelligence on executives for roles in the healthcare arena. The 

Page 74 of 348

74



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

7 

firm has 20 analysts, librarians, and knowledge managers who generate original research for every 

search.  

 

In addition, we assign a dedicated executive search coordinator to each engagement, who ensures 

optimal project management support. Responsibilities include tracking our internal search 

processes, coordinating client and candidate interviews, scheduling client meetings, and 

communicating directly with the committee's designated search liaison, among other important 

duties.  

 

Together, our search teams work in concert to ensure optimal client and candidate experiences. 

 

 

Page 75 of 348

75



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

8 

 

Process and Deliverables 
 

Following is a description of WittKieffer's full-service approach to executive search and transition. 

 

Phase 1: Discovery and Planning Phase  
 

We start by listening to you. We commence the search by conducting meetings onsite with board of 

director members, search committee members, senior leaders, direct reports, and other key 

stakeholders. These meetings will assist us in gaining direct feedback about the environment in 

which the next leader will operate; an understanding of organizational priorities, challenges, and 

aspirations in the context of the recruitment; and an appreciation of the factors that can support the 

placement. We acknowledge any sensitive issues that might affect the recruitment strategy. Our 

findings will also assist the search committee in better understanding and benchmarking the 

qualifications and experiences deemed essential for the role, and serve as the foundation for the 

search strategy as well as the transition for the successful candidate. We will prepare a 

comprehensive leadership profile, which articulates the collective vision, functional responsibilities, 

key competencies, major challenges, principal accountabilities, qualifications, and goals for the 

position's first 12-18 months. 

Key Activities and Deliverables 

▪ Conduct organizational needs analysis and offer general consultation  
▪ Develop project communication plan and search timeline 
▪ Identify critical leadership competencies according to strategic priorities  
▪ Develop full leadership profile; search committee maintains editorial authority 
▪ Establish secure web portal as a repository for search and candidate materials 
▪ Propose recruitment strategy based on client-specific objectives 

 

Phase 2: Candidate Sourcing and Evaluation  
 

Our firm’s vast resources and extensive individual networks provide us with direct access to 

executive leaders across the country. A combination of broad and targeted personal outreach allows 

us to identify truly exceptional candidates. We curate a list of prospective candidates from our firm-

wide networks, quickly and efficiently building an ideal and diverse pool of highly talented leaders.  

We subsequently conduct in-depth behavioral interviews with each screened candidate to assess the 

seriousness of interest and potential for success in the position. We evaluate all candidates, internal 

and external, in the same thoughtful, comprehensive manner, and we treat internal candidates with 

particular sensitivity, tact, and objectivity.  

 

Key Activities and Deliverables 

▪ Maintain regularly scheduled, frequent communication with the Search Committee/Board 
Chair  

▪ Acknowledge nominations and applications 
▪ Proactive outreach to valuable sources and desirable prospects 
▪ Review applications and prospect credentials 
▪ Conduct comprehensive leadership history evaluations prior to candidate presentation 

Page 76 of 348

76



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

9 

▪ Screen for prior allegations of harassment or discrimination 
▪ Deliver highly qualified candidates and corresponding materials to committee 

 

Phase 3: Candidate Interview Support  
 

We work collaboratively with the search committee to narrow the candidate pool to a select group of 

leaders who merit additional consideration. Our team provides logistical support for semi-finalist 

interviews. We are onsite, as needed, to facilitate and help you prepare for and conduct candidate 

interviews. We provide feedback throughout the interview process and give continued guidance as 

you select finalists. We continue our referencing for candidates who progress toward the finalist 

stage. 
 

As part of our exhaustive approach to candidate due diligence, which occurs throughout the 

process, we conduct sophisticated personal referencing with both candidate-provided and “off-list” 

contacts; comprehensive media and public record reviews; and verification of employment history, 

education, certifications, and other professional degrees and credentials. We screen all candidates 

for prior allegations of harassment and/or discrimination. 
 

As an optional service, WittKieffer can administer a series of psychologist-led executive assessments 

for each finalist candidate. This service includes an interactive feedback session to interpret and 

discuss outcomes with the hiring authority, a one-on-one feedback session with the placement, 

post-hire, and additional structured follow-ups to strengthen the onboarding phase. 
 

Key Activities and Deliverables 

▪ Assist in identifying candidates for first- and second-round interviews 
▪ Coordinate logistics for first- and second-round candidate interviews  
▪ Draft tailored interview questions and share evaluation tools and methods 
▪ Consultant(s) onsite to facilitate first-round interviews 
▪ Conduct additional references and investigate public media sources  
▪ Administer psychologist-led leadership assessments for finalists (optional) 

 

Phase 4: Selection and Appointment  
 

Our team assists with candidate scheduling for finalist interviews and provides guidance on spousal 

visits and other activities important to candidates and their families. Following finalist interviews and 

once you decide to extend an offer, we can advise on terms, salary, benefits, and relocation based 

on our experience in negotiating executive compensation packages. As an element of our 

partnership, we offer counsel to help clients smoothly transition new leadership. 

 

 

Key Activities and Deliverables 

▪ Advise on terms, salary, benefits, and relocation 
▪ Debrief candidate participants once the new hire is announced 
▪ Transition and onboarding planning/support 

Page 77 of 348

77



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

10 

Best Practices:  Executive Assessment with Onboarding  
     
As part of our evidence-based approach to recruitment, WittKieffer, through our partnership with 

CMA Global, Inc., offers leading selection assessment and post-hire assimilation services. CMA 

conducts more than 10,000 leadership assessments annually through their team of 20 PhD, licensed 

psychologists. Together, our comprehensive, psychologist-led assessment services transcend 

today's industry standard through a multi-dimensional approach. Our partnership with CMA 

combines best-in-class scientific instruments with client and role-specific insights and analysis. Our 

team will integrate critical findings from the discovery phase of each search to customize the 

assessment process, and further, extend our support to have an active, supporting role during the 

onboarding process.   

 

Our approach includes the following activities and deliverables for each finalist candidate: 

 
▪ Pre-assessment interview between each candidate and a PhD, licensed psychologist 
▪ A comprehensive set of assessments (described below) 
▪ A debrief session with the Search Chair/Board Chair/hiring authority prior to finalist interviews 
▪ Custom questions and interview strategies based on assessment findings, as desired 
 

WittKieffer/CMA Onboarding Support for Candidate of Choice 

 
▪ A 90-minute debrief and feedback session with the placement prior to or at the commencement 

of their employment. This session will support the leader early in their transition, elevating their 
self-awareness regarding their strengths and behavioral tendencies, helping them calibrate pace 
and overall approach to the culture and the articulated measures of success for the role. 
 

▪ A planning session with the placement and hiring authority in the first month to ensure a smooth 
transition. This session helps solidify the partnership between our placement and their 
supervisor, reviewing assessment information, identifying supports and establishing approaches 
that align to the articulated goals for the role and best position the leader for success. 

 
▪ A meeting with the placement at 100 days post-hire. This is a milestone time for when a new 

leaders reflect on their first 90 days to calibrate their approaches and progress. WittKieffer's 
search team leader and a CMA licensed psychologist will meet with the placement to discuss 
progress, potential needs/supports, helping ensure early, successful assimilation into your 
organization and the community. 

 

Our comprehensive set of assessment instruments include: 

 
▪ Watson Glaser Critical Thinking Questionnaire (WG): Assesses how a person processes 

and critically evaluates information 
▪ California Psychological Inventory (CPI):  Assesses and compares the candidate to the 

general population on several job-related personality factors such as dominance, achievement, 
responsiveness 

▪ Motivation Questionnaire (MQ): Describes the extent to which a number of factors motivate 
an individual (such as hard work, commercial outlook, recognition, etc.) 

▪ Leadership Effectiveness Analysis (LEA): Indicates what the candidate emphasizes in 
leading and managing people and tasks  

 

Page 78 of 348

78



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

11 

Timetable and Work Plan Summary 
 

Searches of this nature typically take between four and six months to complete, from the initial 

discovery phase meetings to offer acceptance. At the outset of the engagement, we will develop a 

timeline and work plan according to search committee needs and preferences. Following is a sample 

timeline and work plan summary. 

Discovery Phase 

1 to 2 days 

WittKieffer meets with the board of directors, search committee, 
leadership, and other key stakeholders to understand Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District and the nature of the position to create the ideal 
leader profile. 

Development of Leadership 
Profile and Recruitment 
Strategy 

2 weeks 

WittKieffer submits draft leadership profile and suggested recruitment 
strategy. Board of Directors/Search committee provides input and 
approval. 

Recruitment and Candidate 
Evaluation 

6 to 8 weeks 

WittKieffer launches a thorough national recruitment targeting 

potential candidates. For each screened candidate, we conduct 

behavioral interviews and initiate our due diligence process. We 

maintain frequent and regularly scheduled contact with the search 

committee throughout the recruitment phase. 

Candidate Review 

2 hours 

WittKieffer meets with the board of directors/search committee to review 
candidates and identify semi-finalists for interviews.  

Semi-finalist Interviews 

1 to 2 days 

WittKieffer prepares the board of directors/search committee for semi-
finalist interviews (typically 4-6 candidates) and assists with selection of 
finalists (typically 2-3) for finalist interviews. We conduct additional 
references, media checks, education/employment verifications, and if 
desired, administer a battery of leadership assessments for finalists. 

Finalist Interviews 

1 to 2 days 

Finalists interview at Northern Inyo Healthcare District with a broad 
range of constituents. The candidate of choice is identified from this 
round of interviews and negotiations commence. 

Selection and Negotiations 

variable 

When the hiring authority decides to extend an offer, WittKieffer can 
advise and/or assist with negotiations. 

Page 79 of 348

79



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

12 

Search Conclusion 

variable 

Once the candidate of choice accepts the offer, WittKieffer supports 
smooth transition. After the appointment is announced, WittKieffer 
notifies the other participants of the outcome. 

Advancing Leadership Diversity 
 

WittKieffer’s commitment to advancing diversity is underscored by our proven history of conducting 

inclusive searches and promoting the value of leadership diversity – from the boardroom to the C-

suite and beyond. During the recruitment phase, we identify leaders from underrepresented groups 

through a network of relationships built on trust over many years, an essential trait when recruiting 

leaders who are heavily sought in a high demand environment.  

 

Differentiating our strength in the field, we have a long, productive relationship with the American 

Hospital Association's Institute for Diversity and Health Equity (IFD), the National Association for 

Health Services Executives (NAHSE), and Executive Leadership in Academic Medicine (ELAM), which 

identifies and coaches future M.D. and Ph.D. women leaders. We regularly speak at national 

conferences and coordinate on initiatives that promote diverse leadership and leverage these 

relationships to source and identify strong, diverse leaders.  

 

WittKieffer's Diversity Council drives and explores the most effective methods of executing the 

following mission, internally and externally: 

 

WittKieffer believes a culture of diversity and inclusion, where the entire range of 

human experience is welcomed and celebrated, can strengthen and transform 

organizations. We strive to model this belief in our work and service to our clients. 

 

The following evidence supports our continual efforts to raise awareness, partner successfully with 

our clients, and steward strong, diverse leaders.  

 
▪ Per our most recent analysis:  

‒ 20% of our placements are people of color.  
‒ 42% of our placements are women.  
‒ 95% of our slates include diverse candidates. 

▪ Combined, 47% of all WittKieffer placements are diverse. 
▪ Of WittKieffer’s more than 200 employees, 75% are women and 18% are people of color. 
▪ The firm has been recognized by the National Association of Health Services Executives (NAHSE) 

for Outstanding Organization of the Year and by the Institute for Diversity and Health Equity 
(IFD) for Outstanding Organizational Support to the Mission.  

 

As a core strategy when evaluating all leaders, we challenge candidates to demonstrate their ability 

and/or present their accomplishments in championing diversity initiatives in their current 

organizations or within their respective fields. We are interested in gauging candidates in their 

thought leadership contributions to delivering culturally competent care/programs as well as 

working within multicultural teams and collaborations. We also investigate talent at organizations 

that have had great success in not only retaining diverse staff, but also in developing programs that 

strengthen awareness and inclusivity.  

 

Page 80 of 348

80



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

13 

  

Pricing and Terms 
 

Following is an overview of WittKieffer’s pricing and terms.  

 

Professional Fees 
 

Professional fees for this search assignment are one-third of the position’s projected total 

compensation including base salary and projected bonuses for which the individual is eligible, with a 

minimum fee of $65,000. At the conclusion of the search, we will adjust our fee up or down, 

depending on actual total compensation. 

 

Expenses 
 

The fixed overhead expenses, billed at the one-time charge of 10 percent of professional fees with a 

minimum of $6,000 and a maximum of $10,000, are for administrative support, employment 

verifications, media checks, database access, communications and research services that are not 

easily identifiable by project. 

 

Out-of-pocket expenses are for staff and candidate travel and accommodations, courier services, 

advertising, video conferencing, education certification and licensure verification and outside 

printing and external expenses directly related to your search.   

 

Background Checks 
 

It is our practice to obtain background reports for each candidate, internal and external, who is 

advanced to client interviews. These background reports, solely used for employment purposes, 

include verifications of the candidate’s employment, academic degrees, professional licenses and 

certifications, and a review of public sources for relevant information. We use the Mintz Group LLC 

(“Mintz”), a leading provider of background checking and due diligence services, to conduct the 

background screenings. Mintz is a consumer reporting agency under the Fair Credit Reporting Act 

(FCRA). In addition to WittKieffer, you are a user of the information provided in the background 

reports provided by Mintz for candidates for employment by Northern Inyo Healthcare District. To 

ensure compliance with the FCRA, Mintz requires WittKieffer and you, the hiring authority, each to 

sign its End User Certification form to certify compliance with “user” requirements under the FCRA. 

The Mintz End User Certification form is attached hereto as Exhibit A and is to be executed along 

with this letter agreement.  

 

In the event that you decide not to sign the End User Certification form for any reason, neither 

Mintz nor WittKieffer can legally provide you with access to or copies of the background report or 

any information contained therein for any candidates for employment by Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District.  

 

In addition to the background check conducted by the Mintz, you, as the hiring agent, are strongly 

encouraged to conduct credit and criminal background checks on the finalist(s). In addition, if you 

have not signed the EUC and thus cannot access the background report or the information therein, 

Page 81 of 348

81



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

14 

you also are strongly encouraged to conduct media checks on the finalists. We can refer you to 

reliable consumer reporting agencies if you would like. 

 

Billing Arrangements 
 

The first billing of one-third of the estimated professional fees and for fixed overhead expenses will 

be submitted at the start of the search. Two additional billings of the professional fees and actual 

out-of-pocket expenses will be submitted at 30 and 60 days. Invoices for additional expenses will be 

submitted monthly thereafter. A final statement at the conclusion of the search will adjust, as 

necessary, fees and expenses incurred and payments received. Invoices are due within 30 days. All 

bills must be paid within 60 days of the close of a search to activate the placement guarantee. 

 

Additional Services 

 
WittKieffer offers a flat rate for selection assessment and early onboarding services billed at $9,000 

per engagement. Our package includes the administration of a comprehensive set of best-in-class 

assessments for all finalist candidates, debrief sessions with the hiring authority and ultimate 

placement, and ongoing support through the early stages of onboarding.  

 

Cancellation and Related Policies 
 

If an additional candidate is hired as a result of this search assignment, there is a professional fee 

add-on of 20 percent of the first year’s total compensation including base salary and projected 

bonus. In addition, if the search is delayed by more than 30 days or the specifications for this 

search assignment are substantively changed, an additional fee for either event may result. If, for 

any reason, the search is cancelled prior to successful completion, the client is responsible only for 

the professional fees billed to date, plus actual expenses. 

 

A search that is suspended or placed on hold may be restarted within six months of this proposal if 

the search is for the same position stipulated in this proposal. A search placed on hold for more than 

six months will be considered cancelled; any search that is restarted may be subject to additional 

search fees. The firm’s guarantee applies only to the search described in this proposal, and may not 

be applied to different searches. 

 

Quality Guarantee 
 

If the executive WittKieffer places at your organization ceases to be employed by the client 

organization in any capacity within one year of his/her commencement of employment, WittKieffer 

will search for a replacement to fill the original position at no additional professional fee.  

 

WittKieffer shall receive notice of the need for a replacement search promptly from the client and no 

later than 30 days after departure of the placement. Activation of the guarantee is based upon the 

client’s notification to WittKieffer of the departure. Based upon discussion between the client and 

WittKieffer, a mutually agreed upon start date for the replacement search should occur within a 

reasonable period, but no later than 90 days from the departure date of the placement.  

 

Page 82 of 348

82



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

15 

The guarantee applies to the Chief Executive Officer search only, and there should be no material 

change in the job specification for the replacement search. Our guarantee excludes those situations 

where the placement departs due to organizational realignment, department restructuring, material 

changes in the position, disability, or death. Additional out-of-pocket expenses associated with the 

replacement search will be charged in the same manner as the original search. 

 

 

 

Page 83 of 348

83



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

16 

The WittKieffer Difference 
 

As experts in strategic leadership and the impact these individuals have on their respective 

organizations, the communities they serve, and the broader world around them, there are multiple 

factors that will distinguish your partnership with WittKieffer. 

 

Organizational alignment: Dedicated to serving organizations that are committed to improving 

the quality of life, we do our best work when we can directly connect the mission and ethos of our 

firm with our client’s. As a result, our fit with healthcare organizations is uniquely and powerfully 

suited. 

 

Specialization in healthcare: Our specialization in and dedication to healthcare gives our 

consultants a unique understanding of the industry; we have developed this expertise over our 50-

year history and have become integral to the fabric of the industry helping to solve the most 

pressing issues in healthcare through exceptional talent identification and development. 

 

Continuity and scale: By committing to the select arenas we serve, we have been able to 

specialize our support over time, attracting passionate team members and perpetually building 

subject matter expertise in key areas. Importantly, WittKieffer team members do not work in silos. 

Our consultants work in teams, often overlapping practice areas. 

 

Areas of Expertise 

General Areas of Expertise 

▪ CEOs/Presidents (system, regional, and site) 
▪ Operations 
▪ Finance and Business 
▪ Service Line 
▪ Human Resources 
▪ Nurse Executives 
▪ Strategy, Marketing, and Communications 

Specialty Practices 

▪ Physician Integration and Leadership 
▪ Academic Medicine and Health Sciences 
▪ Information Technology 
▪ Legal and Compliance 
▪ Children's Healthcare 
▪ Managed Care 
▪ Continuum of Care (Senior Care, Home Care) 

 

Portfolio of Services 
 

In addition to elite executive search, WittKieffer offers customized services to enhance your existing 

talent management programs.  

Interim Leadership 

Easing the transition of C-suite leadership with 

contemporary, consultative executives 

Mid-Level Executive Search 

Recruiting today's top core talent and the next 

generation of healthcare executives 

LeaderVerse 

▪ Multi-dimensional Assessments – as part of every search or standalone internal assessment 
▪ Onboarding – multiple options from value-added planning to full-service execution 
▪ Succession Management – we evaluate your bench and help chart your future talent strategy 
▪ Executive Coaching – ongoing support for key leaders according to strategic needs 

Page 84 of 348

84



 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

Chief Executive Officer 

 

17 

Contact Information 
  

We look forward to exploring further the possibility of supporting your search for the new Chief 

Executive Officer. If you have any questions or wish to speak, please contact: 

  

Steven Yamada 

Consultant 

WittKieffer 

Emeryville, CA 

(510) 420-1370 

syamada@wittkieffer.com 

 

Chris Neumann 

Senior Associate 

WittKieffer 

Irvine, CA 

(949) 851-5070 

cneumann@wittkieffer.com 

 

Mark Andrew 

Senior Partner 

WittKieffer 

Irvine, CA 

(949) 851-5070 

marka@wittkieffer.com 

  

It would be an honor to serve Northern Inyo Healthcare District in this effort.

 

 

 

 

Page 85 of 348

85



 Write a job description & Advertise the Position 
 
McCall & Lee Healthcare would start by generating a job description that includes a 
prioritized list of job requirements, special qualifications, desired characteristics, and 
requisite experience. External postings will consist of utilizing a combination of our 
website and social media platforms, job posting sites, and word-of-mouth 
recruitment.  
 

 Active Recruitment is the way we recruit.  
Beyond job posts, McCall & Lee Healthcare would reach out directly to desirable 
candidates. Active recruitment will help generate interest from potential candidates 
who are not actively searching for new jobs but may be perfect for Northern Inyo 
Healthcare District. 
 

 Qualifying the Right Candidates 
Our organization already has a mechanism in place to receive applications--via email, 
an applicant tracking system (ATS), etc. In every case, the review process begins with 
a McCall & Lee Healthcare recruiter who reviews the applications and we eliminate 
any candidate who does not meet the minimum requirements for the position. Once 
a qualified candidate is identified, McCall & Lee Healthcare would review the 
candidate and identify if that candidate meets criteria and at this point send over 
candidate to the applicable NIH Representative.  
 

 Phone Interview/Initial Screening 
Initial interviews typically begin with phone calls with HR representatives. Phone 
interviews determine if applicants possess the requisite qualifications to fill the 
position and align with an organization’s culture and values. Phone interviews enable 
organizations to further pare down the list of candidates while expending company 
resources efficiently. 
 

 Interviews 
Depending on the size hiring committee, one or several interviews are scheduled for 
those remaining candidates. Interviews include: 

Early interviews are typically one-on-one, in-person interviews between the 
applicants and the hiring manager. Early interviews conversations typically focus on 
applicants’ experience, skills, work history, and availability. 

Additional interviews with management, staff, executives, and other members of the 
organization can be either one-on-one or group interviews with the hiring committee. 
They may be formal or casual; on-site, off-site, or online via Skype, Google Hangouts, 
etc. Additional interviews are more in-depth; for example, in interviews between a 
candidate and multiple members of the hiring team interviewer, each member of the 
hiring team focuses on a specific topic or aspect of the job to avoid redundancy and 
ensure an in-depth conversation about the role and the candidates qualifications and 

Page 86 of 348

86

https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/job-description-template/
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/recruiting-software/applicant-tracking-system/
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/screening-questions/
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/group-interview/


experience. Note: at this stage, you should also inform the candidates you elect not to 
request an interview that the search has moved forward, and they are no longer under 
consideration. 

Final interviews often include conversations with the company’s senior leadership or 
a more in-depth discussion with an interviewer from an earlier stage in the hiring 
process. Final interviews are typically extended only to a very small pool of top 
candidates. 

 Applicant Assessment 
Once the interviews are completed, or during their completion, company will often 
assign applicants one or more standardized tests. These exams measure a wide range 
of variables, including personality traits, problem-solving ability, reasoning, reading 
comprehension, emotional intelligence, and more. 
 

 Decision 

After conducting background and reference checks, the hiring staff identifies their 
top choice. The hiring staff should also select a backup candidate in case the top 
choice declines the offer or negotiations fail to produce a signed offer letter. If no 
candidates meet the hiring criteria, the hiring staff should determine whether to 
start the hiring process over. If so, the hiring staff should discuss whether or not to 
adjust or alter the hiring process in order to yield more favorable candidates. 

 Reference Check 

Reference checks should verify any pertinent information shared by the candidate 
about previous employment--job performance, experience, responsibilities, 
workplace conduct, etc. A typical question to ask references is “Would you rehire this 
person?” 

 Job Offer 

Once a top candidate is identified, the organization should extend an initial offer. The 
offer letter should include the position’s salary, benefits, paid time off, start date, 
potential severance pay, working remotely policy, included company equipment and 
other terms and conditions of employment. Negotiations are likely to follow. 
Therefore, the hiring staff should determine internally which elements of the offer 
letter are negotiable, and which are not. It is typical for terms like salary, flexible work 
schedule, and working remotely to be negotiable. 

 

 

Page 87 of 348

87

https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/hiring-team/
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/job-offer-letter-template/
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/resources/glossary/job-offer-letter-template/


 Hiring 

After negotiations, once the candidate accepts the job offer they are hired. An 
accepted offer letter begins a process of filling out and filing paperwork related to 
employment. Forms and paperwork might include: 

o Form W-4 
o Form I-9 and E-Verify 
o State Withholding and Registrations 
o A checklist with all required paperwork to be completed by new employees 
o An organization’s employee handbook 

 

 Onboarding 

Hiring a new employee does not conclude the hiring process. Onboarding your new 
worker in a welcoming and professional way will help integrate them in a manner 
that lays the groundwork for a long-term productive relationship between them and 
your company. A welcome letter is strongly advised. From there, relevant 
management should reach out to the employee before their start date to welcome 
them to the organization. Their workspace should be prepared, cleaned, and 
equipped with the necessary credentials and equipment before their first day. If an 
orientation is part of the onboarding process, make sure your employee has a clear 
understanding of the expectations and scheduling of those events. Lastly, consider 
assigning your new employee a mentor, which will help them settle into their new 
position and organization, and set them up for long term growth and success. 

 

 

Page 88 of 348

88

https://www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/fw4.pdf
https://www.uscis.gov/i-9
https://www.smartrecruiters.com/blog/everything-you-need-to-know-about-onboarding-in-2020/


*Top 
Ranked

Executive Search Firm

               yearsfor5       by Modern Healthcare

consecutive

MERRAINE GROUP INC. ®

Our mission is to be a high integrity executive search and 
recruiting firm, specializing in the placement of top 

professionals in world-class hospitals. Through 
our industry knowledge, dedication to 

continuous improvement, strong moral 
values and work ethic, and our 

“best in class” practices, we 
provide exceptional value 

added services to 
our clients.

“More than 600 Hospitals Know Why”

®

®

20 20 Years 97.1% 500+of Experience Retention Rate
Available
Opportunities

CONTACTWHO WE ARE

Merraine Group Inc. ® was founded by David Gantshar, whose vision was to create a national search firm defined 
by exemplary service, rapid turnaround, discretion, and superior talent selection. In doing so, the firm he built and 
manages has maintained a 97.1% retention rate. Merraine Group employs a national cadre of talent scouts, offers 
the industry’s very best guarantee, and maintains a candidate acquisition department that sources the best 
individuals in the healthcare industry. What makes Merraine Group different is this internationally-known firm is 
still run on a daily basis by its founder who plays a role in every candidate selection process. 

Merraine Group prides itself on learning a hospital’s culture and meshing it with the career goals and aspirations 
of those it represents. Building leadership teams that function as a cohesive unit and finding leaders who can 
bring out the best in your staff are two of Merraine Group’s hallmarks. Fabulous patient care begins with your 
employees. No firm will take this mission more seriously than Merraine Group. We are committed to providing 
you the best candidate selection, whether your needs are for today, next year or the next generation. At Merraine 
Group, we are large enough to get the job done and small enough to give you the personalized service you 
deserve. 

OFFICES

Corporate Office
2654 SE Willoughby Blvd.
Stuart, FL 34994
Main: 845.290.1900
Toll-Free: 866.MERRAINE
Web: www.merraine.com
E-mail: info@merraine.com

David Gantshar
President & CEO

Ph: 845.570.4292
E-mail: dg@merraine.com

Eric Hale
Senior Healthcare Recruiter

Ph: 304.212.3450
E-mail: ehale@merraine.com

Page 89 of 348

89



Executive Search & Direct-to-Hire
Recruitment Process Outsourcing 
Interim & Contract StaffingNursing 

Leadership

Executive 
Suite

Finance & 
Admin.

Children’s 
Hospitals

Healthcare
IT

General 
Management

Allied Health 
Management

Services offered:
 Career Specialties

David GantsharA note from President & CEO, 
“As the expression goes, ‘Some things never change.’ Since 1997, our firm has worked with more than 
600 hospitals, medical centers, laboratories, cancer centers, multi-specialty practices, medical 
research facilities, dental offices and children’s hospitals. Our business has grown by word-of-mouth 
both domestically and internationally. Our greatest asset is found in those we represent. Their 
experiences speak to a business built on the foundation of one satisfied client after another. I 
invite you to call me directly at 845.570.4292 and allow me to share with you what makes our 
firm unique in the industry today.”

Northeast Region Western Region Mid-Atlantic Region European Office
228 East Route 59 
Suite #334 
Nanuet, NY 10954-2956
Ph: 845.290.1900

9888 Carroll Centre Road 
Suite #212 
San Diego, CA 92126
Ph: 858.834.4346

1714 Mileground Road
Suite #200 
Morgantown, WV 26505
Ph: 304.284.8500

23 New Mount Street
Manchester, UK
M4 4DE
Ph: +44 (0).203.769.1476

“I will always remember you and your firm as the 
most professional and ethical recruitment firm 
with which I worked in my 30+ years in Human 
Resources.” 

Barbara Jones, 
Vice President of Human Resources (former)

Oklahoma University Medical Center
Oklahoma City, OK

“Thank you for helping us realize our vision by identifying 
such outstanding candidates. Merraine has helped us to 
achieve our goals and grow our practice.” 

Dr. Gary R. Login, DMD  Brookline, Massachusetts

“I’ve been here for nine years...each and every 
candidate Merraine Group has brought on, not just 
for my leadership group, but for the entire 
hospital...none of those people have left.” 

Susan Nohelty, Chief Nursing Officer

“One of the things I like about Merraine is they really focus on the organization. They get to know our 
organization… not just with my department, but with each one of the key leaders in the organization. Their 
expertise in healthcare has been extremely useful to us as an organization.”

Alan Pedersen, Vice President of Human Resources
Cayuga Medical System - Ithaca, NY

Why choose merraine Group?

Merraine Group Inc.®  is a Shepherd Search Group Inc.®  Company Page 90 of 348

90



 

Page 91 of 348

91



NIHD Retained Search Overview: 
1. Our fee would equal 30% of the candidate’s first year compensation.  First year 

compensation will include salary, any relocation bonus, sign on bonus. 
2. A retained search comes with a 2 year guarantee and candidate 

exclusivity. 
3. Upon execution of the service agreement, client will pay a non-refundable 

engagement fee of $10,000 plus a non-refundable advertising fee of $4,250.  If 

advertising costs exceed $4,250 it will be paid by us.  Some firms advertising 
fee can meet or even exceed the actual candidate placement fee.  I’ve 

seen invoices from competitor’s where this is indeed the case. 
4. Final payment will be due thirty days after the offer letter is signed, less the 

$10,000 engagement fee. 

5. You won’t lose the engagement fee on the rare event the CEO position isn’t 
filled.  It would simply be applied to another search within 1 year for a manager 

position or higher. 
 
 

Why Retained vs. Contingency? 
The primary difference between a retained and contingency search is not the 

quality of work, but the time and resources that will be dedicated to your search 
 

1. A retained search comes with an industry leading 2 year guarantee. 
2. Candidate exclusivity – candidates will be presented to your search only and will 

remain only in your search pipeline until they are hired or you remove them 

from consideration. 
3. Priority – your search is at “the top of the list” and receives a higher level of 

service. 
4. Dedicated support team to your search that will allow Merraine Group to utilize 

its full arsenal in sourcing, qualifying and presenting only the most talented of 

candidates. 
5. Most importantly – it allows us to go to market with a much stronger message 

to attract only the best candidates.  For example, on a contingency search a 
recruiter might say something along the lines of “I’m working with a great client 
based in the East Central region of California and they have a need for a CEO”. 

On a retained search I can say “I am exclusively representing NIHD.  Let me 
share their story, the great things they are doing and this exciting CEO 

opportunity that they have available”.  However, with that being said, we can 
keep the search confidential should that be your desire. 
 

A typical retained search fee structure is a 1/3 engagement fee paid upfront, 1/3 
when candidate resumes are presented and 1/3 at offer acceptance, then a final 

invoice for marketing/advertising fees.  Merraine Group charges a flat $10k 
engagement fee and the $4,250 marketing/advertising fee with the balance due 
upon completion of the search. 
 
 
 
 

Page 92 of 348

92



Navigating How to Interview and Hire Professionals 
during the Covid-19 Quarantine with Merraine Group

The world has changed as we know it, yet there is one constant: the need for quality employees in times like these. 

At this moment, not all interviews can be 
done face to face and with a handshake. 
It’s time to get creative to continue to 
secure the right talent for your team. 

We at Merraine Group put our 
heads together with our partners to 

create solutions.

We recognize that we must pull through this 
together to keep our hospitals, our infrastructure, 
our local businesses, and our country going, and 
eventually growing again; and are here to partner 
with your organization to help with staffing and 
hiring solutions. 

Some solutions include using phone and video chat 
platforms for interviews to avoid meeting in person. 

Other out of the box ideas, when meeting face to face 
is necessary, are coordinating with private jet and car 

companies to provide the safest travel options. 

A partnership is about working through obstacles together. 
If you are struggling to coordinate interviews, hire the right 

professionals, or retain staff call me at (304) 212-3450 and we 
will find a solution together.

From permanent placements, to contract/interim placements, 
other staffing solutions and more - we are here to help.

Page 93 of 348

93



Page 94 of 348

94



Page 95 of 348

95



Page 96 of 348

96



Page 97 of 348

97



Page 98 of 348

98



Page 99 of 348

99



Page 100 of 348

100



Page 101 of 348

101



Page 102 of 348

102



Page 103 of 348

103



Page 104 of 348

104



Page 105 of 348

105



Page 106 of 348

106



Page 107 of 348

107



Page 108 of 348

108



Page 109 of 348

109



Page 110 of 348

110



Page 111 of 348

111



Page 112 of 348

112



Page 113 of 348

113



Page 114 of 348

114



Page 115 of 348

115



Page 116 of 348

116



Page 117 of 348

117



Page 118 of 348

118



Page 119 of 348

119



Page 120 of 348

120



Page 121 of 348

121



Page 122 of 348

122



Page 123 of 348

123



Page 124 of 348

124



Page 125 of 348

125



Page 126 of 348

126



Page 127 of 348

127



Page 128 of 348

128



Page 129 of 348

129



Page 130 of 348

130



Page 131 of 348

131



Page 132 of 348

132



Page 133 of 348

133



Page 134 of 348

134



Page 135 of 348

135



Page 136 of 348

136



Page 137 of 348

137



Page 138 of 348

138



Page 139 of 348

139



Page 140 of 348

140



Page 141 of 348

141



Page 142 of 348

142



 

RESOLUTION NO. 20-03 
 

 

RESOLUTION OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

REQUESTING CONSOLIDATION OF ELECTION 

 

 

 

 

 WHERAS, it is necessary that three (3) directors be elected to the Board of 

Directors of Northern Inyo Healthcare District, one each from Zones I, IV, and 5 of said 

District; and 

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Board of Directors of Northern 

Inyo Healthcare District that it request that the Board of Supervisors of the  

County of Inyo, State of California, consolidate said election of directors with the 

statewide election to be held on November 3, 2020; and, 

 

 BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT THE Hospital Chief Executive Officer be, 

and is hereby directed to file copies of this Resolution with said Board of Supervisors of 

the County of Inyo, State of California, and the County Clerk-Recorder, Registrar of 

Voters of said County. 

 

 Adopted, signed and approved this 20th day of May, 2020. 

 

 

 

 

 

       ______________________________ 

       Jean Turner, President 

 

 

 

       Attest: ______________________________ 

       Jody Veenker, Secretary 

 

Page 143 of 348

143



Page 144 of 348

144



Page 145 of 348

145



Page 146 of 348

146



Page 147 of 348

147



Page 148 of 348

148



Page 149 of 348

149



Title: 
Presenter: 

Clerical Use Only: 
AGENDA NUMBER 

NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

INFORMATION TO THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

Type of Agenda item: 

Area of the Agenda: 

For the Board Meeting of: 

Date:  

TITLE: 

PRESENTER(S): 

RECOMMENDATION: 

CEO RECOMMENDATION: 

SYNOPSIS: 

Page 150 of 348

150



Title: 
Presenter: 

Clerical Use Only: 
AGENDA NUMBER 

OTHER AGENCY INVOLVEMENT: 

FINANCING: 

Preparer’s signature:  Date: 

Page 151 of 348

151



Title: 
Presenter: 

Clerical Use Only: 
AGENDA NUMBER 

APPROVALS

COMPLIANCE: AGREEMENTS, NEW SERVICE LINE PROPOSALS, CONTRACTS, RESOLUTIONS, 
ORDINANCES, REQUEST FOR PROPOSALS, COMPLIANCE CONCERNS, AND RELATED 
ITEMS (Must be reviewed and approved by Compliance prior to submission to the Board.) 

Signature:   Date: ______________   

CHIEF FINANCE 
OFFICER: 

ACCOUNTING/FINANCE, ITEMS WITH BUDGETARY IMPACT, AND ITEMS WITH A 
FINANCIAL COMPONENT (Must be reviewed and approved by the CFO or Designee prior to submission to 
the Board.) 

Signature:   Date: ______________   

HUMAN RESOURCES 
DIRECTOR: 

PERSONNEL, BARGAINING UNIT, AND RELATED ITEMS (Must be reviewed and approved by the 
Director of HR prior to submission to the Board.) 

Signature:   Date: ______________   

INFORMATION 
TECHNOLOGY SERVICES 
DIRECTOR: 

ALL ITEMS WITH AN IT COMPONENT (STORAGE, INTERNET CONNECTIVITY, NETWORK 
CONNECTIVITY, APPLICATIONS, SECURITY, AND OTHER RELATED SUPPORT 
FUNCTIONS) (Must be reviewed and approved by the Director of IT prior to submission to the Board.)   

Signature:    Date: ______________   

(Not to be signed until all approvals are received)

INITIATING LEADER SIGNATURE:  DATE: 

CHIEF SIGNATURE:  DATE: 

Page 152 of 348

152



Title: 
Presenter: 

Clerical Use Only: 
AGENDA NUMBER 

FOR BOARD OFFICE USE ONLY: 
Recommendation # ________________ 

Date of Board Acceptance: _______________ Submitted by: ____________________________ 
      Board President 

LEGAL COUNSEL: 

ALL ACTION ITEMS (AGREEMENTS, CLOSED SESSION ITEMS, CONTRACTS, RESOLUTIONS, 
ORDINANCES AND RELATED ITEMS) AND ADDITIONAL ITEMS UPON REQUEST. 
(Board packet will be reviewed prior to Board meeting for advice and counsel to the Board 
on items not previously sent to Counsel)

Signature:   Date: ______________   

Page 153 of 348

153



 
NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

Submission of Materials to the Board of Directors 
 

Background 
In order to maintain transparency, consistency, and uniformity of the materials presented to the 
Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) Board of Directors, procedures have been established 
for submission of document(s). 
 
Policy 
 

1. Board agenda items are classified as either informational items or action items, and 
generally fall into one of the following categories: 

a. Policies and Procedures 
b. Medical Staff (Medical Executive Committee) reports, including clinical Policies and 

Procedures, and Medical Staff privileging 
c. Regulatory and governmental items 
d. Reports, routine reports, and informational updates 
e. Financial matters, transactions and expenditures, including equipment purchases 
f. Personnel matters, including staffing and physician staffing 
g. Contracts and agreements 
h. Closed session (confidential) items, including litigation 
i. Other 

 
2. Submissions to the Board of Directors must include the “Submission to the Board request 

form.”  
 

3. Action items that are clinical policies and procedures or Medical Staff privileging 
presented by the Medical Executive Committee have already been vetted by the Medical 
Staff and approved by the appropriate Committees, and may go directly to the Board of 
Directors for approval. They must still include the “Submission to the Board request form.” 
 

4. The “Submission to the Board request form” must be written so any member of the public 
can read and quickly understand why, without any prior information, this issue is being 
brought to the Board.  

5. All acronyms must be spelled out the first time used. 

6. The submission method for all documents for the Board meeting packet is electronic and 
documents must include “Submission to the Board” review/approval signature form, 
attached.  

7. Items should be submitted to the Chief Officers or to the Board Clerk/Executive Assistant 
to the CEO via email/electronically. 

8. If you have brochures or similar types of items, they will need to be scanned or added 
electronically. 

 

 

Page 154 of 348

154



Procedure 
 

1. Informational items with the completed “Submission to the Board” review and approval 
form, and supporting documents, if any, must be submitted to the Board Clerk for inclusion 
in the Board packet. 

 

2. Action items with supporting documentation must be submitted for the Board packet with 

a completed “Submission to the Board” (fillable form attached), including review/approvals. 

 

a. The form includes the following information: 

i. Summary the proposed item or issue  

ii. Financial impact of the agenda item, including cost 

iii. Involvement of external agencies 

iv. CEO recommendation 

v. Review and approval sign-off  

 

b. The recommendation for action should include a clear, precise, and succinct 
statement of the recommendation, its purpose, rationale and, if appropriate, the 
date the action will become effective. 

 
c. Renewals and modifications of contracts should reference previously executed 

documents and should contain an explanation of all changes.  

 

d. All recommendations requesting a new or revised policy and procedure require the 
documented review and approval of the appropriate relevant committees. 
 

 
3. All submissions must be sent to approvers (Director of Human Resources, Chief Financial 

Officer, Director of Information Technology Services, Compliance Officer, and Chief 
Executive Officer) and to the Board Clerk/Executive Assistant to the CEO via 
electronically. 
 

4. If a sign-off is not required, the reviewer/approver will enter N/A for not applicable and 
sign. 

 
5. The submitter may not skip steps in the sign-off process.  Any edits that are needed 

or suggested should be sent back to the submitter. The approvers should not make 
changes to an electronic document without tracking changes. 
 

6. Items not previously reviewed by Legal Counsel will be reviewed in the Board Packet, for 
advice and counsel to the Board at the meeting, if necessary. 
 

TIMELINE: 
 

1. Requests to place an item on a Board agenda must be submitted to the Board Clerk 
(Executive Assistant to the CEO) by the end of the day two Fridays prior to the Board 

Page 155 of 348

155



meeting (12 days in advance of each regular meeting).  Items not accompanied by a 
completed tracking sheet will not be considered. 

 
2. Please note:  Regular Board of Directors meetings are scheduled for the 3rd Wednesday 

of each calendar month.  Every attempt will be made to avoid the necessity of scheduling 
Special Board Meetings to address individual items, so items requiring Board action must 
be submitted according to the timeline stated in order to allow the District Board of 
Directors adequate time for review and consideration of the information. 

 

Approval Date 

Compliance Officer  

Executive Team  

Board of Directors  

 

Developed: 05/01/2020 

Page 156 of 348

156



Executive Letter to the Board Regarding Board Packet 
Submission Process

Dear Northern Inyo Board of Directors,

The executive team has reviewed the new proposal for submission of items to the 
board of directors and is in full agreement that more oversight and accountability is 
needed to maintain transparency and promote consistency. In support of this directive 
the executive team has identified several areas that we believe can be better 
consolidated and streamlined to eliminate inefficiencies and minimize cost while still 
accomplishing these goals. 

The first point the executive team would like to address is policies and procedures. 
Policies and procedures are wide ranging and touch on every aspect of clinical care 
and operations throughout the district. These policies and procedures undergo 
rigorous review by committee(s) with expertise related to their content. While in some 
cases review by legal council, the chief financial officer, the compliance director, the 
human resources director, and the information technology services director may be 
beneficial in the vast majority of these cases it will not. The technical detail of these 
policies and procedures will often be well out of the scope of these individuals 
expertise. The result of this is that these individuals will be ill equipped to provide any 
meaningful insight or feedback and the process becomes less effective and efficient 
while becoming more costly. For illustration the most recent medical executive 
committee meeting reviewed several policies and procedures. Among these were the 
“Code Blue Protocol” and “Sterile Processing Standards of Practice”. In the opinion of 
the executive team the added review of policies and procedures such as these by the 
above individuals will not add value and will increase cost as well as inefficiencies. 
These same concerns hold true for the medical staff report which include policies and 
procedures as well as staff appointments and privileging. To this end the executive 
team would recommend that clinical policies and procedures as well as medical staff 
privileging items should utilize the established chain command and be approved by 
the appropriate chief prior to submission to the board without additional requirements. 
Legal council, the chief financial officer, the compliance director, the human resources 
director, and the information technology services director as well as any other relevant 
resources should be utilized as needed when their area of expertise is required and is 
expected to impact these items in a meaningful way.  Along these lines the executive 

Page 157 of 348

157



team recommends that the information to the board form provide for the option to 
seek review from these individuals at the direction of the chief rather than as a 
mandatory action. We further recommend the information to the board form should 
also include the person(s) or committee(s) who have thus far approved the item. The 
executive team also is concerned that the new board submission requirements may 
occasionally result in delays in providing important items to the board of directors. 
Consequently, we would recommend that information items without the information to 
the board form or other supporting documents may be provided to the board with the 
approval of either the chief executive officer or the board president. This would provide 
a mechanism for informing the board in the event of a delay in the normal process. 

In summary, we would like to reiterate that the executive team is in full support of, and 
commends, the board of director’s efforts to increase transparency and ensure 
consistency. We hope that these recommendations will serve to eliminate inefficiencies 
as well as unnecessary redundancy and cost. Thank you for your consideration and the 
executive team looks forward to participating in this submission process going forward.

Respectfully, 

Kelli Davis, MBA 
Interim Chief Executive Officer

Tracy Aspel, BSN, RN 
Chief Nursing Officer

William Timbers, MD
Interim Chief Medical Officer

Page 158 of 348

158



MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT-1 

 

MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT 

 

I. 
PARTIES  

 This Maintenance Agreement (the “Agreement”) is effective this 1st day of March 2020 by 
and between NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT, (hereafter “NIHD”) and 
PIONEER MEDICAL ASSOCIATES (herein after “PMA”, a General Partnership in which NIHD 
has a majority interest). 

II. 
RECITALS  

A. NIHD is the owner and operator of a District Hospital located at 150 Pioneer Lane, 
Bishop, California 93514.  As an integral part of the District’s interest in 
maintaining the assets near its campus, NIHD wishes to provide general 
maintenance services for all the buildings considered part of its campus. 

B. PMA is the owner of a Medical Office Building adjacent to the NIHD Campus, 
which has a need for general maintenance. 

 C. PMA desires to retain the service of NIHD to provide General Maintenance. 

 D. NIHD desires to provide services to PMA. 

III. 
AGREEMENT  

 1. Services Provided by NIHD: 

a. General oversight as to the mechanical, electrical, plumbing and structural 
condition of the building. 

b. Routine maintenance of the building and surrounding grounds, such as filter 
replacement, minor parts replacement, cleaning of components, 
landscaping, and periodic inspections. All maintenance and repairs of the 
leased suites remain the responsibility of the leasee. 

c. Securing routine maintenance contracts with the approval of PMA. 

d. Securing maintenance estimates for major work, installations, and jointly 
 supervising the work of contractors. 

e. Emergency inspections and temporary emergency fixes until permanent 
solutions can be determined. 

 2. PMA’s Responsibilities. 

  a. Provision of adequate access to the building. 

  b. Access to plans and related documents. 

Page 159 of 348

159



MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT-2 

  c. Prompt payment of documented invoices. 

  d. Completion of Work Orders. 

3. Term.  This Agreement shall commence on the effective date and shall continue for 
a period of one year (the initial term).  Thereafter, this Agreement shall renew 
automatically each year until canceled by either party in accordance with this 
section.  Cancellation after the initial termof this agreement shall be upon 30 days 
written notice by either party to the other.  Either party may cancel this Agreement 
for any reason with 60-day notice during the initial term. 

4. Compensation.  During the term of this Agreement PMA shall pay to NIHD the 
sum of $500.00 per month by the tenth of each month.  Additionally, PMA shall 
reimburse NIHD for all of its out-of-pocket and all materials used by NIHD in the 
performance of its duties upon presentation of bone fide invoices at the end of each 
month commencing on the effective date of this Agreement and payable no later 
than the tenth of the month.  Invoices shall be detailed, indicating date and time of 
incurred expense and the project involved. 

V. 
CONTRACTOR STATUS  

 Nothing in this Agreement shall be deemed to create a partnership, joint venture or lease 
between either of the parties.  PMA shall be solely responsible for the satisfaction of any and all 
obligations it assumes with respect to any employee of PMA. 

VI. 
NOTICE  

 Written notice required under this Agreement shall be delivered to the designated parties at 
the following addresses (or such other address as may be hereafter designed by a party by written 
notice thereof to the other party): 

 If to NIHD: Northern Inyo Healthcare District 
   150 Pioneer Lane 
   Bishop, California 93514 

 If to PMA: Pioneer Medical Associates 
   152 Pioneer Lane, Suite “C” 
   Bishop, California 93514 

VII.  
MISCELLANEOUS  

1. Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire Agreement of the parties 
hereto and supersedes any prior written or oral agreement between them. 

2. Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed in accordance with the laws of 
the State of California.  If any legal action is necessary to enforce the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, the parties agree that the Superior Court of 
California, County of Inyo, shall be the sole jurisdiction and venue for the bringing 
of such action.  

Page 160 of 348

160



MAINTENANCE AGREEMENT-3 

3. Section Headings.  The various section headings are inserted for convenience of 
reference only and shall not affect the meaning or interpretation of this Agreement 
or any section thereof. 

4. Severability.  If any term, provision or condition of this Agreement is held by a 
court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder 
of the provision shall remain in full force and effect and shall in no way be 
effected, impaired or invalidated. 

5. Attorneys’ Fees.  If any legal action is necessary to enforce the terms and 
conditions of this Agreement, the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all 
costs of suit and reasonable attorneys; fees as determined by the court. 

6. Force Majeure.  If PMA or NIHD is unable to perform its obligations under this 
Agreement due to acts of God, natural disaster, war, illness, or any other cause not 
in the control of NIHD, NIHD shall not be held liable for non-performance of its 
obligations hereunder for the period affected by such causes. 

7. Indemnification. PMA shall defend, indemnify and hold NIHD harmless from any 
and all liability, claims, loss, damages, or expenses, including counsel fees and 
costs, arising from the performance of this agreement. 

VIII. 
EXECUTION  

 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement in one or more 
counterparts which taken together, shall constitute one agreement, which Agreement shall be 
effective as of and on the date set forth above.  The signatories hereto represent that they are duly 
authorized to execute this Agreement on behalf of the party for whom they sign and such party 
shall be bound by this Agreement. 

 NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

 

 By:____________________________________ Date: __________________________  

 
 Its: ____________________________________ 

 

 PIONEER MEDICAL ASSOCIATES 

 

 By: ___________________________________ Date: __________________________  
        Managing Partner 

 

 

  

 

Page 161 of 348

161



Page 162 of 348

162



Page 163 of 348

163



Page 164 of 348

164



Page 165 of 348

165



Page 166 of 348

166



Page 167 of 348

167



Page 168 of 348

168



Page 169 of 348

169



Page 170 of 348

170



Page 171 of 348

171



Page 172 of 348

172



Page 173 of 348

173



Page 174 of 348

174



Page 175 of 348

175



Page 176 of 348

176



Page 177 of 348

177



Page 178 of 348

178



Page 179 of 348

179



Page 180 of 348

180



Page 181 of 348

181



Page 182 of 348

182



Page 183 of 348

183



Page 184 of 348

184



Page 185 of 348

185



Page 186 of 348

186



Page 187 of 348

187



Page 188 of 348

188



Page 189 of 348

189



Page 190 of 348

190



Page 191 of 348

191



Page 192 of 348

192



Page 193 of 348

193



Page 194 of 348

194



Page 195 of 348

195



 

 

TO:  NIHD Board of Directors 

FROM:  Stacey Brown, MD, Chief of Medical Staff 

DATE:  May 5, 2020 

RE:  Medical Executive Committee Report 

 

The Medical Executive Committee met on this date. Following careful review and consideration, the Committee 

agreed to recommend the following to the NIHD Board of Directors: 

 

A. Medical Staff and Advanced Practice Provider Appointments (action items) 

1. Jennifer Figueroa, PA-C (women’s health clinic) – Advanced Practice Provider staff 

2. Benjamin Ebner, MD (adult cardiology - Renown) – telemedicine staff 

3. Shabnamzehra Bhojani, MD (adult and pediatric psychiatry – Regroup) – telemedicine staff 

4. Shilpi Garg, MD (pediatric cardiology – Children’s Heart Center Northern Nevada) – 

telemedicine staff 

 

B. Telemedicine Staff Appointments – credentialing by proxy (action item)  

As per the approved Telemedicine Physician Credentialing and Privileging Agreement, and as outlined 

by 42CFR 482.22, the Medical Staff has chosen to recommend the following practitioners for 

Telemedicine privileges relying upon Adventist Health’s credentialing and privileging decisions. 

1. Sheila Cai, MD (pediatric psychiatry) – telemedicine staff 

 

C. Advancements (action items) 

1. James Fair, MD (emergency medicine) – advancement to Active Staff 

2. Anna Rudolphi, MD (emergency medicine) – advancement to Active Staff 

3. Bo Nasmyth Loy, MD (orthopedic surgery) – advancement to Active Staff 

 

D. Resignations (action items) 

1. Tanya Scurry, MD (peds psychiatry) – telemedicine staff, Adventist Health – effective 3/26/20 

2. Arin Aboulian, MD (pulmonology) – telemedicine staff, Adventist Health – effective 4/10/20 

3. Kelly Tatum Brace, DPM (podiatry) – provisional active staff – effective 4/28/20 

 

E. Policies and Procedures (action items) 

1. Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

2. Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage 

3. Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

 

F. Annual Approvals (action items) 

1. Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

2. Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Physician Assistant 

 

G. Family Medicine Core Privilege Form update (action item) 

  

H. Physician recruitment update (information item) 

NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

150 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, California  93514 

          Medical Staff Office 

    (760) 873-2136     voice 

     (760) 873-2130     fax 

      

Page 196 of 348

196



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

Scope: District Wide Manual: Clinical Practice Manual 

Source: Chief Nursing Officer Effective Date: 

 

Page 1 of 5 

PURPOSE: To provide a standardized safe patient care environment for patients during a 

sensitive exam or procedure. 

 

POLICY: 
1. It is the policy of Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and Northern Inyo 

Healthcare Associates (NIA) to provide and utilize chaperones during sensitive exams or 

procedures and at the request of the patient, their legal representative and/or clinician.   

  

a. The use of a chaperone during a sensitive exam provides reassurance to patients of the 

professional nature of the exam and enhances patient comfort, privacy, security and 

dignity.  A patient or their legal representative may request a chaperone for any 

examination or procedure.  

 

b. A chaperone’s presence may also provide protection to clinicians against unfounded 

allegations of an unprofessional nature. A clinician may request a chaperone for any 

examination or procedure. Should the patient decline chaperone, the clinician may 

decline to perform the sensitive exam and will notify a supervisor/manager/leader.  

 

c. Patients are given the option to request a chaperone prior to beginning the exam or 

procedure.  

 

2. Patients may opt out of having a chaperone present during a sensitive exam or procedure. 

Clinicians will record patient declined offer of chaperone within patient’s medical 

record. (see 1b.) 

 

a. Parents may not opt out of a chaperone for their adolescent child. 

 

3. Patient companions, parents or spouses shall not fulfill the role of chaperone.  

 

a. EXCEPTION: A family member may serve as a chaperone for a pediatric patient (age 

0-10) examination except for examinations or procedures where there is placement of 

finger(s), speculum, swabs, or any other instruments into the genitalia or rectum or if 

there is a suspicion of abuse. 

 

b. Patient companions, parent or spouse may stay in the room at the request of the patient 

when the situation allows their presence. 

 

4. A chaperone who witnesses inappropriate or unacceptable behavior on the part of the 

clinician will immediately report this to their manager or another senior manager, even if 

they did not stop the procedure while it was ongoing.  The chaperone will complete an 

unusual occurrence form (UOR).  

 

5.  Staff is responsible for recognizing personal and cultural preferences, which may 

broaden individual perceptions and requirements to provide a chaperone.   

  

Page 197 of 348

197



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

Scope: District Wide Manual: Clinical Practice Manual 

Source: Chief Nursing Officer Effective Date: 

 

Page 2 of 5 

DEFINITIONS: 

1. Chaperone: An observer who, by mutual agreement, is present during an examination to 

advocate for patients’ rights such as dignity, privacy and consent while also providing a 

layer of protection for the practitioner performing the examination and the organization.  

 

a. A chaperone may be a health professional or a trained unlicensed staff member. This 

may include medical assistants, nurses, technicians, and therapists.  

 

b. A chaperone shall be employed by, or on contract with, NIHD or NIA. 

 

c. Whenever possible, the chaperone should be the gender requested by the patient.  The 

chaperone may also assist the health professional or provide support to the patient with 

personal hygiene, toileting or undressing/dressing requirements when requested or 

needed by the patient.   

 

2. Clinician: A Medical Staff Member, Clinical Program Trainee, Advanced Practice Nurse, 

Certified Nurse Midwife, Physician Assistant, Registered Nurse, Licensed Vocational 

Nurse, Diagnostic Imaging Tech, Respiratory Therapist, Certified Nurse Aide, and EKG 

Tech. 

 

3.   Patient:  A person receiving medical care/services. 

 

      a. Age 0 to 10 years (Neonate and sub-set of pediatric population) 

 

      b. Age 11 thru 18 years (Adolescent for purposes of this policy) 

 

      c. Age 18 years or greater (Adult) 

 

d. A vulnerable patient – defined as a person who lacks capacity to give informed consent 

or is unable to protect him or herself from abuse, neglect or exploitation.  This includes 

those who only lack momentary capacity due to sedation. 

 

4.   Sensitive exams/ procedures: are any exam/procedure that includes the physical 

examination of or a procedure involving the genitalia, rectum, or female breast. Other 

examinations may however be considered by the patient to be intimate due to but not limited 

by culture and/or beliefs.  

 

a. Includes insertion of equipment or medication into or on the penis, rectum, urethra or 

vagina. 

 

b. EXCEPTION:  Nursing care that includes perineal cleansing and care as a part of 

everyday personal hygiene assistance (e.g. incontinence brief changes, bathing, etc.) 

 

5.  Type of Chaperone Consent Options 

 

Page 198 of 348

198



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

Scope: District Wide Manual: Clinical Practice Manual 

Source: Chief Nursing Officer Effective Date: 

 

Page 3 of 5 

a. OPT-IN:  A chaperone is not required, but is provided at the request of the patient.  

The following exam/procedures fall under this category: 

          i.   Examinations of or procedures to the urethra in both males and females; 

          ii.  Breast radiology procedures including mammography, ultrasound, interventional 

and MRI; 

          iii. Echocardiograms; 

          iv. Standard patient care such as listening to the heart, lungs or placement of cardiac 

leads. 

          v.  Examinations related to gynecology and pregnancy in non-vulnerable populations. 

 

b. OPT-OUT:  A chaperone will be present unless declined by the patient in the non-

vulnerable adult population.  If the clinical staff member is uncomfortable performing the 

sensitive exam without a chaperone and the patient OPTs OUT, the clinical staff member 

may refuse to provide the clinical care.  The following exam/procedures fall under this 

category: 

          i.   Breast examination; 

          ii.  Palpation of the external genitalia; 

          iii. Placement of finger(s), speculum, swabs, or any instruments into the vagina or 

rectum for vulnerable patients. 

 

      c. Mandatory chaperone:  A chaperone is mandatory during exams of vulnerable 

populations.  (See Definitions – 3d.)  Parent may chaperone for children ages 0 to 10 

years with some exception. (See Policy – 3a.) 

 

      d. Emergency Situations:  Emergency care should not be impeded by this policy. 

 

 

PROCEDURE: 

      1.   Determine level of sensitive exam or procedure (OPT-IN, OPT-OUT or Mandatory). 

 

      2.   Confidential conversations should occur prior to or after the sensitive exam, unless the 

clinical provider or patient request otherwise, allowing the chaperone to exit the room. 

 

      3.   It is a joint responsibility of the clinician and the chaperone to ensure that the following 

basic considerations are made: 

 

a. When appropriate, informed consent process is followed by the medical provider, per 

NIHD policy.  Consent for sensitive exam in obtained verbally and documented in the 

patient record.  Education will be provided and questions answered about the 

exam/procedure for the patient or guardian/parent.  This includes information about 

option to have a chaperone. 

 

b. If a patient with decision-making capacity declines a part of or the whole examination, 

it should not be performed.  Documentation of refusal in patient record is required.  

 

Page 199 of 348

199



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

Scope: District Wide Manual: Clinical Practice Manual 

Source: Chief Nursing Officer Effective Date: 

 

Page 4 of 5 

c. Maintenance of privacy and confidentiality is essential. Examinations should occur in a 

closed room. Ensure the use of a patient gown, curtains, privacy screen/private changing 

area. Preserve dignity via use of a sheet or drapes for covering body parts discreetly.  

 

e. Remain alert to verbal and nonverbal cues of distress for the patient. 

 

f. All exams will follow NIHD infection control standards. 

 

      3.   Document in the patient record, the chaperone’s name or when the patient OPTs OUT of 

using a     chaperone. 

 

4.   A chaperone has the right to stop a sensitive procedure, examination or care if they feel 

that the   clinician’s behavior is inappropriate or unacceptable.   

 

5.   A chaperone who witnesses inappropriate or unacceptable behavior on the part of the 

clinician will immediately report this to their manager or another senior manager, even if 

they did not stop the procedures while it was ongoing.  The chaperone will complete an 

UOR. 

 

6.  It is the responsibility of the health professional to ensure accurate documentation of the 

clinical contact, which also includes records regarding the use or refusal of a chaperone. 

   

REFERENCES: 
1. University of Michigan Policy regarding use of Chaperones: 6/2019. 

2. AMA Principles of Medical Ethics.  Adopted June 2016. Chapter 1:  Opinions of Patient-

Physician Relationships. 

3. Paterson, Ron (AAHPRA) Independent review of the use of chaperones During the 

Physical Examination of the Pediatric Patient.  May, 2011; (Pediatrics Volume, 127, 

Number 5). 

 

CROSS REFERENCE P&P: 
1. Consent for Medical Treatment 

2. Minors with Legal Authority to Consent 

 

Approval Date 

CCOC 12/16/2019 

Surgery, Tissue, Transfusion and Anesthesia Committee 04/22/2020 

Medical Services/ICU Committee 02/06/2020 

Perinatal/Pediatrics Committee 02/05/2020 

Medical Executive Committee 05/05/2020 

Board of Directors  

Last Board of Directors Review  

 

Page 200 of 348

200



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Chaperone Use for Sensitive Exams 

Scope: District Wide Manual: Clinical Practice Manual 

Source: Chief Nursing Officer Effective Date: 

 

Page 5 of 5 

Developed: 12/2019ta 

Reviewed: 

Revised: 

Supersedes:  DI Chaperone Policy; DI Ultrasound, Intimate Exams;  

 

 

Page 201 of 348

201



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage* 

Scope: Hospital Wide Department: CPM - Admission, Discharge, Transfer 

Documentation (ADT) 

Source: Nursing Administration Effective Date: 9/12/16 

 

  

PURPOSE: 
In an effort to improve the safety and quality of healthcare delivery at Northern Inyo Hospital (NIH), the 

development of a standardized process to issue armbands to patients types listed in this policy, will ensure the 

right patient gets the right kind of care, in the right place, and at the right time. 

 

POLICY: 
It is the policy of Northern Inyo Hospital to ensure that all patients are properly identified by employees and 

medical staff prior to any services, care, or treatments being rendered.  Where possible, identification shall be 

performed with the two-identifier process.  Once this is successfully completed, attempts should be made to place 

a hospital armband on the patient as soon as possible.   

 

Patient types identified in this policy who are alert, oriented and able to reliably participate in the patient 

identification process will receive a hospital armband after positive identification has been performed.   The 

patient will be asked to state their name and date of birth; and that information will be compared to the patient’s 

hospital armband.  This is to be done by the receiving care provider.  Patients unable to provide identifying 

information or who experience conditions requiring emergency care will receive a hospital armband with a 

temporary or fictitious name and identification number assigned by Admission Services.  This patient will receive 

the required care and treatment that is necessary to stabilize their condition, prior to their actual identification. 

 

A hospital armband is a tamperproof, nontransferable identification band.  It will include the patient’s full name, 

hospital identification number, medical record number, patient’s date of birth, age, sex and the attending 

physician’s name.  If the hospital armband is cut off or becomes unreadable, staff will contact Admission Services 

and request a new hospital armband. 

 

Principles of Identification: 

A system for positive identification of hospital patients fulfills four (4) basic functions: 

 

1. Provides positive identification of patients from the time of admittance or acceptance for treatment. 

2. Provides a positive method of linking patients to their medical records and treatment.  

3. Minimizes the possibility that identifying data can be lost or transferred from one patient to another. 

4. Improves the accuracy of patient identification, decreases error occurrence and promotes patient safety. 

 

PROCEDURE: 
A.   Patient Identification 

1. Upon arrival at the hospital, the use of at least two identifiers, patient name and date of birth, will be used 

to properly match the correct patient with the correct care to be administered. 

2. A hospital armband shall be placed on the patient as soon as possible after the identification has been 

made.   

3. Application of the hospital armband will be done by the receiving care provider after confirmation of the 

two-patient identifier process.   

4. If the patient is unable to actively participate in the patient identification process, they will receive a 

hospital armband with a temporary or fictitious name and identification number assigned by Admission 

Services. 

5. Hospital armbands will be used in all Inpatient settings. 

Page 202 of 348

202



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage* 

Scope: Hospital Wide Department: CPM - Admission, Discharge, Transfer 

Documentation (ADT) 

Source: Nursing Administration Effective Date: 9/12/16 

 

  

6.   Hospital armbands will not be used in the Rural Health Clinic, outpatient diagnostic services with 

exceptions listed in #7. 

7. Hospital armbands will be used in the following Outpatient settings: 

a. Emergency Department 

b. Same Day Surgery (PACU) 

c. Diagnostic Imaging 

i. Invasive Procedures 

ii. Nuclear Medicine 

d. Infusion Center 

e. Patients whose care requires transportation that crosses multiple hospital departments 

f. Patients receiving medications 

g. Observation patients 

h. Perinatal Outpatients (excluding NEST) 

i. Pulmonary Function Testing (PFT) 

8. Before any procedure is carried out, the hospital armband shall be placed on the patient and will be 

checked by the receiving and each subsequent care provider.   

9. Whenever possible staff should also verbally assess the patient to assure proper identification by asking 

the patient’s name and date of birth and matching the verbal confirmation to the written information on 

the hospital armband.  If the patient’s date of birth is not available, other acceptable identifiers defined by 

the National Patient Safety Goals 01.01.01, include another specific assigned identification number, 

telephone number, or other person-specific identifier.   

10. Procedures and/or activities are, but are not limited to: 

a. Placement/replacement of patient hospital armband 

b. When a patient is introduced to a caregiver 

c. Transfer/discharge 

d. Medication administration 

e. Transportation from one hospital area/department to another area/department 

f. Diagnostic/therapeutic treatments 

g. Meal/snack trays  

h. Transfusions of blood or blood components 

i. Obtaining informed consent 

j. Vital sign check per shift/per provider 

k. Surgical procedures  

l. When performing a treatment 

11. No procedure shall be conducted when the patient’s identity cannot be verified because the imprinted 

band is illegible or missing except in an emergent situation. 

12. Defective or missing hospital armbands shall be replaced immediately with a new hospital armband. 

13. Each healthcare provider conducting assessments on the patient shall include a check of the patient’s 

hospital armband to assure the band is present and legible, as a routine component of the patient 

assessment process. 

 

B.  Temporary/Downtime Hospital Armband Procedure: 

In the event of a delay in the creation or placement of a hospital armband, or a system downtime occurs where use 

of a computer and printer is available, Admission Services will print labels that affix onto the armband for patient 

identification.  If there is loss of computer and/or printer functions, a legible handwritten label with the patient’s 

name, date of birth, date and time of admission, and attending physician will be affixed to the armband and placed 

Page 203 of 348

203



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage* 

Scope: Hospital Wide Department: CPM - Admission, Discharge, Transfer 

Documentation (ADT) 

Source: Nursing Administration Effective Date: 9/12/16 

 

  

on the patient.   Once the system is operational again, an armband with the appropriate information will be printed 

and placed on the patient.  The handwritten armband will be removed and discarded. 

 

C.  Children: 

A parent or guardian should verify the identification of minor patients, when present at the time of the patient 

encounter.   

 

D.  Unconscious/Confused/Incompetent Patients: 

In order to complete the verification process, any unconscious/confused/incompetent patients should, whenever 

possible, have their identification confirmed by a person (relative, transferring facility, etc.) before the hospital 

armband is placed on the patient.  For the unconscious/confused/incompetent patient who arrives at NIH without 

someone accompanying them, or identifying paperwork from a transferring facility, a temporary name (e.g. Jane 

or John Doe) and identifying number (e.g. medical record number) are assigned to the patient.  These identifiers 

can be used to identify the patient and match against specimen labels, medications ordered for the patient or blood 

product labels.  Formal identification of the patient should occur as soon as possible and once confirmed, the 

confirmed identifying information should be used instead of the temporary identification.  Under no circumstance, 

except for lifesaving or emergency measures, should any patient encounter occur if a hospital armband is not 

present.   

 

E.  Patient Refusal: 

If the patient is capable and refuses to wear the hospital armband, an explanation of the risks will be provided to 

the patient and/or family.  The designated staff member will reinforce that is the patient’s and/or family’s 

opportunity to participate in efforts to prevent medical errors, and it is their responsibility as part of the healthcare 

team.  The designated staff member will document in the medical record patient’s refusal, and the explanation 

provided by the patient or their family member. 

 

REFERENCES: 

 

1. Floyd Memorial Hospital. Patient Safety-Patients. Floyd Memorial Hospital, n.d. Web. 29 Sept. 

2015. <http://floydmemorial.com/patients/patient-safety/>. 

 

2. The Joint Commission. "National Patient Safety Goals (NPSG)." Comprehensive Accreditation 

Manual for Critical Access Hospitals. Oak Brook: Joint Commission Resource, 2015. NPSG-3. 

Print. 

 

3. Main Line Health, Inc. Administrative Policy and Procedure Manual, Patient Identification. 

Main Line Health, n.d. Web. 31 Aug. 2016. 

<http://www.mainlinehealth.org/doc/Page.asp?PageID=DOC001368>. 

 

4. WHO Collaborating Centre For Patient Safety Solution. "Patient Identification." Patient Safety 

Solutions 1 (May 2007): n. pag. WHO Patient Safety Solutions. World Health Organization, May 

2007. Web. 31 Aug. 2016. <http://www.who.int/patientsafety/solutions/patientsafety/PS-

Solution2.pdf>. 
 

Page 204 of 348

204



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

 

Title:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment/Armband Usage* 

Scope: Hospital Wide Department: CPM - Admission, Discharge, Transfer 

Documentation (ADT) 

Source: Nursing Administration Effective Date: 9/12/16 

 

  

 

Committee Approval  Date 

CCOC 04/20/2020 

MEC 05/05/2020 

Board of Directors  

Board of Directors Last Review  

 

  

Index Listings: Armbands, Patient Identifier, Patient Identification, Patient ID, Patient Safety, ID, 

Wristband, PA-Patient Safety, NPSG 01.01.01 

 

Developed:  5/24/2016 

Revised: 3/03; 2/06; 7/2011, 4/2020 

Supersedes:  PA – Patient Safety:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment 

Retired:  PA – Patient Safety:  Patient Identification for Clinical Care and Treatment 

Reviewed: 3/03; 2/06; 1/07; 8/08; 7/2011 

 

Page 205 of 348

205



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

Scope: Sterile Processing Manual:  Standards of Practice 

Independent/Interdependent, Sterile Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date:   10/22/15 

 

PURPOSE: 

 

Sterile Processing is part of the Surgery unit in Perioperative Service which is part of the Nursing 

Department.  The staff in Sterile Processing are under the direct supervision of the Surgery Manager and 

the Director of Perioperative Nursing Services.  The Surgery Manager and Director of Perioperative 

Nursing Services are members of the Infection Prevention Committee and the Safety Committee. Sterile 

Processing policies and infection control concerns are submitted for review.   

 

PROCEDURE: 

 

Sterile Processing is responsible for: 

1. Decontamination / Cleaning instruments, supplies, and equipment used in the hospital and NIHD 

clinics (decontamination: physical or chemical process that renders an inanimate object such as a 

medical device that may be contaminated with microbes, safe for further handling) 

2. Instrument inspection / maintenance – sending instruments out for repair if needed 

3. Preparing / Sterilization trays, instruments, instrument packs, supplies, and specialized items 

4. Storage of surgical supplies, trays and sterile supplies in a manner that protects sterility 

5. Rotation of supplies in Sterile Processing and Surgery to avoid item outdating prior to use 

6. Removing / Discarding outdated supplies and recalled items  

7. Reordering / Restocking instruments and supplies as needed to replenish trays, packs, and surgery 

rooms 

 

Sterile Processing Training 

1. Sterile Processing staff will receive initial education and competency validation of procedures, 

decontamination and sterilizing equipment, as well as chemicals used and personal protection 

equipment (PPE) 

2. Sterile Processing staff will receive additional education/competency validation when receiving 

new equipment, instruments and supplies.  

3. Manufacturer guidelines for sterilization as well as the most current information from One Source 

specific to equipment and instrument care will be referred to for sterilization and reprocessing 

items. 

4. Confidentiality and personal privacy will be maintained for patients at all times.   

 

Categorizing items for reprocessing 

1. Items to be reprocessed should be categorized as critical, semi-critical and noncritical. Sterile 

processing will utilize the Spaulding System for categorizing items for processing. Processing will 

be accomplished by utilizing recommendations of the FDA and following the guidelines from the 

manufacturer, AAMI and AORN. 

2. Items that enter sterile tissue or the vascular system are categorized as critical and should be sterile 

when used. Sterility may be achieved by physical or chemical processes. 

3. Items that come in contact with non-intact skin or mucous membranes are considered semi-critical 

and should receive a minimum of high-level disinfection. 

4. Items that contact only intact skin are categorized as noncritical items and should receive 

intermediate- level disinfection, low-level disinfection, or cleaning. 

 

Page 206 of 348

206



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

Scope: Sterile Processing Manual:  Standards of Practice 

Independent/Interdependent, Sterile Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date:   10/22/15 

 

Equipment Processing 

1. Sterile Processing staff members are trained / familiar with the requirements for cleaning and 

sterilizing each type if instrument.   

2. Instruments are inspected for function and cleanliness prior to sterilization. Broken instruments are 

removed for repair / disposal. 

3. Instruments are placed in trays or packs – identification tape is replaced as needed. 

4. Sterile Processing staff know how to properly load each type of sterilizing equipment. 

5. Flexible endoscopes will be cleaned and processed utilizing manufacturer, AAMI, and AORN 

recommendations.  

a. Flexible scopes will be leak tested prior to being processed. 

b. Flexible scopes will be cleaned manually before reprocessing. 

c. Flexible scopes will be stored in designated scope cabinet after processing. 

d. Flexible scopes will have a date of processing on a label. 

1. Power equipment will be cleaned and processed according to manufacturer validated instructions, 

AAMI and AORN guidelines. 

2. Devices labeled as single-use should not be reprocessed unless the FDA guidelines for 

reprocessing of single use items can be met. 

3. Loaner equipment should be examined, cleaned, and sterilized by the receiving healthcare 

organization before use, according to manufacturers’ written instructions. Manufacture validation 

for sterilization documentation should be utilized for sterilization 

 

Packaging  

1. Packaging systems will be evaluated prior to purchase. 

2. Packaging systems should permit sterilization of the contents within the package. 

3. Packaging should protect the integrity of the contents until the package is opened for use. 

4. Packaging should permit the aseptic delivery of the contents to the sterile field. 

5. Packaging should be compatible with the specific sterilization method for which they will be used. 

6. Rigid containers should be used, cleaned and maintained according to manufacturer information. 

 

Monitoring – records are kept for each load run in Sterile Processing 

1. Load identification be maintained in sterile processing for retrieval if necessary. 

2. Load control numbers are used to designate sterilization equipment used for each item, date, and 

cycle. 

3. Chemical indicators will be placed in each package to prove parameters have been met. 

4. Chemical indicators should be visible in clear packaging. 

5. Chemical tape will be on outside of wrapped items. 

6. All loads will have appropriate biological monitoring.  Internal and external chemical indicators 

are used with each package sterilized as required 

7. All biological monitoring will be recorded and read at 24 hours. 

8. Steam sterilizers are tested with spore test daily and records are kept 

9. Prevacuum autoclaves are tested daily with a DART (Daily Air Removal Test) 

10. Sterile processing personnel will have a mechanism in place to recall sterilized items in case of a 

sterilizer failure.  

 

Labeling 

Page 207 of 348

207



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

Scope: Sterile Processing Manual:  Standards of Practice 

Independent/Interdependent, Sterile Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date:   10/22/15 

 

1. Individual instruments from units and clinics other than Surgery are labeled with identification 

tape specific to that unit / clinic and is replaced as needed 

a. Sterilized materials should be labeled in a manner to ensure sterility and each item should be 

marked with the sterilization date. 

b. Shelf life of a packaged sterile item is considered event-related. Integrity of packaging should 

be checked prior to use. 

c. Labeling of sterilization should include the item, date, autoclave, load number and expiration 

date. 

 

Outdates / Recalls 

1. Hospital-wrapped and hospital-sterilized instruments / supplies will be monitored for outdating: 6 

months for peel pack instruments, 12 months for trays as long as package integrity is maintained. 

The tray or instrument will be reprocessed sooner than the 6 or 12 month outdate if package 

integrity is not maintained.  

2. All manufacturer processed items will be monitored for outdates or considered sterile until opened 

or damaged. Items that have outdated or package damage will be discarded / replaced as necessary. 

3. Sterile Processing will have a quality assurance and performance improvement process in place to 

measure process and system outcome indicators. 

4. When a manufacturer has issued a recall, Sterile Processing Staff will check all affected items and 

participate in the retrieval and if necessary disposal of the items.  The attending physician is 

notified if patient use / exposure is ascertained.  (See the policy for Recall) 

 

Storage / Distribution 

1. Supplies, packs, trays, and instruments are catalogued and shelved according to the most efficient 

arrangement for easy access and rotation. 

2. Sterile Processing personnel will work with nursing units to promote uniformity and simplicity in 

the instrument trays and sets maintained for the care of patients.  

3. Patient care supplies and equipment will be distributed regularly to Surgery, nursing units, clinics, 

and other hospital departments.  

4. Special instruments, trays, packs, and supplies will be coordinated through the Surgery Manager 

and Sterile Processing Personnel to ensure workflow for reprocessing and availability of supplies. 

5. The Purchasing Department is responsible for purchase orders, invoices, and packing slips. 

 

 Infection Control  

1. Hospital infection control standards will be followed at all times. 

2. Sterile Processing employees will wear clean scrub attire and hair covers, and shoe covers at all 

times when on duty and if they leave the hospital they must change their scrub attire and shoe 

covers when they return.  

3. Personal protection will be utilized at all times when cleaning/disinfecting soiled 

equipment/instruments per policy. 

4. All work areas will be kept clean, neat and well stocked at all times.  

5. All employees will observe and encourage frequent hand washing as this is a primary measure for 

infection control.  

6. Workflow patterns provide for the separation of soiled supplies from those that are clean or 

sterilized. 

Page 208 of 348

208



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

Scope: Sterile Processing Manual:  Standards of Practice 

Independent/Interdependent, Sterile Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date:   10/22/15 

 

7. In order to prevent cross contamination all items used on the unit are returned to Sterile Processing 

in clean condition. Though clean, items will be treated as dirty and kept separate from items in 

clean area until processed.  

 

Maintenance 

1. Autoclaves are leak-tested weekly (generally Mondays) 

a. A complete cycle is run then the leak test is performed 

b. The leak test must be 1.0mm/Hg/min or less, if leak test is higher than 1.0mm/Hg/min 

– need to notify Biomedical Engineer to have the sterilizer serviced to correct the 

issue. 

c. The leak test is for a problem with the piping and integrity of the machine. 

d. If the Dart and Biological Indicators are good then the machine can be used until a 

service representative can repair it. Seek advice from Sterilizer Manufacturer 

regarding this issue. 

2. Autoclaves are descaled weekly (follow manufacturer instructions for descaler use) 

3. Autoclaves are cleaned monthly: chamber walls, doors and carrier baskets are thoroughly 

washed then rinsed thoroughly with tap water. 

4. Sterile Processing staff maintain adequate supplies / hospital designated sterilizing 

chemicals to facilitate decontamination / sterilization of hospital / clinic instruments and 

supplies. 

5. Chemicals utilized in the disinfection/sterilization process will be disposed of according to 

federal, state and local regulations. 

6. Preventative maintenance of the sterile processing equipment is carried out regularly.  The 

sterilizing and decontaminating equipment is serviced as needed and meets Federal and 

State requirements Records of the maintenance are kept by the Biomedical Department. 

 

REFERENCES:  
Title 22 Standards: 70831, 70833 

TJC: EC.02.04.01, EC.02.04.03, IC.02.02.01, IC.02.02.01 

AORN: Recommended Practices for Safe Environment of Care 

AORN: Recommended Practices for Cleaning and Disinfection of Instruments 

AORN: Recommended Practices on Sterilization 

AAMI: ST79 and Annex B 

 

Approval Date 

CCOC 04/20/2020 

STTA 04/22/2020 

MEC 05/05/2020 

Board of Directors  

Last Board of Director review  

 

Developed: 7/2015 BS 

Reviewed: 

Page 209 of 348

209



NORTHERN INYO HOSPITAL 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Sterile Processing Standards of Practice 

Scope: Sterile Processing Manual:  Standards of Practice 

Independent/Interdependent, Sterile Processing 

Source: DON Perioperative Services Effective Date:   10/22/15 

 

Revised: 4/20aw 

Index Listings: Standards of Practice Sterile Processing 

Page 210 of 348

210



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 6/20/18 

 

Page 1 of 5 

PURPOSE:  
This standardized procedure developed for the use by the Family Nurse Practitioner (FNP) or 

Pediatric Nurse Practitioner (PNP) is designed to establish guidelines that will allow the FNP or 

PNP to manage well child care. 

 

POLICY: 
1. This standardized procedure and those authorized to work through this standardized 

procedure will meet all guidelines as outlined in the General Policy for the Nurse 

Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife. 

2. This standardized procedure is designed to establish guidelines that will allow the PNP or 

FNP to perform health maintenance, health promotion and disease prevention activities 

which promote the physical, psychosocial and developmental well-being of children. 

3. Circumstances: 

a. Patient population:  neonatal and pediatric patients 

b. Settings:  Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and affiliated locations 

c. Supervision: Physicians indicated in the supervisory agreements for the NP  

 

PROCEDURE: 
1. Data Base 

a. Subjective 

i. Obtain complete histories on all first time patients; interval histories on 

subsequent visits. 

b. Objective 

i. See schedule of well child care. Gather and review information as 

indicated on periodicity schedule. 

2. Plan 

a. Diagnosis 

i. Well child 

ii. Acute illness 

iii. Current assessment of chronic illness 

b. Therapeutic regimen 

i. Diet as appropriate for age/nutritional status 

ii. Medications 

1. Vitamins/mineral supplements 

2. Immunizations as indicated 

3. Medication as indicated for chronic or acute illness 

iii. Activity/exercise as appropriate for age 

iv. Health education and anticipatory guidance related to developmental level 

v. Treatment of acute illness as indicated (see Management of Acute Illness 

Standardized Procedure). 

c. Consultation/referral 

i. Physician consult to be obtained under the following circumstances: 

1. Unexplained history, physical or laboratory finding 

1.2.Problem which is not resolving as anticipated 

Page 211 of 348

211



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 6/20/18 

 

Page 2 of 5 

2.3.Emergency conditions requiring prompt medical intervention 

3.4.Upon request of patient/family or supervising physician 

ii. Refer to specialist or other community resource as indicated. 

d. Follow-up 

i. According to well child schedule or sooner as indicated 

e. Record keeping 

i. Appropriate documentation to be maintained in patient’s chart. 

ii. Allergic reaction to vaccine 

3. Contraindications to immunization 

a. Pertussis is contraindicated in child with evolving neurological disorder (consult 

with physician first). 

b. Live virus vaccines contraindicated (consult with physician first): 

i. Patient with disorder of immune system 

ii. Household member of patient with disorder of immune system 

iii. Patient who received immune globulin in last 3 months 

iv. During pregnancy 

v. PPD should not be administered for 3 months following MMR 

3. For contraindications and precautions to immunization as stated in the vaccine package 

insert, consult with a physician before administration of vaccine. 

4. Management of anaphylactic reactions to immunizations includes but not limited to: 

a. Mild anaphylaxis involving skin (immediate): 

i. Pruritus, flush, urticaria, angioedema 

ii. Emergency treatment 

1. Maintain patient airway 

2. Benadryl IM in appropriate doses 

3. Administer antihistamine, albuterol, steroids, 1:1000 (aqueous) 

Epinephrine SQ or IM 0.01 ml/kg.  Repeat dose as indicated. 

Monitor vital signs 

4. Usual dose:  infants 0.05-0.10 ml, children 0.10-0.30 ml 

5. Consult with physician. 

b. Systemic – in addition to skin rash, rhinitis, redness, tearing of eyes, 

bronchospasm, laryngeal spasm, shock with cardiovascular collapse. 

i. Treatment: 

1. Maintain patient airway, administer CPR if necessary. 

2. Administer Epinephrine as outlined above. 

3. Refer to M.D. Call 911 

4. Report adverse reaction to local health department/manufacturer of 

vaccine. 

 

Approval Date 

Interdisciplinary Practice Committee 10/31/2019 

Perinatal/Pediatrics Committee 04/28/2020 

Medical Executive Committee 05/05/2020 

Page 212 of 348

212



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 6/20/18 

 

Page 3 of 5 

Board  of Directors  

Last Board of Directors Review 02/20/2019 

Developed:  

Reviewed: 

Revised: 05/2018 dp, 12/2018 dp, 04/2020 dp 

Supersedes:  

Index Listings: 

  

Page 213 of 348

213



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 6/20/18 

 

Page 4 of 5 

APPROVALS 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________  

Chairman, Interdisciplinary Practice Committee Date 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________ 

Administrator      Date 

 

 

_______________________________________  __________________________ 

Chief of Staff      Date 

 

 

_______________________________________ __________________________ 

President, Board of Directors    Date 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Page 214 of 348

214



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Procedure – Well Child Care Policy for the Nurse Practitioner 

Scope: Nurse Practitioner, Certified Nurse 

Midwife 

Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 6/20/18 

 

Page 5 of 5 

ATTACHMENT 1 – LIST OF AUTHORIZED NP’s or CNM’s 

 

 

1. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

2. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

3. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

4. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

5. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

6. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

7. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

8. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

9. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

10. _______________________________________              __________________________  

NAME                DATE 

 

 

Page 215 of 348

215



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Protocol – Well Child Care Policy for the Physician Assistant 

Scope: Physician Assistants Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 12/2012 

 

 1 

PURPOSE: 

1. This standardized protocol is designed to establish guidelines that will allow the Physician 

Assistant (PA) to manage well child care.  

 

POLICY: 

1.  This standardized protocol and those authorized to work through this standardized protocol will 

meet all guidelines as outlined in the General Policy for the Physician Assistant. 

2. Circumstances:  

a. Patient populations: neonatal and pediatric patients 

b. Setting: Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD) and affiliated locations 

c. Supervision: Physicians indicated in the Delegation of Services Agreement 

 

PROTOCOL: 

1. Definition: health maintenance, health promotion and disease prevention activities which 

promote the physical, psychosocial and developmental well-being of children.  Includes health 

assessments, appropriate laboratory tests, and disease prevention through immunizations, 

developmental screening, and health education. 

2. Data Base: 

a. Subjective: 

i. Obtain complete histories on all first time patients; interval histories on 

subsequent visits. 

b. Objective: 

i. See schedule of well child care. Gather and review information as indicated on 

periodicity schedule. 

i. See schedule of well child care. 

1. At each visit obtain vital signs, height, weight, HC, (under 1 years) plot on 

growth graph, hearing and vision tests (after 3 years). 

2. Perform complete physical exam. 

3. Perform appropriate development assessment. 

4. Assess parent-child interaction; social assessment. 

5. Laboratory testing as needed. 

3. Plan: 

a. Diagnosis: 

i. Well child 

ii. Acute illness 

iii. Current assessment of chronic illness 

b. Therapeutic regimen: 

i. Diet as appropriate for age/nutritional status 

Page 216 of 348

216



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Protocol – Well Child Care Policy for the Physician Assistant 

Scope: Physician Assistants Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 12/2012 

 

 2 

ii. Medications 

1. Vitamins/mineral supplements 

2. Immunizations as indicated 

3. Medication as indicated for chronic or acute illness 

iii. Activity/ exercise as appropriate for age 

iv. Health education and anticipatory guidance related to developmental level 

v. Treatment of acute illness as indicated (see Acute Illness Protocol). 

c. Physician consultation is to be obtained under the following circumstances: 

i. Emergent conditions requiring prompt medical intervention after the initial 

stabilizing care has been started. 

ii.  Acute decompensation of patient situation. 

iii.  Problem which is not resolving as anticipated. 

iv.  History, physical, or lab finding inconsistent with the clinical picture. 

v.  Upon request of patient, family, nurse, or supervising physician. 

d. Referral  

v.i. Refer to specialist or other community resource as indicated 

d.e. Follow-up 

i. According to well child schedule or sooner as indicated 

e.f. Record keeping 

i. Appropriate documentation to be maintained in patient’s chart. 

ii. Allergic reaction to vaccine 

4. For contraindications and precautions to immunization as stated in the vaccine package insert, 

consult with a physician before administration of vaccine. 

4. Contraindications to immunization 

a. Pertussis is contraindicated in child with evolving neurological disorder (consult with 

physician first). 

b. Live virus vaccines contraindicated (consult with physician first): 

i. Patient with disorder of immune system 

ii. Household member of patient with disorder of immune system 

iii. Patient who received immune globulin in last 3 months 

iv. During pregnancy 

v. PPD should not be administered for 3 months following MMR 

5. Management of anaphylactic reactions to immunizations includes but not limited to: 

a. Mild anaphylaxis involving skin (immediate): 

i. Pruritus, flush, urticaria, angioedema 

ii. Emergency treatment 

1. Maintain patient airway 

2. Benadryl IM in appropriate doses 

Formatted

Page 217 of 348

217



NORTHERN INYO HEALTHCARE DISTRICT 

POLICY AND PROCEDURE 

Title: Standardized Protocol – Well Child Care Policy for the Physician Assistant 

Scope: Physician Assistants Manual: Medical Staff 

Source: Medical Staff Support Manager Effective Date: 12/2012 

 

 3 

3. Administer antihistamine, albuterol, steroids, 1:1000 (aqueous) 

Epinephrine SQ or IM 0.01 ml/kg.  Repeat dose as indicated. Monitor vital 

signs. 

4. Usual dose: infants 0.05-0.10 ml, children 0.10-0.30 ml 

5. Consult with physician 

b. Systemic – in addition to skin rash, rhinitis, redness, tearing of eyes, bronchospasm, 

laryngeal spasm, shock with cardiovascular collapse. 

i. Treatment: 

1. Maintain patient airway, administer CPR if necessary. 

2. Administer Epinephrine as outlined above. 

3. Refer to M.D. Call 911 

4. Report adverse reaction to local health department/manufacturer of 

vaccine. 

 

REFERENCES: 
1. UpToDate-evidence-based, Physician-authorized clinical decision support resource 

 

ATTACHMENTS: 

1. List of Authorized Physician Assistants and Supervising Physicians 
 

Approval Date 

Interdisciplinary Practice Committee 10/31/2019 

Perinatal/Pediatrics Committee 04/28/2020 

Medical Executive Committee 05/05/2020 

Board of Directors  

Last Board of Directors Review 02/20/2019 

 

Developed:  

Reviewed: 

Revised: 12/2018 dp, 04/2019 dp 

Supersedes: Well Child Care Policy for the Rural Health Clinic Physician Assistant 

 

 

Page 218 of 348

218



 

Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff 

Clinical Privilege Request Form 
 

 
     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 

Please Print 

Family Medicine  1 

Rev.4/29/20 

Appointment cycle ________________ 

(Office use only) 

 

FAMILY MEDICINE 
Instructions: Please check box next to each core privilege/special privilege requested.   

 

INITIAL CRITERIA 

Education/Formal Training:  

 Completed accredited residency training in family medicine. 

 Board Certified/Board Eligible by the American Board of Family Medicine OR equivalent (AOA). 

 

OUTPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 

**Current BLS or ACLS required**  

 Assess, evaluate, stabilize and/or provide treatment to patients of any age who present to the outpatient environment with 

any illness, condition or symptom. 

 Evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult, and provide non-surgical treatment to a patient of any age.  

 

 

Primary Care 
 Incision and drainage of abscess, excluding peri-rectal 
 Allergy immunotherapy 
 Anoscopy 
 Arthrocentesis/joint injections 
 Incision and drainage of Bartholin’s cyst/abscess 
 Bladder catheterization 
 Burn management, 1st and 2nd degree 
 Aspiration of breast cyst 
 Application of cast/splint 
 Cancer chemotherapy(in consultation with oncologist) 
 Cerumen impaction removal 
 Cervical dilation (mechanical) 
 Removal of cervical polyps, simple 
 Circumcision with clamp, pediatric only 
 Colposcopy, with or without cervical biopsy 
 Cryotherapy, skin 
 Cryotherapy, cervix 
 Dermoscopy 
 Endometrial biopsy 
 

 
Foreign body removal (skin, superficial 

corneal/conjunctival, nose and ear) 
 Ganglion cyst aspiration/injection 
 Incision of thrombosed external hemorrhoid, simple 

 Insertion/removal of implanted contraceptive device 

(eg, Nexplanon) 
 Insertion/removal of intrauterine device (IUD) 
 Laceration repair, simple  
 Lumbar puncture 

 

Primary Care (continued) 

 

 
 

Microscopic examination  (urine, vaginal wet mount 

and skin preparations) – Provider Performed 

Microscopy (PPM) competency required 
 Nail removal 
 Paracervical block 
 Pessary placement 
 Digital nerve/ring block anesthesia 
 Skin biopsy (excisional, shave, or punch) 
 Soft tissue injections/trigger point injections 
 Drainage of subungual hematoma 
 Tonometry 
 Tympanometry 
 Application of Unna paste boot 
 Vasectomy 
 Uncomplicated wound debridement 

 

Obstetrics/Gynecology 
 Endocervical curettage 
 Vulvar/vaginal biopsy 
 Saline infusion hysterosonography 

 

Physical Examinations 
 Pre-employment physicals 

 
 

Commercial driving medical exams (DOT Medical 

Examiner’s Certificate required) 
 Disability evaluations 

 
 

Independent medical evaluations (Workman’s 

Compensation) 
 Return to work evaluations 

 

ADULT INPATIENT CORE PRIVILEGES 
Requires inpatient experience within the last 2 years, current ACLS certification, and recommendation by Hospitalist Director. 

 

 Admit, evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult and provide nonsurgical treatment to adult patients presenting with 

general medical problems. 

 Admit, evaluate, diagnose, perform H&P, consult and provide nonsurgical treatment to adult patients presenting with 

critical illnesses, needing ICU care. 

 Ventilator management. 

  
 

Page 219 of 348

219



 

Northern Inyo Hospital Medical Staff 

Clinical Privilege Request Form 
 

 
     Practitioner Name: ________________________________________________________     Date: _________________ 

Please Print 

Family Medicine  2 

Rev.4/29/20 

Appointment cycle ________________ 

(Office use only) 

SPECIAL PRIVILEGES 

All require experience within last 2 years 

 
 

Well newborn care/admit to nursery (NRP required, 

STABLE preferred; approval by Chief of Pediatrics) 

 
 

 

Pediatric consultation and admission (advanced 

experience managing peds/newborns; PALS & NRP 

required; approval by Chief of Pediatrics) 

 
 

Conscious sedation (requires tutorial and current 

ACLS certificate per Procedural Sedation policy) 

 Surgical first assist (approval by Chief of Surgery) 

 Advanced wound care (approval by Chief of Med.) 
 

Special Privileges in Obstetrics: require experience in last 

2 years and recommendation by Chief of OB/GYN 

 Vaginal delivery; spontaneous 
 Vacuum-assisted vaginal delivery 

 
 

Episiotomy and repair of vaginal lacerations (1st and 

2nd degree only; 3rd/4th degree must consult OB) 
 Manual extraction of the placenta 
 FSE application/IUPC insertion 
 Induction of labor/cervical ripening 
 Abdominal/transvaginal OB/GYN ultrasonography 

 

 

Acknowledgment of Practitioner: 

I have requested only those privileges for which by education, training, health status, current experience and 

demonstrated performance I am qualified to perform and for which I wish to exercise and I understand that: 
 

(a) In exercising any clinical privileges granted, I am constrained by any Medical Staff Bylaws, Rules and 

Regulations, and policies and procedures applicable. 

(b) Any restriction on the clinical privileges granted to me is waived in an emergency situation and in such situation 

my actions are governed by the applicable section of the Medical Staff Bylaws or related documents. 
 

 

_____________________________________________________________________          __________________ 

Practitioner Signature                         Date 

 

APPROVALS 

COMMENTS/MODIFICATIONS TO REQUESTED PRIVILEGES: 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

RHC/Outpatient Clinic Medical Director               Date 

 

____________________________________________ 

Chief of Medicine                                                   Date 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

Chief of Pediatrics                                                   Date 

 

 

____________________________________________ 

Chief of Surgery                                                     Date 

 

 

_____________________________________________ 

Chief of Obstetrics                                                  Date 

 

 

____________________________________________ 

Hospitalist Director                                                 Date 

 

 

Approvals Committee Date 

Credentials Committee  

Medical Executive Committee  

Board of Directors  

(Office use only) 

 

Page 220 of 348

220



Page 221 of 348

221



Page 222 of 348

222



Page 223 of 348

223



Page 224 of 348

224



NIHD Board of Directors  

Chief Nursing Officer Report 

5/20/2020 

Education:   

Congratulations to Jennifer Cozen RN who just completed her BSN from Western Governor’s University. 

 

Case Management & Hospital Social Work:  Melanie Fox, BSN-RN & Heather Edwall, LCSW 

 COVID-19: 

 We are surviving Coronavirus without patient overflow.  YEAH TEAM!!!!!  😃  😃  😃 

 Have heard good feedback from staff about their confidence in our management's early decisions to get 

prepared. 

 SW is set up to work remotely if necessary and can now conduct patient services via telehealth. 

Next Steps:  We are going to get SW position ready for Billable work in case this need arises in the future 

through RHC -- could be a good opportunity to recoup some money and to be more flexible in 

providing services when/where needed. 

PATIENT CARE: 

 SW conducted 82 total visits/referrals with patients:  35 contacts were made for mental health 

reasons and 5 (combined) CPS/APS reports were made.  Dee Booth is generating a new report in IT, 

which will tally Substance Abuse visits for our next 2-month report. 

 RN CM continues to see all other patients to ensure safe discharge including outside resources when 

necessary (Pioneer Home Health, Bishop Care Center, Southern Inyo, etc.). 

 One adoption was completed at NIH, with a loving family found in Nevada for one of our clinic patients 

who had been hoping to have this outcome for her baby.  😃 

 One full-term infant died of birth complications, and extended services have been offered to the grieving 

family.  😞  Dr. Arndal has bonded tightly with the mom and they are doing some of their healing 

process together.  A debriefing was held for staff and it was noted how special it was that we arranged to 

have the baby brought back to Bishop (from a Fresno NICU) for end-of-life with both parents. 

RESOURCE DATABASE: 

 We now have 200+ entries in the online Resource Database, including internal NIH phone list, all local 

churches, and 2 commonly used recent compilations.  All staff have read-only privileges (most don't 

know this yet though). 

Next Steps:  ICU Staff is graciously helping with data entry, and all staff can expect an official rollout 

email and training on search features, hopefully in the next 2 months and/or when we have about 400 

entries.  Staff will be asked for their suggestions via email to resources@nih.org, and can continue to notify list 

admins about changes, etc. by emailing this address in the future. 

TRAINING: 

Page 225 of 348

225

mailto:resources@nih.org


 SW completed Postpartum International's in-person 2-day training on perinatal mood disorders with 

members of RHC, Inyo County, etc. 

 SW also completed AAP's online Trauma & Resilience training with members of the RHC Pediatrics 

team. 

Next Steps:  There is a "Part II" of the Resilience training which SW, Dr. Helvie; et al. may soon participate in. 

 

COMMUNITY INVOLVEMENT: 

 SW continues to participate in Inyo County's Tobacco Prevention efforts as time permits.  This has 

become especially important for the long-term health of our patients with the COVID outbreak, as 

smoking and vaping have been named as complicating factors, which make some individuals susceptible 

to more serious respiratory illness and poor outcomes. 

ADMINISTRATIVE: 

 A template was approved between the RHC Care Coordination team & inpatient social services to 

improve communication/notes from the daily IDT meeting without the need for daily phone calls, 

especially now that staff is furloughing, the Care team is working from home and people are harder to 

locate. 

 The "Joint ROI" between Inyo County and NIHD (including substance abuse/MAT and mental health 

services) finally passed the Forms Committee!  It is being translated into Spanish and other 

"common collaborator" agencies (IMACA, Wild Iris, local school districts, etc.) have been asked if their 

legal teams can also approve and use this form to simplify our patients' experience. 

 RN CM continues to write appeals as necessary in collaboration with Billing department and physicians. 

MISCELLANEOUS: 

 RN CM was NIHD's Employee of the Month! 

 SW is now an approved driver for the Care Shuttle. 

 RN CM leaves early when possible and SW is furloughing one day per week to help with hospital 

finances. 

Emergency Department & Disaster Management:  Allison Partridge-DON, MSN-RN, Gina Riesche-

Manager, BSN-RN and Jenny Bates-Assistant Nurse Manager, MNE-RN: 

1. We have been concentrating on COVID-19 and have created workflows, processes and procedures to 

accommodate COVID-19 patients in the ED.   

2. “Big Room” was set up for the surge, however has been decommissioned recently. Reopening of the Big 

Room, if a COVID-19 surge arrives, will required approximately 4 hours.  

3.  ED leadership has been attending the county Emergency Operation Command (EOC) meetings to assure 

NIHD has a voice in decisions and is able to update Inyo County on what has been happening at the district. 

3. ED started a 16-week ED orientation program for RNs new to ED nursing. Currently we have 1 RN (Abby 

Don) in the program. The feedback has been positive from the preceptors and orientee. 

4. ED RNs are currently working on the Beta- Quest for Zero: Excellence in the Emergency Department. The 

indicator we are working on is Personal Proficiency Module on Triage and validating with audits of 

Page 226 of 348

226



documentation. This provides the RNs feedback and review for educational purposes. (This also provides a 

discount for malpractice insurance). 

Acute/Subacute & Intensive Care Unit:  Allison Partridge-DON, MSN-RN,  Justin Nott-Manager, BSN-

RN & Brooklyn Burley-Assistant Nurse Manager, RN: 

Congratulations to Brooklyn Burley, who is the new Assistant Nurse Manager for Acute/Subacute & ICU. 

We are pleased that Jenna Atha, BSN-RN, took on the role of ICU Clinical Staff Educator (CSE) and Brent 

Obinger, RN is CSE for Acute/Subacute unit. 

Projects in process: 

- Improving wound discharge photos, a best practice related to care of patients with wound. 

1) Audits to assure a wound photo is taken on day of discharge from hospital. 

2) Adding workflow education for staff to Daily Morning Huddle  

3) Proving a space for staff to add their barriers/solution to allow for changes in process to lead to staff 

success in meeting this standard. 

- Improving medication ordering process for Swing Bed Patients; such that all medications ordered by 

provider have medical reason (diagnosis) associated with medication order.  This information is required 

on the Medication Administration Record (MAR) for all patients on Swing Status.  

1) Adding to daily check list for staff  

2) Spot check swing patient’s charts to assure this standard is being met. 

- Pain Audits to determine that patients have pain reassessed per policy.  New time-frame implanted and 

staff was educated.  Audits will determine if staff are following the new standard. 

1) Auditing charts 

2) Educating staff 

- Proning Education- utilized to treat COVID-19 patients, increases survival rate.  Involves rolling 

patients onto their abdomen while on ventilators.  This takes coordination of 5-7 team members in the 

proning process.  Hands-on training is starting.  Competency plan is established. 

1)  Working with Alison/Brent to educate staff  

- Insulin Project  

1) Meetings of task force team to review industry best practices and establish plan.   

2) Creating Policy to reflect best practices 

3) Working with medical staff to develop Computerized Physician Order Entry (CPOE) order set for 

insulin orders. 

- Alarm safety/fatigue Project Team 

1) Meetings planned to review patient care equipment with alarms.   

2) Will review current policy and procedure related to clinical alarms. 

3) Project team is multidisciplinary. 

- Staying prepared to reopen Respiratory Care Unit (RCU) if needed  

1) RCU was open and staff cared for COVID-19 positive and suspected patients in this area 

2) Decommissioned this area, turning it back into the ICU. 

3) Able to reopen the RCU in approximately 2 hours if COVID-19 surge occurs. 

 

Perinatal Services: Allison Partridge-DON, MSN-RN: 

 

We are pleased to welcome Julie Tillemans, BSN-RN, to the role of Perinatal Manager.  She will begin her new 

job on June 7, 2020. 

 

Lindsay Donahue, BSN-RN, has accepted the role of Perinatal Clinical Staff Educator to begin June 7, 2020. 

 

Page 227 of 348

227



Perinatal Process Improvement for “Crash Caesarean Section” emergencies has been in full swing.  This 

collaborative process has involved the perinatal team, including Obstetricians and Surgery staff.  C/Section 

trays have been labeled and perinatal nursing staff and house supervisors are educated to respond rapidly in 

emergencies to save moms and newborns.  

Perinatal staff (Obstetricians and RN staff) completed education using the Gnosis program includes advanced 

review of fetal heart monitoring.  This earns decreased cost for malpractice insurance from Beta Health, while 

refreshing skills in this important fetal monitoring process. 

NEST program:  Data listed below on the number of visits in the various programs within the NEST.  This 

program brings in minimal revenue.  Grant money from First Five provides approximately $23,000 for supplies 

and education materials or tuition coverage.  The grant ends June 30, 2021.  Review of this program relative to 

fiscal costs are in process currently.  Newborn visits in the NEST are not reimbursable.  These same visits in the 

clinics (pediatric or family practice) are billable.  More information will be available to the board in the future. 

 

 

Pre-operative, Post Anesthesia Care Unit (PACU) and Infusion:  Ann Wagoner-DON, BSN-RN &  Nicole 

Eddy-Manager, BSN-RN: 

COVID-19 safety plan affected this team with greatly reduced numbers of surgeries.  They continued to provide 

emergencies surgeries until April 20 when the operational status of the district upgraded to limited services.  

They are seeing increasing number of surgeries over the past two weeks. 

Surgeries are scheduled thoughtfully and processes are in place to assure the safety of the patients and the staff.  

Staff interview patients via telephone for any COVID-19 symptoms.  Testing of all patients preoperatively for 

COVID-19 via nasal swab collection is standard practice.   

Infusion and Wound Care patients are also being screen via telephone prior to appointments. 

Collaboration with NIHD Lab partners and RHC team have been on going.  The testing process for COVID-19 

pre-procedure is via the RHC Drive up Clinic.  For the future, consideration to use of the Drive up lab service is 

in process. 

Perioperative Director of Nursing, Ann Wagoner, has reviewed and updated approximately 1/3rd of the policies 

& procedures from her department. 

Operative and Sterile Processing Units:  Ann Wagoner-DON, BSN-RN & Jullie Allen-Manager, RN: 

Surgery team has participated in the Cesarean Section project with perinatal team.  They have structured the 

process for ability to rapidly open sterile trays and turn on required equipment in an emergency. 

Page 228 of 348

228



Surgery team has worked to review surgical supplies during the “emergency only” operational period.  They are 

hoping to reduce district supply costs because of this process.  They have done a deep dive into expiration dates 

as well.  This process helps to prepare for the upcoming inventory process. 

Sterile processing team has worked to develop a reprocessing (cleaning) for N95 respirators.  This process 

decontaminates the used N95 mask, which is returned to the original user.  The N95 mask may be reprocessed 

up to 10 times in the hydrogen peroxide cleaner.  A task team developed the standard workflow for this process 

and sent out education to the NIHD team. 

Quality and Informatics:  Robin Christensen-Manager, BSN-RN: 

This team welcomed Michelle Garcia as their new Performance Improvement/Quality Analyst.  Michelle will 

be taking over the Unusual Occurrence Reporting (UOR) program for NIHD.  This program, ComplyTrack, was 

built by Patty Dickson and is now ready to be handed off to Michelle. 

Inpatient Quality Reporting was completed.  This is mandatory reporting to CMS.  It is part of meaningful use. 

Outpatient Quality Reporting is not required, however NIHD elects to do this reporting for potential grants in 

the future.  This information gives us data that allows us to compare to other facilities on outpatient services. 

Derrick Lawrence, BSN-RN, recently completed emergency Department Transitional Care (EDTC) report with 

help from Gina Riesche, BNS-RN.  This information ends up on hospital compare.  We have recently improved 

our numbers, which reflects excellent care in the ED. 

Parkinson’s report is a mandated report required quarterly and filed via Cal REDDI system.  Michelle Garcia 

completes this report on behalf of the clinic and hospital provider staff. 

PRIME Report requires input from the entire Quality Team.  This is reporting data now from both the clinics 

and the hospital patient populations.  It reflects antibiotic stewardship process.   

Infection Prevention and Employee Health:  Robin Christensen-Manager, BSN-RN, Colleen Moxley, 

BSN-RN & Marcia Male, MNE-RN: 

Safe Injection Practice is a safety process that is supported by Centers for Disease Control (CDC) over the past 

year.  Robin Christensen has developed a teaching program and utilized this for all new nursing staff during 

orientation.  “One needle, One syringe, One Patient, One time!” 

Robin Christensen and Colleen Moxley have been busy calling patients with COVID-19 test results.  Results 

are called to patients every day (including weekends), for best customer service.  Robin & Colleen help our 

patients to better understand “what to do” when they give out results.  They have interfaced with Drs. Brown, 

Timbers and Richardson making decisions on when patients may come out of isolation and return to work. 

Robin Christensen, Infection Preventionist, has the final say on many decisions and workflows related to 

COVID and infection control.  She has been involved in task force teams as well for the COVID Incident 

Command.  She has worked closely with the Incident Command and our medical providers during this 

pandemic. 

Employee Health Specialist, Marcia Male, continues to work on updating the employee health files.  She is 

working to assure all staff have documented series of hepatitis B vaccinations.  She is also updating the titers for 

measles, mumps, rubella and chickenpox for staff who never had these tests completed.   

Respectfully Submitted, 

Tracy Aspel, BSN, RN 

Page 229 of 348

229



Page 230 of 348

230



Page 231 of 348

231



Page 232 of 348

232



Page 233 of 348

233



Page 234 of 348

234



Page 235 of 348

235



Page 236 of 348

236



Page 237 of 348

237



Page 238 of 348

238



Page 239 of 348

239



Page 240 of 348

240



Page 241 of 348

241



Page 242 of 348

242



Page 243 of 348

243



Page 244 of 348

244



Page 245 of 348

245



Page 246 of 348

246



Page 247 of 348

247



Page 248 of 348

248



Page 249 of 348

249



Page 250 of 348

250



Page 251 of 348

251



Page 252 of 348

252



Page 253 of 348

253



Page 254 of 348

254



Page 255 of 348

255



Page 256 of 348

256



Page 257 of 348

257



Page 258 of 348

258



Page 259 of 348

259



Page 260 of 348

260



Page 261 of 348

261



Page 262 of 348

262



Page 263 of 348

263



Page 264 of 348

264



Page 265 of 348

265



Page 266 of 348

266



Page 267 of 348

267



Page 268 of 348

268



Page 269 of 348

269



Page 270 of 348

270



Page 271 of 348

271



Page 272 of 348

272



Page 273 of 348

273



Page 274 of 348

274



Page 275 of 348

275



Page 276 of 348

276



Page 277 of 348

277



Page 278 of 348

278



Page 279 of 348

279



Page 280 of 348

280



Page 281 of 348

281



Page 282 of 348

282



Page 283 of 348

283



Page 284 of 348

284



Page 285 of 348

285



Page 286 of 348

286



Page 287 of 348

287



Page 288 of 348

288



Page 289 of 348

289



Page 290 of 348

290



Page 291 of 348

291



Page 292 of 348

292



Page 293 of 348

293



Page 294 of 348

294



Page 295 of 348

295



Page 296 of 348

296



Page 297 of 348

297



Page 298 of 348

298



Page 299 of 348

299



Page 300 of 348

300



Page 301 of 348

301



Page 302 of 348

302



Page 303 of 348

303



Page 304 of 348

304



Page 305 of 348

305



Page 306 of 348

306



Page 307 of 348

307



Page 308 of 348

308



Page 309 of 348

309



Page 310 of 348

310



Page 311 of 348

311



Page 312 of 348

312



Page 313 of 348

313



1 
 

NURSING DEPARTMENT POLICY AND PROCEDURE ANNUAL APPROVALS, MAY 2020 
 
Infection Control: 
 

 

 

Page 314 of 348

314



2 
 

 
 
 
 

Page 315 of 348

315



 

 
Medical Staff Services 

 

Dev. 2/17  

 

Department: Medical Staff Administration 

Pillars of Excellence: FY July 1, 2019-June 30, 2020 

3rd quarter 

                 

   Apr-Jun 
2019 

Jul-Sep 
2019 

Oct-Dec 
2019 

Jan-Mar 
2020 

 

Indicator Baseline Goal Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 YTD 

Service 

1. Customer satisfaction  

a. Average Credentialing TAT (from 
receipt of complete application) 

10 days <21 days 7 d 19 d 34 d 26 d 20 d 

b. Average Privileging TAT (from 
receipt of complete application) 

36 days <60 days 42 d 35 d 83 d 47 d 48 d 

c. Percent on-time start 80% 100% 100% 100% 80% 100% 97% 

2. Application times  

a. Average time for any application 
materials to be returned 

18 days <14 days 14 d 20 d 49 d 18 d 22 d 

b. Average time for complete 
application to be returned 

32 days <45 days 33 d 69 d 83 d 56 d 58 d 

Quality 

1. Credentialing/Privileging  

a. Percent processed within time 
frame specified in bylaws 

97% 100% 100% 100% 100% 88% 97% 

b. Percent of applicants granted 
temporary/expedited privileges 

37% <33% 33% 67% 0% 63% 45% 

People 

1. Active Staff 42 N/A 42 40 41 41  

2. All Medical Staff Members and Allied 
Health Professionals (+ tele) 

108 N/A 108 110 114 113  

3. Locums/Temporary Staff 12 N/A 12 10 6 6  

4. Resignations 5 N/A 5 8 9 0  

Finance 

1. Total initial applications processed  35/year N/A 9 9 5 8 31 

2. Number of initial locum tenens 
applications  

14/year N/A 4 3 0 4 11 

3. Number of initial applications 
abandoned/discontinued 

9/year N/A 4 0 0 4 8 

 

 

 

 

 

 

LEGEND 

 Exceeds goal; 100% 

 Meets goal 

 Close to goal 

 Does not meet goal 

Page 316 of 348

316



 

 
Medical Staff Services 

 

Dev. 2/17  

 

Q3: FY 2020 

Narrative Notes: 

The medical staff office was able to improve its performance on its Service pillars of excellence in Q3 by dedicating 
additional time and resources towards the higher demands of credentialing.  
 
One out of the eight applications this quarter was not processed in the timeframe specified in the bylaws, resulting in a 
score of 88% in this category. This was due to the applicant’s refusal to submit billing-related information, which delayed 
his application and was outside the control of the Medical Staff Office. 
 
Lastly, this quarter saw a higher percentage of expedited privileges granted (3 locum tenens surgeons to urgently cover 
Dr. Allison Robinson’s practice, 1 urologist and 1 surgical oncologist for urgent patient care needs).  
 

Dianne Picken, MS 

Medical Staff Support Manager 

4/17/2020 

Page 317 of 348

317



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                          April 2, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 1 of 3  

      

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:32 pm by Jean Turner, District Board 

Chair. 

 

PRESENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ABSENT 

 

 

Jean Turner, Chair   

Robert Sharp, Vice Chair 

Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 

Topah Spoonhunter, Member-At-Large 

Kelli Davis MBA, Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating   

     Officer 

John Tremble, Chief Financial Officer (via WebEx) 

Tracy Aspel RN, BSN, Chief Nursing Officer 

Will Timbers MD, Interim Chief Medical Officer 

Stacey Brown MD, Chief of Staff 

 

Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

 

 

REQUEST FOR CMS 

ADVANCED 

PAYMENTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPOINTMENT OF 

GENERAL COUNSEL 

 

 

 

 

Ms. Turner stated at this time persons in the audience may speak only on 

items listed on the Notice for this meeting, and speakers will be limited to 

a maximum of three minutes each.  Comments were heard from John 

Ungersma MD on the agenda item regarding approval of a contract for 

General Counsel legal services. 

 

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble called attention to a Covid-19 

Medicare cash advance opportunity created in response to financial 

challenges incurred as a result of the Coronavirus pandemic.  Mr. Tremble 

requested Board authorization to apply for the maximum cash advance 

available to Northern Inyo Healthcare District (NIHD), noting that the 

advance will need to be repaid in one year in order to avoid being charged 

an interest rate of 10.25%.  Any cash advance monies received will be 

deposited into NIHD’s Local Agency Investment Fund (LAIF), and they 

will not be accessed unless absolutely necessary.  It was moved by Jody 

Veenker, seconded by Robert Sharp, and unanimously passed to approve 

NIHD requesting the maximum cash advance available from the Centers 

for Medicare and Medicaid Services (CMS), including an amendment that 

the Chief Executive Officer and the Board of Directors will receive a 

detailed accounting of the handling of all funds received.  Mr. Tremble 

noted that the cash advance will change the District’s year-end Balance 

Sheet in terms of the value of Current Assets and Current Liabilities. 

 

Ms. Turner called attention to a proposed agreement for Legal Services 

with the law firm of Jones & Mayer, noting that the firm would not 

replace current Healthcare District legal counsel, but will provide 

additional general counsel services.  The proposed agreement was 

developed as a result of a lengthy publishing of a Request For Proposal 

(RFP) for Legal Services, which was both advertised and also  

Page 318 of 348

318



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                          April 2, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 2 of 3  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURMENT TO 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

 

 

RETURN TO OPEN 

SESSION AND REPORT 

OF ACTION TAKEN 

 

NIHD RURAL HEALTH 

CLINIC REBUILD 

UPDATE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

directly mailed to all local attorneys.  It was moved by Mr. Sharp, 

seconded by Ms. Veenker, and passed by a vote of 4 to 1 to approve a six 

month legal services contract with Jones & Mayer (from April 1 2020 to 

October 1 2020) with Director Mary Mae Kilpatrick voting “no” on this 

agenda item. 

 

At 6:05 pm Ms. Turner announced the meeting would adjourn to Closed 

Session to allow for: 

- Discussion of a real estate negotiation regarding possible 

purchase, sale, or lease of property at 153 Pioneer Lane, Bishop, 

California (pursuant to government Code Section 54956.8). 

 

At 6:51 pm the meeting returned to Open Session.  Ms. Turner reported 

the Board took no reportable action. 

 

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble provided an overview and update 

on the proposed NIHD Rural Health Clinic (RHC) Opportunity Zone 

Replacement Project, which included the following: 

- A financial analysis of the proposed project has revealed the 

overall cost to the District would be much higher than originally 

thought.  This is due to many factors including the financial 

economic impact of Covid 19; higher than expected real estate 

taxes; a rapid drop in mortgage and interest rates; and higher than 

anticipated construction costs. 

- Many unknowns still exist including Medicaid revenues and rates; 

land suitability; additional costs for temporary relocation of 

services; loss of rental revenue received from Pioneer Medical 

Associates; and possible street closing costs. 

- NIHD’s debt ratio would be affected by the project for a period of 

10 years 

- Parking challenges for clinic staff and patients are as yet 

unresolved 

- NIHD’s investment in new equipment would be substantially more 

than originally projected 

Following discussion of this agenda item a consensus was reached that the 

RHC rebuild project should continue to move forward, however an 

Opportunity Zone project is not in the District or investor Sam Walker’s 

best interest at this time.  NIHD plans to move forward with creating an 

architectural design for a new clinic, and will proceed to create a “shovel 

ready” project for the best future building opportunity that may arise.  It 

was noted that we expect to see an increased focus on healthcare in the 

upcoming years, and that potential building opportunities should be a 

reality.  Members of the Board thanked Mr. Walker for his support of the 

District and area residents, and for bringing the possibility of a new Rural 

Health Clinic close to reality.  The Board of Directors and Mr. Walker are 

both interested in identifying new opportunities for an RHC rebuild 

project in the future. 

Page 319 of 348

319



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                          April 2, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 3 of 3  

 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Ms. Turner again asked if any members of the public wished to comment 

on any items listed on the Notice for this meeting.  No comments were 

heard. 

 

The meeting adjourned at 7:32 pm. 

 

 

 

  

_________________________________ 

Jean Turner, Chair 

 

 

         Attest: _________________________________ 

                              Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Page 320 of 348

320



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                          April 6, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 1 of 1  

      

CALL TO ORDER The meeting was called to order at 4:00 pm by Jean Turner, District Board 

Chair. 

 

PRESENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
ABSENT 

 

 

Jean Turner, Chair   

Robert Sharp, Vice Chair 

Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 

Topah Spoonhunter, Member-At-Large 

Kelli Davis MBA, Interim Chief Executive Officer, Chief Operating  

   Officer 

Tracy Aspel RN, BSN, Chief Nursing Officer 

Will Timbers MD, Interim Chief Medical Officer 

John Tremble, Chief Financial Officer (via WebEx) 

Stacey Brown MD, Chief of Staff 
 

Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 
 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT TO 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

 

 

 

RETURN TO OPEN 

SESSION AND REPORT 

OF ACTION TAKEN 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Ms. Turner stated at this time persons in the audience may speak only on 

items listed on the Notice for this meeting, and speakers will be limited to 

a maximum of 3 minutes each. Comments in support of Chief Executive 

Officer Kevin S. Flanigan, MD, MBA were heard from the following: 

- Charlotte Helvie, MD 

- Robbin Cromer-Tyler, MD 

- Bo Loy, MD 

- Richard Meredick, MD (also on behalf of Kristen Meredick, MD) 

- Jennifer Figueroa, PA 

- Martha Kim, MD 

- Colleen McEvoy, PA 

- Stacey Brown, MD 
 

At 4:25 pm Ms. Turner announced the meeting would adjourn to Closed 

Session to allow the District Board of Directors to discuss: 

- Public Employee Performance Evaluation/Discipline/ 

Dismissal/Release (pursuant to Government Code Sections 

54954.5 and 54957(b)) title: Chief Executive Officer. 
 

At 8:50 pm the meeting returned to Open Session.  Ms. Turner reported 

following lengthy discussion the Board took no reportable action, pending 

further deliberation at next week’s meeting. 
 

Ms. Turner then expressed thanks to members of the community who 

have donated fabric masks for the use of Northern Inyo Healthcare 

District employees during the Covid-19 pandemic. 
 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:02 pm. 

 

 

 

 

_________________________________                              __________________________________ 

Jean Turner, Chair                                                 Attest:       Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Page 321 of 348

321



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 1 of 7 

      

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Jean Turner, District Board 

Chair. 

 

PRESENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ABSENT 

 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

FINANCIAL IMPACT OF 

COVID 19 ON NIHD 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Jean Turner, Chair 

Robert Sharp, Vice Chair   

Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 

Topah Spoonhunter, Member-At-Large 

Kelli Davis MBA, Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating  

      Officer 

Keith Collins, District Legal Counsel 

Participants via Zoom: 

Tracy Aspel RN, BSN, Chief Nursing Officer  

John Tremble, Chief Financial Officer  

Will Timbers, MD, Interim Chief Medical Officer  

Stacey Brown MD, Chief of Staff  

 

Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 

 

Ms. Turner stated that due to Covid 19 (Coronavirus) health concerns, the 

meeting has been made available for attendance via the Zoom platform 

and phone dial-in.  She stated at this time persons in the audience may 

speak on any items not on the agenda on any matter within the jurisdiction 

of the District Board.  Members of the audience will have an opportunity 

to address the Board on every item on the agenda, and speakers are 

limited to a maximum of three minutes each.  The Board is prohibited 

from generally discussing or taking action on items not included on the 

agenda for the meeting.  Public comments in support of Kevin S. Flanigan 

MD, MBA were heard from the following: 

- Tami Stottlemyre 

- Charlotte Helvie, MD 

- Kristin Meredick, MD 

- Jenni Figueroa, PA 

  

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble provided an overview of the 

financial effects of Covid 19 on Northern Inyo Healthcare District 

(NIHD).  Mr. Tremble’s report included the following: 

- Timeline of the Covid situation beginning March 12 2020 (patient 

cancellations begin) 

- March 21:  NIHD reduces to essential services only, drive-up 

Covid screening begins 

- March 27: Cares Act is signed, District volumes drop by 70% for 

most services 

- March 31: revenues for the month are $3 million less than budget 

- NIHD begins discussions on timeline for expansion of services 

beyond essential (potential reopening of non-essential services) 

Page 322 of 348

322



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 2 of 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PIONEER HOME 

HEALTH 5 YEAR 

ACTION PLAN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

EMERGENCY MUTUAL 

AID MEMORANDUM 

OF UNDERSTANDING 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

APPOINTMENT OF 

CHIEF MEDICAL 

OFFICER 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

- Operational expenses have declined slightly but not significantly 

- An overview was provided of the Cares Act; delay of  

sequestration cuts; a Medicare Cash Advance program; and other 

Federal help potentially available to NIHD.  It was reported that 

the District received $1,646,00 in grant funds with use 

requirements at the start of this week. 

- At the current pace, NIHD could possibly face a year-to-date net 

loss of up to $5.1 million 

 

Pioneer Home Health (PHH) Administrator Ruby Allen, RN presented a 

Five-year Action Plan for Responsible Growth and Financial Stability for 

Pioneer Home Health.  Ms. Allen’s presentation called attention to the 

following: 

- Pioneer Home Health referrals are increasing and patient volumes 

are currently up 

- Efforts are underway to educate the community on services 

available at PHH, in an effort to further increase volume 

- Fundraising and grant opportunities are being pursued as sources 

of additional revenue 

- Goals and future action plans include creating and implementing a 

disease management program  

- Projected revenues were provided through 2024, as well as 

monthly expense detail for the months of March and April 2020  

- Ms. Allen reported that PHH will not require additional financial 

support from NIHD for the next operating month 

 

Interim Chief Executive Officer Kelli Davis called attention to a 

Healthcare Coalition Emergency Mutual Aid Memorandum of 

Understanding (MOU) between NIHD; Mammoth Hospital; Southern 

Inyo Hospital; and Toiyabe Indian Health Project.  The proposed MOU is 

a voluntary agreement that allows area healthcare providers to reach out to 

each other and collaborate in the event of a community emergency or 

disaster, in order to meet the medical needs of area residents.  It was 

moved by Robert Sharp, seconded by Mary Mae Kilpatrick, and 

unanimously passed to approve the proposed Emergency Mutual Aid 

MOU between NIHD; Mammoth Hospital; Southern Inyo Hospital; and 

Toiyabe Indian Health Project as presented. 

 

Ms. Davis also reported that at the beginning of the Covid 19 healthcare 

crisis it became obvious that it would be beneficial to the District to 

appoint a Chief Medical Officer, in accordance with the Chief Medical 

Officer (CMO) job description previously approved by the District Board.  

Ms. Davis was pleased to report that Will Timbers MD has accepted the 

role of Interim CMO, and Stacey Brown MD has agreed to act as the 

NIHD Chief of Medical Staff, the position previously held by Dr. 

Timbers. The appointment of a CMO effectively brings a Medical Staff 

leadership presence to the Executive Suite during a time that such a 

presence is crucial to the effective operation of the District. 

Page 323 of 348

323



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 3 of 7 

 

IDENTITY THEFT RED 

FLAGS RULE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TEMPORARY 

FLOATING STAFF 

POLICY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

TEMPORARY 

TELECOMMUTING 

ASSIGNMENT POLICY 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SAFETY IN THE 

OPERATING ROOM 

POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE 

 

 

 

FINANCE 

DEPARTMENT POLICY 

AND PROCEDURE 

APPROVALS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble called attention to a proposed 

Identity Theft Red Flags Rule Policy and Procedure intended to assist in 

identifying, detecting, and mitigating the risk of identity theft for patients 

of Northern Inyo Hospital and its’ outpatient clinics.  It was moved by 

Mr. Sharp, seconded by Jody Veenker, and unanimously passed to 

approve the proposed Identity Theft Red Flags Rule Policy and Procedure 

as presented. 

 

HR Analyst-Labor Relations Specialist Alison Murray called attention to 

a proposed Temporary Floating Staff Policy and Procedure to identify the 

process for floating staff who do not have a workload in their routinely 

assigned (home) department due to Covid-19.  The policy is intended to 

decrease the need to low-census staff, and to float them to other 

departments where a need exists.  Ms. Murray noted that the District has 

worked closely with the American Federation of State, County, and 

Municipal Employees (AFSCME) to develop the proposed policy.  It was 

moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Ms. Veenker, and unanimously 

passed to approve the Temporary Floating Staff Policy and Procedure as 

presented. 

 

Ms. Murray also called attention to a Temporary Telecommuting 

Assignment Policy and Procedure being established to ensure the highest 

possible level of continuity of operations in light of the COVID-19 

(coronavirus) outbreak, while addressing health and safety concerns for 

employees.  Ms. Murray noted that the District has also worked in 

cooperation with the AFSCME union to establish the proposed policy.  It 

was moved by Ms. Veenker, seconded by Mr. Sharp, and unanimously 

passed to approve the Temporary Telecommuting Assignment Policy and 

Procedure as presented.  

 

Ms. Davis called attention to an updated Policy and Procedure titled 

Safety in the Operating Room, which identifies potential hazards 

associated with use of electrical equipment in the operating room.  It was 

moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Veenker, and unanimously passed 

to approve the Policy and Procedure titled Safety in the Operating Room 

as presented.   

 

Chief Financial Officer John Tremble called attention to minor updates 

made to the following District Wide Policies and Procedures: 

- Asset Control 

- Asset Management 

- Capitalization of Assets 

- Fixed Assets and Depreciation 

It was moved by Ms. Veenker, seconded by Topah Spoonhunter, and 

unanimously passed to approve all four updated Finance Department 

Policies and Procedures as presented. 

 

Page 324 of 348

324



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 4 of 7 

BUILDING 

SEPARATION 

CONSTRUCTION 

PROJECT UPDATE 

 

 

 

RHC BUILDING 

UPDATE 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CHIEF OF STAFF 

REPORT 

 

MEDICAL STAFF 

BYLAWS AMENDMENT 

 

 

POLICY AND 

PROCEDURE 

APPROVALS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

PHYSICIAN 

RECRUITMENT 

UPDATE 

 

 

NIHD Property Manager Scott Hooker reported the District has received 

approval from the Office of Statewide Healthcare Planning and 

Development (OSHPD) to continue work on the building separation 

project.  Colombo Construction is knowledgeable about following proper 

work practices during the Covid 19 pandemic, and they will be back 

onsite next week to resume work.   

 

Stacey Brown MD reported following a Special Board meeting on the 

subject of the NIHD Rural Health Clinic (RHC) rebuild project, a decision 

was made not to pursue the option of an Opportunity Zone building 

project at this time.  The District will move forward to prepare for a future 

rebuild of the RHC using a different mechanism, and will proceed to 

create a design for the new Clinic with the goal of having a shovel-ready 

project prepared for when future building opportunities arise. 

 

Doctor Brown also reported following careful review and consideration 

the Medical Executive Committee recommends approval of the following: 

- Medical Staff Bylaws Amendment for Disaster Privileging 

It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and 

unanimously passed to approve the proposed Medical Staff Bylaws 

Amendment for Disaster Privileging as requested. 

 

Doctor Brown also stated following careful review, consideration, and 

approval by the appropriate Committees the Medical Executive 

Committee recommends approval of the following District-wide Policies 

and Procedures: 

1. Credentialing Healthcare Practitioners in the Event of a Disaster 

2. Biological Monitoring System for Steam Sterilizers 

3. High-Level Disinfection of Equipment 

4. Steris System 1E Processor 

5. Manual Jet Ventilator 

6. Clinic Patient No=-Show, Missed Appointment, and Late 

Cancellation Policy 

7. OP Hospital No-Show, Missed Appointment, and Late 

Cancellation Policy 

He additionally stated that an eighth policy titled New Line of Service 

Implementation Policy and Procedure which was listed on the agenda for 

this meeting will be sent back to the Medical Executive Committee for 

further consideration prior to being approved by the District Board.  It 

was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Mr. Spoonhunter, and 

unanimously passed to approve Policies and Procedures 1 through 7 as 

presented.  

 

On the topic of physician recruitment Doctor Brown reported that 

pediatrician Lindsey Ricci MD is expected to come on board at NIHD in 

October, and that a general surgery candidate, a breast surgery candidate, 

and a family practice candidate are also actively engaged in recruitment 

discussions with District leadership.   

Page 325 of 348

325



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 5 of 7 

 

PREVIOUSLY TABLED 

ITEMS 

 

 

ANNUAL APPROVALS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RADIATION SAFETY 

POLICIES AND 

PROCEDURES 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Doctor Brown additionally called attention to the following items that 

were originally submitted for approval at the March 18 2020 Board of 

Directors meeting, and tabled for approval at this month’s meeting: 

 

Annual Approvals: 

1. Critical Indicators 

i. ICU 

ii. Medical Services 

iii. Perinatal 

It was moved by Ms. Veenker, seconded by Mr. Spoonhunter, and 

unanimously passed to approve all three Critical Indicators as requested. 

 

Doctor Brown also requested approval of the following District-wide 

policies and approvals: 

i. Plan to Eliminate or Substantially Reduce Medication-

Related Errors 

ii. Standardized Procedure – Emergency Care Policy for the 

Nurse Practitioner or Certified Nurse Midwife 

iii. Standardized Protocol – Emergency Care Policy for the 

Physician Assistant 

iv. Standardized Procedure – Medical Screening Examination 

for Obstetrical Patient 

v. Standardized Procedures for Medical Functions by RN in 

the Emergency Department 

It was moved by Ms. Kilpatrick, seconded by Mr. Sharp, and 

unanimously passed to approve Policies and Procedures 1 through 5 as 

presented. 

 

Doctor Brown also called attention to approval of the following Radiation 

Safety Policies and Procedures: 

i. ALARA Program 

ii. DI – Area Monitoring and Controls 

iii. DI – Radiation Protection for the Patient 

iv. DI – Reportable/Recordable Events in CT, Fluoroscopy and 

Nuclear Medicine 

v. DI CT Radiation Safety Policy 

vi. DI – Lead Apron/Protective Equipment Policy 

vii. Diagnostic Imaging – C-Arm (Fluoroscope) radiation Safety 

viii. Diagnostic Imaging – Disposal of Radioactive Sharps 

ix. Diagnostic Imaging – Handling of Radioactive Packages, Non-

nuclear medicine personnel 

x. Diagnostic Imaging – Nuclear Medicine New Employee/Annual 

Orientation 

xi. Diagnostic Imaging – Ordering Radioactive Materials 

xii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Hot Lab Security 

xiii. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Material Spills Procedure 

xiv. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Materials Deliver After-Hours 

Page 326 of 348

326



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 6 of 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CONSENT AGENDA 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BOARD MEMBER 

REPORTS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT TO 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

 

 

 

 

Policy/Procedure 

xv. Diagnostic Imaging – Radioactive Waste storage and Disposal 

xvi. Dosimetry Program – Occupational Radiation Exposure 

Monitoring Program 

xvii. Radiation Policy for Management of Patients with Excessive 

Exposure 

xviii. Radiation Safety Committee 

xix. Radiology Services Pregnant Personnel 

xx. Responsibilities and Duties of Radiation Safety Committee (RSC) 

It was moved by Ms. Veenker, seconded by Mr. Sharp, and unanimously 

passed to approve all 20 Radiation Safety Policies and Procedures as 

presented. 

 

Doctor Brown also reported that the RHC has seen a significant upswing 

in the number of telemedicine visits as part of the District’s efforts to 

ensure patient safety during the Covid 19 crisis. 

 

Ms. Turner called attention to the Consent Agenda for this meeting which 

contained the following items: 

- Approval of minutes of the March 18 2020 regular meeting 

- Financial and statistical reports as of February 2020 

- Policy and Procedure annual approvals 

It was moved by Mr. Sharp, seconded by Mr. Spoonhunter, and 

unanimously passed to approve all three Consent Agenda items, with a 

correction being made to the minutes of the March 18 regular meeting. 

 

Ms. Turner asked if any members of the District Board of Directors 

wished to comment on any items of interest.  Directors Kilpatrick and 

Turner praised the recent employee Town Hall meeting held to provide 

Covid 19 information and updates.  Ms. Veenker expressed kudos to 

NIHD staff on behalf of Covid 19-positive patients in this community, 

and for all they do in the interest of maintaining the health of area 

residents.  Director Kilpatrick also praised NIHD’s infection prevention 

achievements and efforts during this time of healthcare crisis, and 

complimented District staff as a whole on their diligent work.  Director 

Spoonhunter expressed thanks to all District staff and physicians, and 

praised the efforts of the entire Northern Inyo Healthcare District team 

during the Covid 19 crisis.  Mr. Sharp also stated he has received 

extremely positive feedback on the subject of telemedicine visits at the 

NIHD Rural Health Clinic. 

 

At 6:50 pm Ms. Turner reported the meeting would adjourn to Closed 

Session to allow the District Board of Directors to: 

A. Confer with Legal Counsel regarding threatened litigation, 1 

matter pending (pursuant to Government Code Section 

54956.9(d)(2)). 

B. Conference with Legal Counsel regarding existing litigation, Inyo 

County Local Agency Formation Commission and Northern Inyo 

Page 327 of 348

327



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 15, 2020 

Regular Meeting                       Page 7 of 7 

 

 

 

 

 

 

RETURN TO OPEN 

SESSION AND REPORT 

OF ACTION TAKEN 

 

CHANGE OF 

AUTHORIZED 

ADMINISTRATORS ON 

DISTRICT ACCOUNTS 

HELD AT UNION BANK 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ADDITIONAL BOARD 

MEMBER REPORTS 

 

 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

Healthcare District v. Southern Mono Healthcare District 

(pursuant to Government Code Section 54956.9). 

C. Public Employee Performance Evaluation (Government Code 

Section 54957(b)) title: Chief Executive Officer. 

D. Public Employee Performance Evaluation (Government Code 

Section 54957(b)) title: Chief Financial Officer. 

 

At 9:25 pm the meeting returned to Open Session.  Ms. Turner reported 

the Board took no reportable action. 

 

District Legal Counsel Keith Collins then stated the District Board is 

allowed to add an agenda item if it is determined that an immediate need 

to take action has arisen following the posting of the agenda for the 

meeting.  He additionally stated that the NIHD Board has determined that 

an immediate need exists to authorize a change of authorized 

administrators on the Northern Inyo Healthcare District bank accounts 

held at Union Bank to be NIHD Interim Chief Executive Officer Kelli 

Davis, and NIHD Controller Genifer Owens.  It was first moved by Ms. 

Veenker, seconded by Mr. Spoonhunter, and unanimously passed to add 

the agenda item due to an immediate need to act regarding authorizing a 

change of authorized administrators on District accounts held at Union 

Bank.  Following the addition of that agenda item, it was moved by Ms. 

Veenker, seconded by Ms. Kilpatrick, and unanimously passed to approve 

the change of authorized administrators on District accounts held at Union 

Bank to be NIHD Interim Chief Executive Officer Kelli Davis and NIHD 

Controller Genifer Owens. 

 

Directors Sharp and Turner again expressed thanks to all essential 

healthcare workers and staff at Northern Inyo Healthcare District.  Mr. 

Sharp also thanked those individuals in the community who have donated 

fabric masks to the District for the use of employees and patients.  He 

additionally asked that the meeting be adjourned in honor of all NIHD 

employees and physicians. 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 9:29 pm. 

 

  

  

  

_________________________________ 

Jean Turner, Chair 

 

 

 

         Attest: _________________________________ 

                              Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Page 328 of 348

328



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 28, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 1 of 2  

      

 

CALL TO ORDER 

 

The meeting was called to order at 5:30 pm by Jean Turner, Chair. 

 

PRESENT 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

ABSENT 

 

 

Jean Turner, Chair   

Robert Sharp, Vice Chair 

Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Mary Mae Kilpatrick, Treasurer 

Topah Spoonhunter, Member-At-Large 

Kelli Davis, MBA, Interim Chief Executive Officer and Chief Operating  

   Officer 

Tracy Aspel RN, BSN, Chief Nursing Officer (via Zoom) 

Will Timbers MD, Interim Chief Medical Officer (via Zoom) 

Stacey Brown MD, Chief of Staff 

Keith Collins, General Legal Counsel 

 

Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA, Chief Executive Officer 

 

 

OPPORTUNITY FOR 

PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT TO 

CLOSED SESSION 

 

 

 

RETURN TO OPEN 

SESSION AND REPORT 

OF ACTION TAKEN 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

GOVERNANCE 

ASSESSMENT AND 

UPDATE 

 

 

 

 

 

Ms. Turner stated at this time persons in the audience may speak only on 

items listed on the Notice for this meeting, and speakers will be limited to 

a maximum of 3 minutes each. Comments were heard from Chief of Staff 

Stacey Brown, MD. 

 

At 5:37 pm Ms. Turner reported the meeting would adjourn to Closed 

Session to allow the District Board of Directors to discuss: 

- Public Employee Performance Evaluation (Government Code 

Section 54957(b)) title: Chief Executive Officer 

 

At 6:46 pm the meeting returned to Open Session.  Ms. Turner reported 

the District Board of Directors voted 5 to 0 to terminate the contract of 

Chief Executive Officer Kevin S. Flanigan MD, MBA pursuant to his 

Employment Agreement, without cause, effective May 4 2020.  Ms. 

Turner stated the District wished to clarify that any reports that alleged 

that Dr. Flanigan was accused of embezzlement are false and untrue.  The 

investigation that was conducted focused on financial and operational 

issues, and was never about embezzlement.  The District will be moving 

in a new direction and wishes Dr. Flanigan the best in his future 

endeavors.  

 

Ms. Turner also reported the Board will continue to work with Jim Rice 

with Gallagher Associates on governance assessment and education, and 

will schedule a Zoom meeting with him in the near future.  Mr. Rice will 

contact the District Board in the near future regarding completion of a 

Board of Directors self-assessment as the next step going forward.  

Director Veenker requested that format for the next Board self-assessment 

include a comment opportunity following every response that is given. 

 

Page 329 of 348

329



Northern Inyo Healthcare District Board of Directors                        April 28, 2020 

Special Meeting                       Page 2 of 2  

 

 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

 

The meeting was adjourned at 6:53pm. 

 

 

 

 

  

_________________________________ 

Jean Turner, Chair 

 

 

         Attest: _________________________________ 

                              Jody Veenker, Secretary 

Page 330 of 348

330



Page 331 of 348

331



Page 332 of 348

332



Page 333 of 348

333



Page 334 of 348

334



Page 335 of 348

335



Page 336 of 348

336



Page 337 of 348

337



Page 338 of 348

338



Page 339 of 348

339



Page 340 of 348

340



Page 341 of 348

341



Page 342 of 348

342



Page 343 of 348

343



Page 344 of 348

344



Page 345 of 348

345



Page 346 of 348

346



Page 347 of 348

347



Page 348 of 348

348


	Table of Contents
	Agenda, May 20 2020 Regular Meeting
	Draft Agenda, May 20 2020 Regular Meeting

	City of Bishop Proclamation, Healthcare District Month
	City of Bishop Proclamation, Healthcare District Month

	District Board Resolution 20-04, Line of Credit Authorization
	District Board Resolution 20-04

	Deposit of CD Monies into Laif Account
	Deposit of CD Monies into LAIF

	Funding of NIHD 401(a) pension plan
	Funding of 401 (a) pension plan

	EHR Implementation Project Manager
	EHR Implementation Project Manager Designation

	NIHD Password Policy
	NIHD Password Policy

	NIHD Cyber Security Policy
	NIHD Cyber Security Policy

	CEO Executive Search Firm Proposals
	Gallagher CEO Search Proposal
	Witt Keiffer CEO Search Proposal
	McCall & Lee CEO Search Proposal
	Merraine Search Information (1 of 5)
	Merraine Search Submission (2 of 5)
	Merraine Search Submission (3 of 5)
	Merraine Search Submission (4 of 5)
	Merraine Group Proposal - 4 of 4
	Rokos Executive Search
	Rudish Search Proposal

	District Board Resolution 20-03, Consolodation of Election
	District Board Resolution 20--3, Consolodation of Election

	Bi-Annual Review of NIHD Conflict of Interest Code
	Bi-Annual Review of Conflict of Interest Code

	Board Agenda Item Review and Approval Process
	Board Agenda Review Process Form
	Board Agenda Item Form Instructions
	Chiefs input on Board Agenda Form

	PMA and NIHD Maintenance Agreement
	PMA and NIHD Maintenance Agreement

	RHC Annual Report
	RHC Annual Report, Fiscal Year 2018
	RHC Annual Report, 2019

	Building Separation Construction Project Update
	Building Separation Project Update

	Chief of Staff Report
	Medical Executive Committee Report
	Medical Staff Policy and Procedure Approvals

	Consent Agenda
	Financial and Statistical Reports as of March 31, 2020
	Chief Nursing Officer Report
	Chief Medical Officer Report
	Interim Chief Medical Officer Report
	Consent Agenda Policy and Procedure Annual Approvals
	Medical Staff Services Pillars of Excellence Report
	District Board Minutes, April 2 2020 Special Meeting
	District Board Minutes, April 6 2020 Special Meeting
	District Board Minutes, April 15 2020 Regular Meeting
	District Board Minutes, April 28 2020 Special Meeting
	Wipfli Required Communications Letter FYE 6-30-19 Audit


	Date_3: 
	Date_4: 
	Date_5: 
	Date of Board Acceptance: 
	Type of Agenda Item: [Presentation/Briefing]
	Area of Agenda: [General Agenda Item]
	Submitted date: 
	TITLE IN ALL CAPS: THE NAME OF THE PRESENTATION, INFORMATIONAL ITEM OR RECOMMENDATION FOR ACTION (ALL CAPS)
	Presenter's name, title (if any): Presenter (s), Title (if any)
	Recommendation for action: Use ONLY if this is a recommendation for action. .) Recommendations must include a statement that is in bold and begins with the statement "It is recommended that the Board of Directors… "   You are essentially writing the Motion that the Board may use for its action. Your data and information must support this motion.
	CEO Recommendation: CEO to complete this section.
	Synopsis: All types of agenda items MUST contain a synopsis. The synopsis should contain a clear, precise, and succinct statement of the presentation. It must be written so any member of the public can read and quickly understand why, without any prior information, this issue is being brought to the Board. All acronyms must be spelled out the first time used.•	Summaries of presentations/briefings to the Board should be one page or less in length.This field does not automatically continue to the next page. You will need to tab to the next field to continue summary.
	Synopsis - continued: •	Summaries of information items and reports should be one page or less. If the report is lengthy, provide a brief description (i.e., summary) of the nature of the report and a notation that the report is attached. •	The synopsis should be a clear, precise and succinct statement of the recommendation, its purpose, rationale and, if appropriate, the date the action will become effective. In addition, the description should reference any pertinent legal requirements or outside authority or documentation and should be easily interpreted by anyone.•	The preparer of this document may not skip any steps in the approval process.
	Other agencies involved: List other agencies that may be involved. Examples: The Joint Commission, California Department of Public Health, Toiyabe Indian Health Project, etc. If there are none, enter N/A.
	Financial Information: Enter brief summary of cost/savings/financial impact. Enter NONE or N/A if no financial impact.
	Date Signed: 
	Date 1: 
	Date 6: 
	Date 7: 
	Date of Board meeting: 
	Recommendation #: 
	Title: Add the title of your document 
	Presenter's Name: Presenter's Name
	CO Approval: [In progress]
	CFO Approval: [In progress]
	HR Director approval: [In progress]
	ITS Director approval: [In progress]
	Agenda #: 
	Date_2: 
	Legal Approval: [Not sent to legal counsel]


